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INTRODUCTION 

This civil suit is part of a larger constellation of cases relating to a 

series of sudden, drastic changes to the estate plan and landholdings of 

Raymond and Victoria O'Farrell. 

Those changes began in May and June of 2022. Those changes were 

so alarming that Victoria immediately filed suit against her husband and son 

Kelly to attempt to halt them. 1 Victoria died unexpectedly in July 2022, 

which led to an acceleration of these drastic changes, and left her lawsuit 

without a living plaintiff. 

By mid-July 2022, the attorneys "helping" Raymond put the brakes 

on Victoria's lawsuit by securing Raymond's appointment as special 

administrator for Victoria's Estate. 2 They also attempted to issue a notice of 

death, so as to initiate the automatic termination of the claims against 

Raymond. 

By mid-August 2022, Raymond had been convinced to sell most of the 

couple's long-held farm ground. The $3.2 million sale to the Hutterite 

Colony closed in October 2022, which led to the attempted ejection and 

1 See , 25CIV22- 38 ; App eal #30508 

2 See, 25PRO22-l l ; Appeal # no t y e t assigned 
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eviction of Paul O'Farrell from the family farm which he had helped care for 

and improve for decades. 3 

Paul's attempts to secure a guardianship and conservatorship for him 

were rejected by the Circuit Court. 4 

Meanwhile, one of Paul's creditors has filed a collection lawsuit 

related to fertilizer that he used while farming VOR's ground in 2022.5 (This 

fertilizer bill is a debt which Paul was unable to pay promptly because of 

VOR's ongoing attempts to crush his farming operation.) However, within 

that fertilizer lawsuit, VOR (via Raymond's counsel) is now attempting to 

file a cross-claim against Paul, seeking to collect $1.2 million dollars of debts 

VOR claims it now holds against Paul. Paul has resisted VOR's attempt to 

assert this cross-claim because Paul's defenses to this collection claim would 

include all of the same issues that Paul attempted to raise in Count 1 of the 

Complaint in this present lawsuit. The collection case is not yet on appeal, 

3 See, 23CIV23-1 8 ; Appeal #30344 . As the Jud gment in the present 
l a wsui t held, " Paul ' s c laim for rescission practically mirrors 
the eviction action .... " [R . 504 , <[ 9]. 
4 See, 25GDN23- 01 ; Appeal # not ye t assigned 

5 See, 25CIV23- 27 (CHS Capital, LLC, v . Skyline Cattle Company 
and Paul O' Farrell , and, VOR, Inc . ) 
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but if the Circuit Court permits the cross-claim to move forward ( and further 

fragment this litigation), Paul intends to appeal to avoid that fragmentation.6 

In short, all but one of these cases are now on appeal to this Court. All 

of these matters are interrelated, and, ultimately we expect all of these 

appeals and proceedings to be combined. 

The Appellants in this present appeal are Paul O'Farrell (Victoria and 

Raymond's oldest son, individually, and, for the benefit of Victoria's 

Estate); Skyline Cattle Company (Paul's company which operates the family 

farm); and VOR, Inc. (Victoria and Raymond's landholding entity 

company). They are referred to as "Paul," "Skyline," and "VOR." 

The Appellees include: the Grand Valley Hutterian Brethren, Inc., 

("the Colony"); the O'Farrell Family Trust; Kelly O'Farrell ("Kelly"); and 

Raymond O'Farrell, individually, and variously as the Special Administrator 

of the Estate of Victoria O'Farrell, individually, and as a trustee of the 

Family Trust. In addition, VOR, Inc., is also an Appellee, claiming the right 

to do so under Raymond's assertions that his 2022 board and management 

6 A lit igant is not permitte d t o s plit his c aus es o f action among 
mul t i ple l awsui ts . See r Rul e 13(a); Sadak Distrib . Co . v . Wayner 
93 N. W. 2d 7 91, 793 (S . D. 1 958 ) . Raymond has a l r eady a t tempted to 
i ni t i a t e count ercl aims by VOR a ga i nst Paul a nd Skyline wi t hin 
thi s l awsui t , and, a ll of Paul ' s defenses to the col l ecti on 
effort s are embrace d by his Count 1 s eeking declaratory r e l ief . 
[R .139; R. 20- 24 ] . 
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actions were valid as a matter of corporate governance, and, not a product of 

undue influence. 7 

The Circuit Court disposed of this matter following a motions hearing 

on July 11, 2023. That Hearing Transcript is referred to by page number as 

[HT 123]. A prior hearing in Victoria's lawsuit was held on October 18, 

2022, and references to it are listed as: [VHT 123, 10/18/22]. 

References to the settled record are denoted by [R.123]. 

JURISDICATl □NAL STATEMENT 

Appellants appeal the Circuit Court's entry of Judgment by the Hon. 

Robert Spears on September 7, 2023, [R.502]. Notice of entry was given on 

September 7, 2023. [R.507]. Appellants filed their notice of appeal on 

October 6, 2023. [R.541]. This Court has jurisdiction, per SDCL § 15-26A-

3(1). 

7 Some of these a r e new p a r ties affiliated wi t h Raymond were not 
listed o n the original Complai nt . However , none of these 
addi t iona l part i es f i l e d a motion to intervene under SDCL 1 5- 6-
24 ; t hey s i mp l y a ppea red a nd were treated as if they had 
int ervened, inc l udin g Raymond i n d i v i d ua ll y ; Raymond as Trustee ; 
Raymond as Special Administrator ; and VOR, Inc ., by and t hrough 
Raymo nd . [ R. 103; R . 123 ; R .126 ; R.1 39 ; R .140 ; R. 433 ; R. 50 6] . In 
a decl a r a t o r y j udgment act ion , ever y necessar y part y shoul d be 
joined . SDCL 21 - 24- 7 . 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

In March of 2023, Paul O'Farrell and Skyline brought this lawsuit to 

halt and unwind drastic changes Raymond had made to the family's estate 

plan, including a precipitous sale of their family landholdings. These events 

are allegedly a result of Raymond's diminished capacity and the undue 

influence of Kelly O'Farrell. 

Paul brought this lawsuit in his individual capacity; and as a 

beneficiary of the O'Farrell Family Trust; and for the benefit of Victoria's 

Estate. Paul's Complaint also included VOR, Inc., as a Plaintiff, on the basis 

that Paul had been improperly removed as President of the Company via a 

series of void corporate maneuvers foisted upon Raymond, in furtherance of 

Kelly's scheme. 

Paul's attempted relief echoes the claims and remedies that his 

mother Victoria had initially pursued in her June 2022 lawsuit against 

Raymond and Kelly, but, also addressing the new problem that Raymond had 

now sold nearly all of the family's land to the Colony. 

Prior to bringing this suit, Paul had attempted to intervene in 

Victoria's lawsuit after her death. His intervention was refused by the 

Circuit Court, which at that hearing also told Paul that he could still pursue 
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his own lawsuit, [VHT 146, 10/18/22], and, that the question of undue 

influence was (( a claim for another day". [VHT 147, 10/18/22]. 

Following the Circuit Court's advisement, Paul filed this lawsuit. In 

the Complaint, the Colony's deed was challenged on the basis of undue 

influence, corporate capacity, and legal capacity. Paul's lawsuit also 

challenged the attempted non-renewal of the farmland; it sought tort 

damages; it requested a declaration of rights of Paul O'Farrell and VOR, 

Inc., as ongoing tenants of the VOR, Inc., farmland; it sought Raymond's 

replacement as Trustee; and it requested a declaration as to the validity of all 

of the actions relating to the Trust, VOR, the Estate, and Raymond 

individually, in light of the concerns about Raymond. [R.7 et seq]. 

The initial Defendants included Kelly O'Farrell, the Colony, and the 

family's Trust. The Complaint was filed in connection with a guardianship 

action, with the intent that Raymond's Conservator would be added as a 

party once appointed. [R.11, Complaint, <jf 19] 

Defendant Kelly O'Farrell filed an Answer and asserted a 

Counterclaim for barratry. [R.187]. 

Defendant Grand Valley Hutterian Brethren filed a Rule 12(b) motion 

to dismiss, for failure to state a claim. [R.200]. 
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And, in a somewhat complicated and confusing pleading, another 

group of parties aligned with Raymond appeared in this lawsuit, asserting a 

panoply of claims. [R.126]. The parties to that pleading (as listed in the 

attorney signature block, [R.140], and as listed in a prior Notice of 

Appearance [R.103]) included: 

• Raymond O'Farrell individually; 

• the Raymond and Victoria O'Farrell Living Trust; 

• VOR, Inc. (which is also a Plaintiff, but here asserts claims via 

Raymond); and 

• the Estate of Victoria O'Farrell (and, in a separate notice of 

appearance, Raymond O'Farrell as its Special Administrator 

[R.123). 

These parties did not seek to intervene under Rule 24, but were treated as if 

they had. The claims made in the pleading asserted by this group of parties 

included: 

• a Counterclaim for barratry on behalf of the Defendant Trust; 

• a Counterclaim by VOR, Inc., (which is also a named Plaintiff) 

against (( the Plaintiff" for tortious interference with 

contractual rights. 
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• a motion to dismiss VOR, Inc., as a Plaintiff. 

• A motion to dismiss the Estate of Victoria O'Farrell as a 

Plaintiff ( even though the Estate itself was not a named 

Plaintiff); 

• three Rule 12(b) motions to dismiss, for failure to state a claim 

under Counts 1, 2, or 3. 

• a motion for attorney's fees pursuant to SDCL 15-17-51. 

The Circuit Court held a motions hearing on July 11, 2023. At the 

hearing, the Circuit Court orally granted the Colony's motion to dismiss. 

[HT 36; R.417]. The sole reasons given by the Circuit Court were that 

'' there is a failure of the pleadings to specify the state law that applies on the 

rescission issue, [ and] the Complaint doesn't specify exactly what or how the 

Hutterian Brotherhood knew of any undue influence or anything when they 

purchased the real estate .... " [R.417]. The Colony would later submit 115 

paragraphs of findings and conclusions, which went far beyond the Circuit 

Court's oral ruling. [R.440]. 

The Circuit Court took the rest of the motions under advisement and 

issued a Memorandum Decision on August 9, 2023, dismissing the 

Complaint in its entirety. [R.425]. 
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The Circuit Court entered findings on VOR's and the Estate's motion 

for attorney's fees, finding that the Complaint ('was frivolous" and (' so 

wholly without merit that it is ridiculous." [R.435; R.437, <jf 5; R.438, <jf 7]. 

Several weeks later, the Circuit Court issued a subsequent Memorandum 

Decision on October 10, 2023, about attorney's fees, describing the 

Complaint as (' rambling, disjointed borderline frivolous claim." [R.640]. 

On the following page, the Circuit Court ruled that Paul's lawsuit was 

('brought by a person who either did not have standing to bring certain 

claims as stated in the complaint at all or should have been brought ... in the 

Estate/Probate file." [R.641]. 

The Circuit Court entered judgment accordingly, and certified it as 

final and appealable pursuant to Rule 54(b) . [R.502-06]. 

No party filed a motion under Rule 12(b)(6) for ('failure to join a 

party". Nor did any party filed a motion under Rule 12(b)(l) for lack of 

subject matter jurisdiction. The only Rule 12 theory asserted by any party 

was for ('failure to state a claim." [R.200] 

From this judgment, Paul, Skyline, and VOR, Inc., assign several 

errors. 
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LEGAL ISSUES 

A Complaint is a short, plain statement that makes a basic 
"showing" that the litigant is entitled to relief. A motion to 
dismiss for failure to state a claim s a harsh remedy available only 
when the Plaintiff's complaint fails to state a plausible claim for 
relief, when indulging every inference in favor of relief. Does the 
Complaint allege primafacie claims for declaratory relief, 
rescission, and tort damages, including for conversion, breach 
of fiduciary duty, and tortious interference with contractual 
relations? 

Yes. However, the Circuit Court erred by dismissing it. 

• SDCL 15-6-12(b) (5) 
• SDCL 21-24-1 
• SDCL 53-11-2(1) 
• Healy v. Osborne, 2019 S.D. 56, 
• Paul v. Bathurst, 2023 S.D. 56, 
• Kneip v. Herseth, 87 S.D. 642,648,214 N.W.2d 93 (S.D. 1974) 
• Vanderwerf v. Kirwan) 1998 S.D. 119 
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2. 

Are there any additional parties to be joined? 

The issue is undetermined, because no party filed a motion to 
dismiss for failure to join necessary parties. And, when such 
motion is filed, the proper remedy is joinder of the parties, 
rather than dismissal. The Circuit Court erred by dismissing 
upon this basis. 

• SDCL 15-6-12(b)(6) 
• Titus v. Chapman, 2004 S.D. 106 

• SDCL 21-24-7. 
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3. 

Do the Plaintiffs have standing? 

Yes, these Plaintiffs have standing. However, the Circuit 
Court erred by determining that some of the plaintiffs lacked 
standing. 

• Cablev. Union Cnty. Bd. ofCnty. Comm'rs, 2009 S.D. 59 

• Nooney v. StubHubJ Inc., 2015 S.D. 102 

• Landstrom v. Shaver, 1997 S.D. 25 

• Matter of Est. of Calvin, 2021 S.D. 45 
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4. 

Is Paul's Complaint frivolous, such that attorney's fees were 
warranted under SDCL 15-17-51? 

No, this Complaint is not frivolous. However, the Circuit 
Court erred by holding that it was, and, by awarding fees. 

• SDCL 15-17-51 

• Gronau v. Weubkelj 2003 S.D. 116 

• Ridley v. Lawrence County Comm )n) 2000 S.D. 143 

• Hampshirev. Powell, 626 N.W.2d 620 (Neb. 2001) 

• Schroder v. Scotten) Dillon Co., 299 A.2d 431 (Del. Ch. 1972) 
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5. 

Did the PresidingJudge err by failing to grant Paul's change of 
judge request? 

Yes, the PresidingJudge erred by misapplying the statute, and 
ascribing the request to the wrong litigant. 

• State v. Tapio, 432 N.W.2d 268, 270 (S.D. 1988) 

• O'Neill v. O'Neill, 2016 S.D. 15, <jf 42 

• SDCL 15-12-22. 

• SDCL 15-12-21.1 

• SDCL 15-12-24 
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STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

The facts of this case are now familiar to this Court, in light of the 

eviction appeal already pending and argued to it in November 2023. A few 

additional facts pertinent to this appeal are added here, while attempting to 

avoid duplication of the general factual background already established in the 

related appeal, and not repeating those set forth in the introduction and 

statement of the case, above. 

The Colony's purchase agreement with VOR 

On August 12, 2022, purportedly on behalf on VOR, Inc., Raymond 

O'Farrell signed a Purchase Agreement to sell most of the family's land to 

the Colony for $3.2 million. [R.326-335). 

The Colony's knowledge ofRaymond's impairments 

The Seller included a covenant that it could provide "good, 

marketable, and indefeasible" title, the Purchase Agreement, but this was 

modified by a provision in which the "BUYER HEREBY 

ACKNOWLEDGES" that Victoria had recently filed a lawsuit against 

Raymond "in his individual capacity and as Trustee of the Raymond and 

Victoria O'Farrell Living Trust" and then listed the civil file number 

("25CIV22-000038"). [R.331] (emphasis in original]. 
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As is apparent within the first page of her Complaint, Victoria's 

lawsuit sought to "unwind a covert, calculated, and unlawful scheme to 

deprive Victoria ... of her residual ownership interest in, and control over 50% 

of the shares ofVOR, Inc. [and that] Raymond .. .is a vulnerable, elderly 

person who appears to have no idea what he was doing, no role in conceiving 

the scheme, and no intention to implement its terms." [R.32]. 

And that's just what the Colony would find on page one. Victoria's 

Complaint spans 24 pages and details extensive concerns about Raymond, 

VOR, and Kelly O'Farrell's undue influence, which she said " reflects 

Kelly's desire to disrupt the estate plan of his mother and father." [R.35]. If 

there were any doubt, Victoria's civil file also included her Affidavit, which 

provided the same details and concerns about the validity of the corporate 

decisions being made for VOR. [R.76]. 

Notably, the proposed sale to the Hutterite Colony did not sell all of 

the family's land, just the large portion that Paul O'Farrell was slated to 

inherit. The purported sale documents also attempted to give the Colony 

the right of first refusal over all of the remaining family land, as well. [R.102, 

Purchase Agreement, <jf<jf 10.a]. 

16 



Picking up where Victoria's lawsuit left off, Paul brought suit against 

the Colony, the Trust, and Kelly O'Farrell in an attempt to halt and reverse 

these changes. Paul included Victoria's lawsuit as an Exhibit and 

incorporated its factual assertions into his pleading. In addition, Paul 

included affidavits from Victoria and other parties that raised genuine 

concerns that Raymond was vulnerable, that he was being manipulated by 

Kelly, and, that Raymond did not understand his actions. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The first section of this brief reviews the prima facie claims made in the 

Complaint, and compares them to the basic requirements that a litigant must 

meet in order to survive a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(5). In simplest 

terms, the allegations made in Paul's Complaint do not need to be extensive 

or exact; they must only make a "showing" that relief is plausible. The 

Complaint succeeds at this. Paul has alleged facts that present a familiar 

story of financial exploitation of an elderly, vulnerable father. The law 

forbids such misconduct, and, it affords several remedies to rectify the 

products of the abuse: declaratory relief, unwinding real estate transactions, 

and damages to punish the wrongdoers. This section addresses each of the 

three Counts, in turn. 
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In the second section of this Brief, Paul discusses what this appeal is not 

about. In particular, none of the Appellees filed a motion under Rule 

12(b) ( 6) for failure to join other parties. Paul's Complaint cannot be 

dismissed on that basis. He would be happy to add any necessary parties via 

an amendment; moreover, by statute the Circuit Court is permitted to add 

such parties in a declaratory judgment action. Dismissal is not an 

appropriate remedy if the parties can be joined. 

Third) Paul addresses the question of standing. At this stage, Paul has 

identified the basic injuries necessary to bring suit. A further question is that 

if Paul is not the right litigant under these circumstances, then who else 

could possibly stop the wrongdoers here? 

Fourth) Paul responds to the Circuit Court's holding that his claims 

were frivolous and warranted fees under SDCL 15-17-51. 

And fifth) Paul addresses the denial of his attempt for a change of 

judge in this case. 
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STANDARD OF REVIEW 

The following standards of review apply to the issues in this appeal. 

• De novo review applies to the construction and application of 

statutes and rules of procedure, Discover Bank v. Stanley) 2008 S.D. 

111, <jf 15, as well as to the question of ('whether a complaint fails to 

state a claim upon which relief can be granted [pursuant to] a Rule 

12(b) (5) motion to dismiss." Kaiser Trucking, Inc. v. Liberty M ut. 

Fire Ins. Co.) 2022 S.D. 64, <jf<jf 13-14. 

• At the motion-to-dismiss stage, the question of whether a 

complaint is "frivolous" under SDCL 15-17-51 appears to be legal 

question that is reviewed de novo, 8 although, the Circuit Court's 

decision to award attorney's fees is reviewed under an abuse of 

discretion standard, once there is an objective finding of 

frivolousness. Johnson v. Miller, 2012 S.D. 61, <jf 19, 818 N.W.2d 

804, 810. 

8 C. f . , In re Est . of Pri ngle , 200 8 S . D. 38 , <[ 1 8 ("We review any 
d ocume ntary or de positio n evi de nce under a de nova s t andard o f 
r e vi e w." ) 
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ARGUMENT 

1. Paul's Complaint states sufficient facts for a prima facie case of 
elder abuse, and, a path forward to fix it 

Paul's Complaint offers more than enough factual support to 

demonstrate that he and his family are entitled to relief to correct the 

problems created by the exertion of undue influence over Raymond in his 

various corporate and fiduciary capacities. 

The test under Rule 12(b)(5) is not whether Paul has made an artful or 

perfect claim. The test is whether he has made a basic "showing" that the 

lawsuit should move forward. 

"Our rules of civil procedure are modeled after the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure which, for the most part, eliminated the cumbersome 

requirement that a claimant set out in detail the facts upon which he bases 

his claim." Healy v. Osborne, 2019 S.D. 56, <jf 32 ( quoting Sisney v. Best Inc., 

2008 S.D. 70, <jf 7 (quoting Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 

n.3 (2007)). Under Sisney v. Best) Inc., 2008 S.D. 70 (which adopted the Bell 

Atlantic test), all that a complaint must do is provide a "showing" rather than 

a "blanket entitlement" to relief Id. (interpreting Rule 12(b) alongside Rule 

8(a)(l)) (emphasis added) 
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The factual threshold is not onerous: a litigant has pleaded sufficiently 

when he offers "a short plain statement" which moves beyond ('labels and 

conclusion and a formulaic recitation of the elements," and, instead, offers 

"a statement of circumstances, occurrences, and events in support of the 

claim presented." Paul v. Bathurst, 2023 S.D. 56, <jf 19 ( quoting Nooney v. 

StubHub, 2015 S.D. 102, <jf 9 ( quoting Gruhlke v. Sioux Empire Fed. Credit 

Union) Inc., 2008 S.D. 89, <jf 17, 756 N.W.2d 399, 408-09). 

Because a Rule 12(b) (5) motion "tests the legal sufficiency of the 

pleading, not the facts which support it. .. the court must treat as true all facts 

properly pied in the complaint and resolve all doubts in favor of the 

pleader." Paul v. Bathurst, 2023 S.D. 56, <jf 11 ( quoting, inter aliaJ N Am. 

Truck & Trailer) Inc. v. M.C.I Commc'n Servs.J Inc., 2008 S.D. 45, <jf 6). 

Accord_, Healy) <jf 34 C' construe [ the material allegations] in a light most 

favorable to the pleader") 

Paul's Complaint survives this test. Over the course of 23 pages (plus 

another 56 pages of fact-intensive exhibits), the Complaint explains in 

extensive detail that his vulnerable, elderly father was coerced into making 

massive, drastic financial decisions to the detriment of Raymond's family, 

his Trust, his Company, his Wife, and then his wife's Estate. 
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Paul's Complaint then outlines three categories of remedies he 

believes will halt and unwind these decisions: declaratory relief to nullify the 

improper legal actions (both known and unknown) and removal of Raymond 

as Trustee; rescission and other equitable relief to unwind the real estate 

transaction; and various tort damages to rectify the harms and losses 

(including conversion, breach of fiduciary duty, and tortious interference). 

These are not novel legal theories that Paul is advancing. Each of 

them is found extensively in this Court ' s prior case law. Paul's Complaint 

rises far above a formulaic recitation, and, offers substantial proof that 

several kinds of relief is warranted. 

(a) Count 1 of Paul's Complaint pleads a prima facie case for 
declaratory relief 

South Dakota's Declaratory Judgment Act, is to be liberally construed 

and administered.NStar Mut. Ins. Co. v. Kneen, 484 N.W.2d 908,911 (S.D. 

1992). ('The liberality to be afforded the construction of the Declaratory 

Judgment Act, because of its remedial goals, should allow ... the decision of 

present rights or status which are based upon future events when a good-faith 

controversy is brought before the courts." Kneip v. Herseth, 87 S.D. 642, 648, 

214 N.W.2d 93, 96-97 (1974). The Act states that its purpose is to ('declare 

rights, status, and other legal relations." SDCL 21-24-1. 
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This purpose may be accomplished by securing a declaration of the 

( construction or validity' of any instrument, statute, contract, or ordinance if 

these affect the person seeking the declaration. SDCL 21-24-3. Such relief is 

available to heirs, devisees, next of kin, or cestui que trust in the administration 

of a trust, and can be used to direct trustees and executors to do or abstain from 

particular acts. SDCL 21-24-5. The enumeration of the Act's scope in these 

statutes "does not limit or restrict the exercise of the general powers conferred 

in SDCL 21-24-1." SDCL21-24-6. 

In addition, once the relief is "declared," the Circuit Court is given the 

authority to grant (( [f]urther relief based on a declaratory judgment ... 

whenever necessary or proper." SDCL 21-24-12. And, if other parties are 

necessary for complete relief, they ('shall be made parties." SDCL 21-24-7. 

In short, a declaratory judgment action embraces every claim that Paul's 

Complaint may attempt to make; it affords remedies at the conclusion of the 

declaration phase; and, it invites any necessary parties to be joined by the 

Court. 

Paul's Complaint identifies several specific actions which are void or 

voidable under the circumstances, including those taken by Raymond under 

his various veils of authority: corporate, trust, probate, and individually. 
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[R.20, <jf 70]. "Some of these maneuvers are known to the Plaintiffs; many 

are still unknown." [R.20, <jf 69]. A Plaintiff is not required to plead with 

perfect foresight. "Undue influence is not usually exercised in the open." 

Matter of Est. ofTank, 2020 S.D. 2, <jf 39.9 

Paul's Complaint also seeks a declaration that Raymond is "unable" 

to serve as Trustee of the Family Trust. [R.11]. "Paul is named as a 

Successor Co-Trustee under §3.03 of the Family Trust." [R.11, <jf 20]. 

Paul's Complaint also seeks a declaration that actions by Victoria's 

Estate were void, including for lack of notice, and, for failure of actual 

consent by Raymond. [R.22, <jf 82]. 

Paul's Complaint seeks a declaration that actions taken via power of 

attorney over Raymond were void. [R.24, <jf90]. 

Paul's Complaint also seeks a declaration as to his rights and Skyline 

Cattle's rights, in relation to VOR, Inc., and the Colony. In particular, Paul 

alleged that "there was a long-standing arrangement by which Skyline's 

operating loans were secured by land owned by the Trust Corporation." 

9 The Compl a i n t ave r s undue i nf l uence , gen e r a l ly, b ut a l so 
p r ovides amp l e evide nce o n the f our elements o f undu e in f l uence . 
Thus far , n e i t he r t h e Circ ui t Court nor the Appellees have 
speci f ically c ha lle nged t he Compl a i nt f o r fai ling t o i dent i f y 
s u fficient facts in support of the claim of undue influence . 
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[R.16, n.l]. In a parallel proceeding, Paul explained that his and Skyline's 

relationship with VOR, Inc., was like a partnership. [HT, 10/18/22, 57:6-7] 

( they were operating like "partners with cattle and buildings and 

equipment"). And, the status of Paul and Skyline were also akin to a long­

term tenant. In any event, he sought a declaration of their occupancy rights, 

which would necessarily include an evaluation of the validity of termination 

notices, notices to quit and vacate, and, the legal ability of the Colony to 

assert such rights if its deed were deemed invalid. [R.22-24 <jf<jf 83-89]. 

Paul's Complaint seeks broad declaratory relief, and, this action is an 

appropriate forum in which to collect diverse, individual claims ( such as 

those related to the Trust; those related to Victoria's Estate; the validity of 

the Colony's deed; Paul and Skyline's occupancy rights; the nature of the 

partnership between Paul, Skyline, and VOR; and more). It would be 

cumbersome and chaotic for all of these claims to be fragmented into 

individual proceedings. 

The Circuit Court ruled, in part, that Paul was not permitted to seek 

some of this relief via declaratory relief in this action, and, instead, would 

need to seek the relief via a separate Probate action or Trust action. [R.4 29]. 

This is contrary to the declaratory judgment statutes. It is contrary to the 
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concepts behind Rule 13(a) to avoid a multiplicity of actions. And it is 

contrary to this Court's prior case law. (' The rule in this state does not 

permit a single cause of action to be split or divided among several suits." 

Sodak Distrib. Co. v. Wayne) 93 N.W.2d 791, 793 (S.D. 1958). 

The Declaratory Judgment Act is to be construed liberally. Trust and 

Estate questions are expressly permitted to be resolved in a declaratory 

judgment forum. SDCL 21-24-5. Nor is it grounds for dismissal if certain 

parties were not yet joined: the Circuit Court ('shall" make them parties. 

SDCL 21-24-7. 

Their claims under Count 1 are permitted, and they should not have 

been dismissed. And if Paul is not the proper party to assert claims on behalf 

of Victoria's Estate, a suitable executor can be substituted for him once he or 

she is appointed. 

(b) Count 2 of Paul's Complaint pleads a prima facie case to 
unwind the land transaction ( and, in the alternative, so does 
Count 1) 

Paul's rescission claim is similarly not a novel theory: when 

someone's legal decisions are the product of undue influence or diminished 

capacity, the law provides a remedy, including our statutes and common law. 

E.g.) SDCL 53-4-1 C' apparent consent is not free or real and is voidable 
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when obtained through ... undue influence"); SDCL 53-4-7 ("Undue 

influence consists ... [i]n taking an unfair advantage of another's weakness of 

mind"); Davies v. Toms, 75 S.D. 273,275, 63 N.W.2d 406,407 (1954) 

( affirming judgment in favor of family members who "brought the action to 

have the deed set aside" as a product of undue influence); SDCL 23-12-1(1) 

("The rescission of a written contract may be adjudged on the application of 

a party aggrieved .. .in any of the cases mentioned in§ 53-11-2"); SDCL 53-

11-2(1) (a party to a contract may rescind when "consent of the rescinding 

party ... was ... obtained through ... undue influence exercised by or with the 

connivance of the party as to whom he rescinds") (emphasis added). 

A successful rescission claim does not require proof that the Colony 

exerted undue influence upon Raymond. Instead, it is sufficient if the undue 

influence happened with the Colony's "connivance." SDCL 53-11-2(1). 

Connivance is defined as (' knowledge of and active or passive consent to 

wrongdoing." See) Merriam-Webster.com ( also listing (' complicit" as a 

synonym) (emphasis added). 

The Colony's complicity is demonstrated most simply by the land sale 

contract. Within the Purchase Agreement that led to the deed Paul seeks to 

unwind, the Colony agreed that it, as the (' BUYER HEREBY 
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ACKNOWLEDGES" that Victoria had recently filed a lawsuit against 

Raymond in which Victoria sounded the alarm about Raymond's extreme 

vulnerability, which resulted in him being unduly influenced into executing 

documents he did not understand. [R.331] (emphasis in original] . 

The Circuit Court's oral ruling to dismiss the Colony was very 

narrow, holding only that "there is a failure of the pleadings to specify the 

state law that applies on the rescission issue," and, that the Complaint 

"doesn't specify exactly what or how the Hutterian Brethren knew of any 

influence or anything amiss when they purchased the real estate." [HT 

36:23-37:2]. 

The first concern is not valid. Paul's complaint "specified" the legal 

theory at issue, i.e., a judicial rescission. [R.27; err 106]. See) also) [R.26, err 102 

("Raymond's consent for the transaction was procured via undue influence, 

or, without his full understanding, and, without following necessary 

corporate formalities.") A complaint does not need to be any more specific 

than that. See) Rule 8(a) C' short and plain statement>'). In addition, it has 

always been the rule that pleadings are to be liberally construed. See) Rule 

8(f)(" All pleadings shall be so construed as to do substantial justice. "); 

Stutsman Cnty. v. Mansfield, 5 Dakota 78, 37 N.W. 304, 305 (1888) ("In the 
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construction of a pleading, for the purpose of determining its effect, its 

allegations should be liberally construed with a view of substantial justice 

between the parties.") ( quoting Code Civil Proc., Section 128). 10 

A generation ago, Justice Henderson chronicled the law's evolution 

from writ-pleading to notice pleading. "Technical writs were the (open 

sesame' to justice under the common law. A pleader who failed to allege the 

facts to fit within a writ was immediately bounced out of court. This 

precipitated a great deal of injustice, spawning the chancery courts and 

ultimately a new system of pleading. In 1966, this Court reaffirmed its 

historic stance on construction of pleadings in Burmeister v. Youngstrom, 81 

S.D. 578,585, 139 N.W.2d 226,228 (1966) by expressing: 

By statutory mandate, SDC 1960 Supp. 33.0915, [now, SDCL 15-6-
8(f)] we are required to construe a pleading liberally for the purpose 
of determining its effect with a view of doing substantial justice 
between the parties. See Baker v. Jewell, 77 S.D. 573, 96 N.W.2d 299 
[1959]. Courts do not favor objection to pleadings in the manner 
attempted in this case and to justify the objection interposed, it must 
appear that the defect relied upon is such that it could not be cured by 
an amendment to conform to the proof. Knapp v. Brett, 54 S.D. 1,222 
N.W. 297 [1929]. (note added) .... 

10 " The original source of SDCL 15- 6 - 8(f ) in South Dakota is CC i vP 
1887 , § 1 28 . " S . W. Croes Fam . Tr . v . Small B us . Admin . , 4 46 
N .W. 2 d 5 5 , 59 (S. D. 198 9) (Henderson , J ., d i ssenting ) 
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[T]he general principle [is] that pleadings must, of necessity, be construed in 

a light most favorable to the pleader and non-moving party or we shall step 

backward into common law, technical writ pleading." S. W. Croes Fam. Tr. v. 

Small Bus. Admin.) 446 N.W.2d 55, 59-60 (S.D. 1989) (Henderson,]., 

dissenting). Justice Henderson dissented in that case, but, the majority 

affirmed the dismissal of that case on other grounds, namely, that even after 

several prior amendments to the pleadings, " [ n ]othing in the record 

indicates that appellants could [prevail]" with further amendment. S. W. 

Croes Fam. Tr. v. Small Bus. Admin., 446 N.W.2d 55, 58 (S.D.1989). 

Further, at the time the Complaint was drafted, it was not yet clear 

whether the Colony would accept the rescission. If they had, then a legal 

enforcement of the accepted rescission would be permitted. If they refused, 

then an equitable rescission would be permitted. 

Much ado was made at the Circuit Court level about the alleged 

"innocence" of the Colony. This stems, in part, from the wording of 

paragraph 114 of the Complaint. 11 At least for now, Paul is not pursuing tort 

11 Parag raph 1 14 states that this Compl a i nt does not seek tort 
damages from the Colony " and sincerely apol ogizes that t hey must 
be made a p a rt o f thi s ordeal. " [ R. 28 ]. 
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damages against the Colony, and, he has offered the Colony a simple exit 

ramp from this mess, i.e.) unwinding the transaction and walking away. 

The Colony, however, trumpets Paragraph 114 as proof of its 

innocence, and, therefore immunity of its deed . At this stage, however, the 

Complaint cannot be construed in a manner less favorable than the 

undisputed facts. The Colony was told at the time of its purchase agreement 

that VOR's ability to give clear title was conditioned upon resolving the 

problem that Raymond was allegedly not making his own decisions. The 

Colony moved ahead anyway. The Colony was complicit. See) also) 

Vanderwerfv. Kirwan) 1998 S.D.119, <jf 19 (quoting Whitfordv. Dodson) 181 

N.W. 962,964 (S.D. 1921) (deed can be set aside when buyer either has 

"knowledge" of the defect, or "knowledge of facts or circumstances 

sufficient to put an ordinarily prudent [person] upon inquiry"). 

Although the Complaint did not expressly discuss the Colony's 

knowledge, this was soon remedied by Raymond's decision to add the 

Purchase Agreement into the Record. Paul's counsel also pointed this out to 

the Circuit Court at the hearing. [R.412; HT 31:9-25]. 

Further, it is not clear that the Colony 's knowledge would need to be 

specifically stated in this Complaint. Instead, the Colony's arguments about 
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its knowledge ( or lack thereof) appears to be an affirmative defense that it 

would need to assert in its Answer. Whichever is the correct way to look at 

it, Paul's Complaint should not be dismissed based upon a hypertechnical 

reading of the Rules or the law of rescission. 

Finally, the Colony has objected to the form and effect of the ( notice 

of rescission' which Paul issued to the Colony in his asserted role as still­

President ofVOR. None of the Appellees (nor the Circuit Court) cite 

authority regarding any of their various alleged defects in the notice. In fact, 

there is South Dakota authority to the contrary. Larson v. Thomas, 51 S.D. 

564,215 N.W. 927, 930 (1927) C'Ifthe rescission was incomplete when 

notice was given, this action is for rescission, and the court may allow it.") 

And, if for some reason the rescission-at-law remedy is not available 

under Chapter 53-11, the Circuit Court would still be able to grant an 

equitable rescission. NW. Realty Co. v. Carter, 338 N.W.2d 669,672 (S.D. 

1983) C' [ r]escission is equitable if the complaint asks the court to order 

rescission of a contract. It is legal, if the court is asked to enforce a completed 

rescission .. . ," and, (' trial court was correct in granting [equitable] 
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rescission" when litigants "do not have an adequate remedy at law.") 

(emphasis added).12 

Further, it is not even a legal requirement that a party issue a notice of 

rescission in order to pursue it in litigation: it is sufficient to give notice of 

the rescission within the Complaint. 

In summary, Count 2 states a valid claim to set aside the deed that 

VOR issued to the Colony. Such a claim does not require the Colony itself to 

have procured the deed via undue influence. 

In the alternative, even if Count 2 were excluded from the Complaint 

altogether, Count 1 can be fairly read at this stage to similarly embrace the 

same relief: a declaration of the invalidity of the land transaction as one of 

the many corporate actions taken by Raymond. See) [R.21] (Complaint, <jf 74: 

"[V]arious corporate actions [ ofVOR] were taken in the name of Raymond 

0 'Farrell [ and] were accomplished [inter alia] as a result of undue influence 

and manipulation;" and <jf 70: "Plaintiffs seek a declaration that would 

avoid all of these improper corporate .. . actions.'') 

1 2 I n Paul' s Compl aint , the Prayer fo r Re l ie f seeks " a 
j udgment ... f or a rescission of t he real e stat e t ransaction") . 
[ R . 29 ] 
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( c) Count 3 states a prima facie claim to recover damages for the 
harms caused by these improper actions 

The Complaint concludes by identifying a series of tort claims that fit 

the facts of these facts. Those include tort claims for which Kelly O 'Farrell 

faces liability, including the torts of(' conversion," ('breach of fiduciary 

duty," and "tortious interference with expected and established 

relationships." [R.28; Complaint, <jf<jf 111, 112]. The elements of these torts 

are not listed, but, the Complaint contains sufficient allegations that can be 

used to justify each of them. The Complaint also expressly advises that 

further (' [ d]iscovery will determine the extent and nature of the tort claims." 

Id. Further, to effectuate the pursuit of such damages, Count 3 also alleges 

that the Plaintiffs are (' entitled to an accounting of all funds and property of 

the Family Trust, the Trust Corporation, and the Estate .... " [/tt, <jf 113]. 

Paul's Complaint must also be construed in light of the contents of 

Victoria's Complaint, which was attached to it as an exhibit. Victoria's 

Complaint matched the facts of the case ( as they existed in 2022) to the 

elements of conversion [R.51, <jf 112-118]; tortious interference [R.53, <jf<jf 126-

134], both of which she asserted against Kelly. 

Each of these three broad categories of remedies have been prescribed 

by legislative enactment. There is no meaningful dispute that they are not 



viable theories of relief. The objections to Paul's Complaint are, instead, 

procedural and non-fatal. 

2. This appeal is not about who 'could' have been or 'should' 
have been joined as a party 

Rule 12(b)(6) provides a remedy for dismissing a complaint for failure 

to join a necessary party. However, none of the Appellees filed a motion 

under Rule 12(b )(6). The Circuit Court's opinion, therefore, cannot grant 

relief upon that theory. See) SDCL 15-5-7(b)(l) (motion "shall set forth with 

particularity the grounds therefor, and shall set forth the relief or order 

sought"). 

Even though no party filed a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, parts of the Circuit 

Court's written opinion veer into impermissible territory, beyond the scope 

of the actual motions in front of it. This includes paragraphs 37 and 82 of its 

written opinion about the Colony, which contains a conclusory holding that 

"there are several indispensable parties that are not included in this action 

whose interests would be affected if this Court grants rescission of the entire 

transaction, including First International Bank and Paul's siblings." (R.444, 

R.451, <jf<jf 37, 82]. 
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The Circuit Court's opinion does not explain who "First International 

Bank" is, nor their connection to this lawsuit. Nor does the Circuit Court 

list "Paul's siblings" by name. And the opinion does not provide any basis 

by which to evaluate its conclusory holding that any of these parties are 

"indispensable." 

A Circuit Court's ruling cannot be evaluated on appeal when it does 

not apply the correct legal standard or offer facts that a reviewing court can 

use to assess the ruling. C.fJ Duffy v. Cir. Ct.) Seventh Jud. Cir., 2004 S.D. 

19, <jf 33 ("by not applying the correct legal standard, the lower court has 

failed to (regularly pursue its authority'). 

(c Persons who might conceivably have an interest in the outcome of 

litigation are not to be considered indispensable parties." Titus v. Chapman, 

2004 S.D. 106, <jf 36. Instead, (c [i]ndispensable parties to a suit are those 

who not only have an interest in the subject matter of the controversy, but 

also have an interest of such a nature that a final decree cannot be made 

without affecting their interests, or leaving the controversy in such a 

condition that its final determination may be wholly inconsistent with equity 

and good conscience." Kapp v. Hansen, 79 S.D. 279, 286, 111 N.W.2d 333, 
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337 (1961). The Circuit Court gives no indication as to how these parties 

meet this standard. 

Moreover, "[t]he proper remedy for failure to join parties is the 

joinder of the parties, and not dismissal of the lawsuit, so long as it is possible 

to join the parties." Id.) ( citing Agar School District No. 58-1 Bd. of Educ.) 

Agar) S.D. v. McGee) 527 N.W.2d 282,287 (S.D.1995) (quoting Johnson v. 

Adamski) 274 N.W.2d 267,268 (S.D.1979) (citing SDCL 15-6-19(b)))). 

When a party fails to pursue a Rule 12(b )(6) motion, it short-circuits the 

process by which the Plaintiff can be on notice of the need to join parties. 

In sum, the Circuit Court erred by: attempting to make a ruling on 

indispensable parties when no party had made such a motion; by failing to 

make findings identifying the actual parties or explaining their 

indispensability; and, by effectuating a dismissal rather than an opportunity 

to join those parties. 

The Appellees may offer speculation as to who else should be added to 

this lawsuit upon remand, but, the absence of those parties in the litigation 

thus far is not grounds for dismissal. And, under the Declaratory Judgment 

Act, the power to join necessary parties was in the hands of the Circuit 

Court. SDCL 21-24-7. 
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3. Paul and the other Plaintiffs have standing 

The rules for establishing standing are different at the initial pleading 

stage than they are for the evidentiary phase, including summary judgment. 

At the initial stages oflitigation, it is enough for the plaintiff to allege 
an injury. However, the plaintiff bears the burden of proving standing 
in successive stages of the litigation with the manner and degree of 
evidence required at those later stages. 

At the pleading stage, general factual allegations of injury resulting 
from the defendant's conduct may suffice, for on a motion to dismiss 
we presume that general allegations embrace those specific facts that 
are necessary to support the claim 

Cable v. Union Cnty. Bd. of Cnty. Comm 'rs, 2009 S.D. 59, <jf<jf 22-23 (internal 

citations and quotations omitted). 

Paul, Skyline, and VOR, Inc. each had standing to bring a declaratory 

action as set forth in Count 1, for themselves, and for the benefit of other 

interested parties. Each of these litigants identified a rational connection to 

( and a financial stake in) the validity or invalidity of instruments and legal 

actions by the Trust, the Estate, the Trust Corporation, or Raymond 

individually. See) SDCL 21-24-3; SDCL 21-24-5; and, e.g. [R.27 <jf 108 (" the 

value of capital improvements Paul has made to the Family Land at his 

expense, without compensation, including his residence and his shop ... have 

an estimated value substantially in excess of one million dollars"). 
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Likewise, the validity of the Colony's deed ( addressed in Count 2) has 

drastic implications for the ongoing relationship between Paul, Skyline, and 

VOR, Inc., including not just their occupancy rights, but the trajectory of 

their twenty-year farming partnership. 

And, any damages suffered by Paul would trigger standing for his tort 

claims in Count 3. 

Paul's ability to bring claims on behalf ofVOR has both a legal and an 

equitable basis. Legally, Paul is asserting that he is the most recent validly 

elected President. Under the corporations act, he has the right to pursue 

claims to evaluate that contention. SDCL 47-lA-841; 47-lA-842(3).13 

Or, as a matter of equity, this Court has found limited exceptions to 

allow parties related to a corporation to bring suit "if a corporation refuses to 

prosecute an action in its favor .... " Landstrom v. Shaver, 1997 S.D. 25, <jf<jf 

13 The Circuit Court erred by holdi ng that Paul did not have t he 
ability t o pursue clai ms o n beha lf o f the cor por a tion because of 
who t he Secretary o f State fil i ngs indicate as President. " A 
court may not consi d e r documents ' outside ' t he p l eadi ngs when 
ruling on a mot i on to d i smiss fo r fa i lur e to state a clai m." 
Nooney v . StubHub, I nc., 2015 S . D. 102 , i 7 , 873 N. W. 2d 497 , 499 
(c i t ing SDCL 15- 6-1 2 (b) (5) ). Nor can the Circui t Court "we i g h" 
the e vidence it fi nds this way. Cons i dering matters outside the 
p l eadings normally requires converting the matte r to a motion for 
s ummary j udgment . SDCL 1 5- 6- 12(c ) . " Failing to convert a mot i on 
to dismi ss to a summary judgme nt mot i on despite a c our t' s 
considerati on of matters beyond the pleadings ' c a n constitute 
reversibl e error . Heal y Ranch P ' ship v . Mine s , 2022 S . D. 4 4 , i 
36 (c itati ons a nd quotat i ons omitt e d ) . 
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56-57. In such cases, other parties with beneficial rights can bring suit, 

because (( equity, to prevent a failure of justice, disregards the corporate 

entity and permits suit to be brought and maintained by [those others] to 

protect rights beneficially belonging to him. The right exists because of 

special injury to him." Landstrom v. Shaver, 1997 S.D. 25, <jf<jf 56-57 

( quotation omitted) ( addressing the analogous situation of minority 

shareholder interests). 

Paul has standing as a beneficiary of the trust, including under the 

Declaratory Judgment Act, as well as this Court's prior case law allowing 

beneficiaries to bring suit when the trustee fails to do so. 

A beneficiary may maintain a proceeding related to the trust or its 
property against a third party only if ... the trustee is unable, 
unavailable, unsuitable, or improperly failing to protect the 
beneficiary's interest. RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF TRUSTS§ 107 
(2012). The beneficiary has the burden to show that the trustee is 
improperly refusing or neglecting to bring an action, or if the trustee is 
unavailable or unable to act, the protection of the trust estate may 
depend on the initiative of a beneficiary to act. ... " RESTATEMENT 
(THIRD) OF TRUSTS§ 107 cmt. c(2) (2012). See also Browning v. Brunt, 
330 Conn. 447, 195 A.3d 1123, 1130 (2018) (citing RESTATEMENT 
(THIRD) OF TRUSTS§ 107 cmt. c(2)) C' [I]n order to demonstrate that 
they fall under this exception, beneficiaries must demonstrate that the 
trustee either is improperly refusing or improperly neglecting to bring 
an action on behalf of the trust."). 

Matter of Est. of Calvin, 2021 S.D. 45, <jf<jf 17-18, 963 N.W.2d 319, 324-25. 
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And, Paul and Skyline are unique in this action: unlike his other 

siblings who are also trust beneficiaries, Paul and Skyline are able "to plead a 

unique and personal injury" based upon the specific and general facts in the 

Complaint, related to the issue of occupancy and the twenty-year farming 

partnership. Cable v. Union Cnty. Bd. of Cnty. Comm 'rs, 2009 S.D. 59, <jf 28. 

4. Paul's Complaint is not "frivolous" or "malicious," and does 
not warrant an award of attorney's fees. 

The Circuit Court awarded attorney's fees, finding fault in the claims 

brought by Paul. [R.425-432] (describing Paul's Complaint as 

"problematic;" "confusing;" "troubling;" "an untenable legal position;" 

"defies logic;" "disingenuous;" '' not plausible on its face;" '' devoid of 

specific facts;" and "frivolous"). See) also) [R.639-642] (further 

characterizing the Complaint as "rambling;" "disjointed;" '' borderline 

frivolous;" and "questionable"). 

The Circuit Court did not recite or apply the correct and complete law 

in reaching this decision. See) [R.431; "Memorandum Decision," citing no 

statute or case law whatsoever]; [R.435-439; "Finding/Conclusions," citing 

the statute, <jf 3, and reciting only part of this Court's test, <jf 7]14. 

14 The Ci rcuit Court ' s Conclus ion of Law #4 states , incor rectl y 
and without authority, that " frivolous or malicious are terms 
used in the a l t e rnative ." [R.437 ]. 
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Paul asks for the award of fees to be vacated, on either of two 

alternative grounds. 

First, if this Court agrees that the Circuit Court's dismissal was in 

error, the statutory award of attorney's fees is per se erroneous. See) SDCL 

15-17-51 ("dismissal" as a necessary element for recovery of fees); Gronau v. 

Weubker_, 2003 S.D. 116, <jf 6 (necessary element is that "the civil action is 

dismissed"). Paul asks for a full reversal of the Circuit Court's dismissal 

because he believes he has stated valid claims. 

Or second, in the event this Court holds that some or all of Paul's 

asserted claims should be dismissed, then, Paul asks this Court to apply the 

"prior caselaw in which [SDCL 15-17-51] has been interpreted." Gronau v. 

Weubker_, 2003 S.D. 116, <jf 10. 

"Simply because a claim or defense is adjudged to be without merit 

does not mean that it is frivolous .... Any doubt about whether or not a legal 

position is frivolous or taken in bad faith must be resolved in favor of the 

party whose legal position is in question." Gronau v. WeubkerJ 2003 S.D. 

116, <jf 10 (quoting Ridley v. Lawrence County Comm )nJ 2000 S.D. 143, <jf 14). 

To paraphrase the analysis of GronauJ Paul's effort to pursue claims that 

would rectify substantial allegations of undue influence ('cannot be 
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characterized as a legal position so wholly without merit as to be ridiculous." 

Id. (quoting and citing Behrens v. American Stores Packing Co.) 236 Neb. 279, 

460 N.W.2d 671, 677 (1990). Ridley) 2000 SD 143, <ff 14). 

It was a reasonable legal position for the ousted CEO of the Family 

Trust Corporation to seek to rectify the challenged corporate acts. Taking 

Paul's Complaint to be true, Paul is still the bona fide president ofVOR, 

Inc., and, as an officer he has the legal ability to pursue claims on behalf of 

the corporation. See) Schroder v. Scotten) Dillon Co., 299 A.2d 431, 435 (Del. 

Ch. 1972) (when corporate meetings are not lawfully convened, the previous 

directors and officers continue to hold office). In a light most favorable to 

the Complaint's assertions, Paul is an officer, and there is a dispute about 

who has authority to make decisions for VOR. 

It was a reasonable legal position for Victoria's son to attempt to assert 

claims "for the benefit of" her Estate when Raymond, as fiduciary, was 

unable or refused to do so. Paul does not claim to be the Special 

Administrator. Instead, Paul asserts that the Special Administrator (ostensibly 

Raymond) is incapable or has refused to pursue relief on behalf of the Estate. 

There is substantial authority permitting interested parties like Paul to 

assert claims on behalf of an Estate like Victoria's. See) Beachy v. Becerra, 609 
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N.W.2d 648, 651-51 (Neb. 2000) (citing 31 Am.Jur.2d Executors and 

Administrators) § 1285 (1989)) (interested party to an Estate is permitted to 

bring or enforce claims for the benefit of the Estate when the Personal 

Representative has failed to act, or when his interests are antagonistic to the 

Estate, or are otherwise collusive). 

Here, Raymond is attempting to serve on both sides of a lawsuit, which 

makes his interests "antagonistic to the Estate or otherwise collusive." See) 

Hampshirev. Powell, 10 Neb. App.148, 155,626 N.W.2d 620,626 (2001) 

("executor is not 'legally competent' to act in that capacity, where his duties 

would require him to prosecute on behalf of adversary litigants, a suit which he 

would at the same time defend as an individual.") ( citations omitted). See,, 

also) SDCL 15-6-17( a) (real party in interest rule, which requires cognizable 

parties on both sides of a suit). Paul's claims are brought for the benefit of the 

Estate, and constitute a permissible theory under persuasive authority. (And, 

at the very least, Paul's efforts furthered the Estate's interests and will allow a 

proper executor to be substituted in his place.) 

And, it was a reasonable legal position for Paul and Skyline to assert 

unjust enrichment claims in the alternative. SDCL 15-6-8(a) ("Relief in the 

alternative ... may be demanded.") 
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Nor is it frivolous for Paul to seek to include parties who the Court 

later deems to be incorrect parties. "Misjoinder of parties is not ground for 

dismissal of an action. Parties may be dropped or added by order of the court 

on motion ... on terms that are just." SDCL 15-6-21. 

"A frivolous action exists when the proponent can present no rational 

argument based on the evidence or law in support of the claim." Healy v. 

Osborne, 2019 S.D. 56, <jf 34. Paul has identified numerous rational arguments 

in support of his legal position, based on both law and fact. His claims are not 

frivolous. 

5. The Presidingjudge erroneously refused Skyline's attempt to 
change judges 

Less than three weeks after filing the Complaint in this action, Skyline 

Cattle Company issued an informal request for Judge Spears' recusal, and, 

then filed an affidavit seeking his recusal. [R.97; R.118]. As Skyline's initial, 

informal request states, this was "based upon the connection of your 

campaign treasurer to parties or witnesses involved in these matters." 

[R.97]. In particular,Judge Spears' campaign treasurer in 2022 (who was 

also his former employee for 12 years) now works as a paralegal for 

Raymond's law firm, Schoenbeck & Erickson. 
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By statute, "opposing litigants ... cannot contest the request" for 

informal recusal. State v. Tapio, 432 N.W.2d 268, 270 (S.D. 1988) (quoting 

SDCL 15-12-21.1). Nonetheless, in violation of that statute, Raymond's 

counsel filed a multiple-page written objection to the informal request. 

[R.106-108, "Objection to .. .Informal Requests Under SDCL 15-12-21.1"]. 

FollowingJudge Spears' refusal to informally recuse himself, Skyline 

Cattle Company filed the affidavit permitted by SDCL 15-12-22. 

Skyline had not been a party to any prior proceeding involving 

Raymond or Victoria. Instead, only Paul had appeared previously, not 

Skyline. Nonetheless, the Presiding Judge denied the change of judge 

request, and, erroneously stated that "the request for change of judge has 

been made by Petitioner-Plaintiff Paul O 'Farrell." [R.121] ( emphasis 

added). 

The PresidingJudge also held that Paul "has previously submitted 

motions, argument, and testimony to the assigned Judge on substantive 

issues and has waived his right to file an affidavit for change of judge 

pursuant to SDCL 15-12-24." [R.121]. 

That statute, however, states that the waiver applies " to any party or 

his counsel who submitted [ argument or proof in support of a motion or 
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application]." SDCL 15-12-24. Neither Skyline Cattle Company nor its 

counsel had ever previously submitted any argument or proof in support of a 

motion. The waiver described in that statute did not apply to Skyline or its 

counsel. 

Further, the only active case at that time (March of 2023) was 

Victoria's probate, and, no hearing had yet taken place in the probate file. 

(The Circuit Court ran out of time to address any probate questions at the 

October 18, 2022, hearing.) [VHT 149 ("I denied the motion to intervene. 

That's what was in front of me.") Accordingly, the only still-active case in 

March 2023 was a probate file to which SDCL 15-12-24 did not apply, 

because no arguments had been heard and decided by the Judge. 

In light of all of this, the denial of the change of judge appears to be in 

error. 

Paul acknowledges that SDCL 15-12-23 provides that ('the filing of 

such affidavit by one party is deemed to be filed by all of such parties [ united 

in interest]." However, that statute appears to be prospective in application, 

foreclosing future affidavits. It does not say that a party's prior submission of 

argument in a separate matter is thereby imputed to all parties united in 

interest in later matters for purposes of waiver under SDCL 15-12-24. A 
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blanket waiver rule like that could be problematic, binding future litigants in 

future matters simply because they later become united in interest with a 

party who is precluded from seeking recusal. Skyline asks this Court to apply 

the affidavit recusal statutes and order the Circuit Judge be replaced. 

Or, in the alternative, the recusal should be ordered as a sanction for 

Raymond's counsel's violation of SDCL 15-12-21.1 (by filing an objection to 

the informal request, and thereby interfering with the Circuit Court's 

deliberation process). 

Or, in the alternative to the affidavit process, " [a] separate avenue for 

disqualification is found in our Code of Judicial Conduct," namely, that (( [a] 

judge shall disqualify himself or herself in a proceeding in which the judge's 

impartiality might reasonably be questioned[.]" O'Neill v. O'Neill, 2016 S.D. 

15, <jf 42, 876 N.W.2d 486,502 (quoting SDCL ch. 16-2 app. Canon 3 E(l)). 

"The standard is an objective one, requiring disqualification where there is 

'an appearance of partiality even though no actual partiality exists.'" Marko 

v. Marko) 2012 S.D. 54, <jf 20,816 N.W.2d 820,826 (quotingLib'ebergv. 

Health Servs. Acquisition Corp.) 486 U.S. 847, 860, 108 S.Ct. 2194, 2202-03, 

100 L.Ed.2d 855 (1988)). Although a judge has discretion in determining 

whether the facts of a particular case meet the disqualifying criteria, a judge 
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is required to disqualify herself if she determines such criteria have been met. 

Id. <jf 18, 816 N .W.2d at 826. However, "a judge also has an ( equally strong 

duty not to [ disqualify herself] when the circumstances do not require 

[disqualification].' "Marko, <jf 21, 816 N .W.2d at 826 ( quoting MODEL CODE 

OF JUDICIAL CONDUCT 187 (Am. Bar Ass'n 2004)). 

Here, the objective circumstances rise at least to the level of an 

appearance of impropriety. Judge Spears is sitting on a case where one of the 

primary law firms employes his judicial campaign treasurer, who is also one 

of his long-term former employees. Accordingly,Judge Spears should have 

recused himself, whether or not the affidavit process was available, and, Paul 

asks this Court to effectuate that recusal. 

CONCLUSION 

We offer two points in conclusion. 

First, from the Eviction Appeal, this Court is familiar with Paul's 

arguments about Rule 13(a), regarding compulsory counterclaims. The basic 

principles underling that Rule also apply here. Namely, Rule 13(a) ('was 

designed to prevent a multiplicity of actions and a duplication of judicial 

efforts." Peterson v. UnitedAccts.) Inc.) 638 F.2d 1134, 1137 (8th Cir. 1981). 

The Rules, more generally, allows litigants to achieve resolution of all disputes 
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arising out of common matters, within a single lawsuit. Id. Paul asks that this 

case be sent back so that all of the various questions can be resolved within a 

single proceeding, which was his intent from the outset. 

Second, counsel argued at the motion to dismiss hearing that, (' [t]he 

fascinating thing about this [land] transaction, [ and] in all of this dating back to 

Victoria in June of 2022, is virtually none of the proceedings thus far have 

involved anything related to the facts. It's procedure .... [P]rocedural barriers 

are being put out to keep the facts from being heard. That's a red flag for me, 

because if there's nothing wrong with this transaction, ifit's all fair and above­

board, let's hear the facts, and, let's someone hear the facts and have them 

decide upon the facts, rather than this procedural run-around that is occurring 

in Paul's attempt to have his case heard." [R.415, HT 34]. Paul would like a 

Jury to hear the facts of this case. 

Paul asks this Court to reverse the dismissal, vacate the award of 

attorney's fees, and remand the case for further proceedings. 

Dated this 20th day of November, 2023. 
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

COUNTY OF GRANT 

PAUL O'FARRELL, individually; and, as a 
beneficiary of the family trust; and, for the 
benefit of the Estate of Victoria O'Farrell; 
SKYLINE CATTLE COMPANY, a South 
Dakota corporation; & VOR, INC., a South 
Dakota corporation, 

Plaintiffs, 

vs. 

KELLY O'F ARRELL, an individual; 
GRAND VALLEY HUTTERIAN 
BRETHREN, INC.; a South Dakota 
corporation; & THE RAYMOND AND 
VICTORIA O'F ARRELL LIVING TRUST, a 
South Dakota trust, by and through its trustee; 
and any other necessary parties. 

Defendants. 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

25CIV 23-15 

lliDGMENT OF DISMISSAL AND RULE 
54(b) CERTIFICATION 

Based on the Opinion and Order on Grand Valley Hutterian Brethren, Inc. 's Motion to 

Dismiss, Order Granting VOR, Inc., the Raymond and Victoria O'Farrell Living Trust, and the 

Estate of Victoria O'Farrell's Motions to Dismiss, and based on the Findings of Fact and 

Conclusions of Law Regarding Defendants' Motion for Attorney's Fees Under SDCL 15-17-51 , 

this Court enters the following Judgment of Dismissal and Rule 54(b) Certification: 

1. Paul sued all Defendants for rescission and sued certain defendants, not including 

Hutterian Brethren, for damages. Counterclaims seeking money damages were filed by Kelly 

O 'Farrell, Estate of Victoria O'Farrell, and the Raymond and Victoria O'Farrell Living Trust 

("Counterclaim Defendants"). 
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25CIV23-15 
Judgment of Dismissal and Rule 54(b) Certification 

2. Based upon the transcript, Memorandum Decision, Opinion and Order on Hutterian 

Brethren's Motion to Dismiss, Order Granting VOR, Inc., the Raymond and Victoria O'Farrell 

Living Trust, and the Estate of Victoria O'Farrell's Motions to Dismiss, and the Findings of Fact 

and Conclusions of Law Regarding Defendants' Motion for Attorney's Fees Under SDCL 15-17-

51, all of Paul's claims against all Defendants are dismissed with prejudice. 

3. The Counterclaims filed by the Counterclaim Defendants remain pending. 

4. As part of Hutterian Brethren, VOR, Inc., the Raymond and Victoria O'Farrell 

Living Trust, and the Estate of Victoria O'Farrell's Motion to Dismiss, they also requested this 

Court issue a SDCL § 15-6-54(b) certification to allow for any appeal of its order on these Motions 

to Dismiss to be appealed to the South Dakota Supreme Court in conjunction with vOr, Inc. and 

Grand Valley Hutterian Brethren v. Paul O 'Farrell and Skyline Cattle Company case number 

25CIV23-000018, where the trial court proceedings are stayed and the matter remains on appeal 

before the South Dakota Supreme Court. 

5. This Court grants the request for SDCL § 15-6-54(b) certification. 

6. "When multiple claims for relief or multiple parties are involved in an action, the 

court may direct the entry of a final judgment as to one or more but fewer than all of the claims or 

parties only upon an express determination that there is no just reason for delay and upon an 

express direction for the entry of judgment. In the absence of such determination and direction, 

any order or other form of decision, however designated, which adjudicates fewer than all the 

claims or the rights and liabilities of fewer than all the parties shall not terminate the action as to 

any of the claims or parties, and the order or other form of decision is subject to revision at any 

time before the entry of judgment adjudicating all the claims and the rights and liabilities of all the 

parties." SDCL § 15-6-54(b). 
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25CIV23-15 
Judgment of Dismissal and Rule 54(b) Certification 

7. The South Dakota Supreme Court has identified five factors to guide courts in a 

Rule 54(b) certification analysis: 

(1) the relationship between the adjudicated and unadjudicated claims; (2) the 
possibility that the need for review might or might not be mooted by future 
developments in the [trial] court; (3) the possibility that the reviewing court might 
be obliged to consider the same issue a second time; ( 4) the presence or absence of 
a claim or counterclaim which could result in setoff against the judgment sought to 
be made final; (5) miscellaneous factors such as delay, economic and solvency 
considerations, shortening the time of trial, frivolity of competing claims, expense, 
and the like. 

First Nat'l Bank v. Inghram, 2022 S.D. 2, ,i 31, 969 N.W.2d 471, 479 (quoting Nelson v. Est. of 

Campbell, 2021 S.D. 47, iJ 28, 963 N.W.2d 560, 568-69). 

8. The claims that have been adjudicated by this Court bear no relationship to the 

remaining unadjudicated claims which are certain Defendants' counterclaims for money damages. 

These two classes of claims are simply unrelated. 

9. Paul 's claim for rescission practically mirrors the eviction action that is currently 

pending before the South Dakota Supreme Court. So, there is no chance that an appeal of this 

claim could moot what is going to happen later on in this lawsuit. Instead, the eviction appeal 

could moot Paul's rescission claim. So, principles of judicial economy suggest that these two 

issues should be handled at the same time before the South Dakota Supreme Court. 

10. If the South Dakota Supreme Court considers the eviction claim with the rescission 

claim, there is absolutely no possibility that the South Dakota Supreme Court will be obliged to 

consider that issue a second time based on res judicata. 

11. This Court dismissed all of Plaintiffs' claims. Thus, the Counterclaim Defendants 

are either going to get a money judgment against Plaintiffs or not. Regardless of the outcome, 

there will be no setoff. 
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25CIV23-15 
Judgment of Dismissal and Rule 54(b) Certification 

12. By taking these issues up on appeal, now, it should cut off any possibility of 

duplicate appeals and shorten the overall appeal time of the issues dismissed in this case and in the 

eviction appeal. 

13. In this case, a Rule 54(b) certification is appropriate because this is a time sensitive 

matter as the parties are dealing with farmland and crop seasons. 

14. The eviction matter needs to reach finality and the rescission needs to be ultimately 

decided so that the parties can have a final determination as to ownership and the land can be 

farmed and maintained in the future. 

15. "[T]he rule in this state does not permit a single cause of action to be split or divided 

among several suits." SodakDistrib. Co. v. Wayne, 77 S.D. 496,499, 93 N.W.2d 791, 793 (1958). 

16. If this Court were to deny Hutterian Brethren, VOR, Inc., the Raymond and Victoria 

O'Farrell Living Trust, and the Estate of Victoria O'Farrell's Motion to Dismiss and allow Paul's 

cause of action to proceed against the same parties, the status of the Property under the challenged 

the land sale transaction will remain unknown. 

17. Allowing a certification of final judgment would improve the administration of 

justice as an appeal of this Motion would affect the appeal of the eviction proceedings as both 

cases involve the same Property and rights of the Hutterian Brethren in the Property. See First 

Nat'l Bank, 2022 S.D. 2, ,i 31, 969 N.W.2d at 479 ("The purpose of Rule 54(b) certification is to 

'improve[] [the] administration of justice[.]"' (citation omitted)). 

18. Under SDCL §15-6-54(b), this Court's ruling on Hutterian Brethren, VOR, Inc. , the 

Raymond and Victoria O'Farrell Living Trust, and the Estate of Victoria O'Farrell's Motion to 

Dismiss is a final, appealable judgment as this Court expressly determines that there is no just 

reason for delay and that this Order shall constitute entry of judgment upon the same. 
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25CIV23-15 
Judgment of Dismissal and Rule 54(b) Certification 

19. The Court awards Defendants VOR, Inc. and the Estate of Victoria O'Farrell's 

reasonable attorney's fees and costs, which affidavits are to be filed and served upon Plaintiffs' 

counsel in accordance with SDCL 15-6-54( d). After this judgment is entered and Defendants file 

and serve their Affidavits, Plaintiffs shall have fourteen days after receipt of the Affidavits to object 

and schedule a hearing before the Court on the objection in regard to the amount of attorney's fees 

and costs. If no objection is filed within fourteen days, the Clerk of Courts shall endorse upon the 

Judgment the attorney's fees and costs in the amount of$ to the 
------------

previously named Defendants. The amount will be inserted by the Clerk of Courts upon the Court 

hearing the objection of the Plaintiffs or upon the lapse of fourteen days from Plaintiffs' receipt of 

Defendants' Affidavit. 

Attest: 
Mielitz, Brooke 
Clerk/Deputy 

9/5/2023 9:55:36 AM 

BY THE COURT: 

Hon. Robert Spears 
Circuit Court Judge 
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Counselors, the opinion of the Court regarding the defendants' motions to 
dismiss the complaint captioned above for failure to state a claim is expressed 
below. Based on the foregoing rationale, the defendants' motions are granted. 

FACTS 

The plaintiff is a disgruntled member of the O'Farrell family. He 

commenced the above captioned lawsuit recently alleging several causes of 

action. He was, and perhaps still is, the principal in an agricultural venture known 

as the Skyline Cattle Company. Paul O'Farrell and Skyline Cattle conducted 

farming and ranching operations on land owned by Vor, Inc. Paul lost money on 

these operations for several years. His parents Victoria and Raymond allowed 

Paul to lease the land and even financed his loses by taking out several mortgages 

on the land his parents owned and leased to him. Things came to a head in early 

2022. 

Victoria fell and broke her hip. She was hospitalized and then transferred to 

a nursing facility. Unfortunately, Victoria never recovered and passed away in the 

spring of 2022. Prior to her passing, Victoria and Paul set up a couple of revocable 

trusts. Shortly after Victoria's death, Raymond, as the surviving spouse, was 

appointed by this Court as the Personal Representative of Victoria's Estate. 

Additionally, prior to Victoria's death, Raymond and Victoria set up individual 

revocable trusts as part of their respective estate plans and named their children 

as beneficiaries of the trust. Victoria and Raymond named themselves as trustees. 
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Shortly after Victoria's death, Raymond withdrew his shares and assets 

from his trust, removed Paul as president of VOR Inc., put Paul on notice that his 

lease to use the land for his farming and ranching operations would not be 

renewed and put the land up for sale. The land was subsequently sold to the 

defendant, Grand Valley Hutterian Brethren, Inc. (Grand Valley). Raymond also 

started a probate proceeding regarding Victoria's estate. 

This Court has presided over at least three previous hearings concerning 

these parties, heard from various witnesses concerning several issues and 

disagreements between the individuals involved in these issues. In addition, this 

Court will take Judicial Notice of all previous hearings, witness testimony, exhibits, 

orders, attachments to the pending motions to dismiss, and all things mentioned 

or referred to in the complaint, answer and counterclaim. This Court conducted a 

hearing on the defendants' motion to dismiss the complaint on the afternoon of 

July 11, 2023. Additional facts, as necessary will be developed and discussed in 

the section below. 

ANAL YSIS/DEC/S/ON 

The filing of this lawsuit and the motions to dismiss brought by the defendants 

raises several problematic and confusing issues for this Court. Generally speaking, 

the personal representative or a specially appointed administrator are the only 

persons allowed to bring a claim on behalf of an estate. (SDCL 29A-3-617, SDCL 

29A-3-711). Paul O'Farrell is neither. Although Paul O'Farrell, one of the plaintiffs, 

attempted to make this issue as confusing and convoluted as he possibly could, 
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the analysis on this issue and applicable law is relatively straight forward and 

simple. The Court does not need to go any further on this issue. Consequently, 

the Court will dismiss all claims against the Estate Victoria O' Farrell. 

Other aspects pertaining to this complaint are equally troubling and 

problematic for this Court. For example, Paul claims he is the president of Vor, 

Inc. Based on the record, this simply is not the case. Paul contends the Court must 

accept that as a fact as stated in the complaint and for the purposes of a 12(b){S) 

motion to dismiss, and the Court cannot consider any other documents, records, 

or exhibits that fall outside the complaint. While this argument may sound 

appealing and even compelling as far as it goes, such reasoning does not take into 

account the well- settled law on this issue at best or is just flat wrong at worse. 

Trial courts can, and in many cases must, to achieve a just result, consider public 

records whose authentication cannot be reasonably questioned, and that includes 

exhibits or documents in the court records and things mentioned in the 

complaint, answer, or counterclaim even though such items are not attached to 

the compliant. (Waldner v. N.Am. Truck and Trailor, Inc. 277 F.R.D 401 (D.S.D), 

(Nooney v. StubHub, Inc., 2015 S.D. 102). 

Therefore, applying the above standards to the facts presented in this case, 

it is clear that Paul is not the president of Vor, Inc. and does not have the 

authority to bring a lawsuit on Vor's behalf. In addition, Paul's complaint names 

Vor, Inc. as a plaintiff, yet, in the complaint Paul has named Vor, Inc. as a 

defendant in the same complaint. This simply is an untenable legal position, 
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defies logic and is disingenuous. A complaint must not be based on mere 

speculation and the complaint must be plausible on its face. (Bell Atlantic Corp. v. 

Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, {2007). The way this complaint is worded, its practical 

effect is treating Vor, Inc. as both a plaintiff and a defendant. Thus, the complaint 

as it applies to Vor, Inc., is not plausible on its face and Vor, Inc. is dismissed as 

both a plaintiff and a defendant. 

Moreover, the Court will dismiss Count 1 of the Complaint in its entirety as 

to all defendants. Specifically, as Count 1 applies to the Estate of Victoria 

O'FarreH, actions must be brought within the estate/probate proceeding. This was 

not done as required by statute. As to Vor, Inc., the allegations contain multiple 

instances wherein legal conclusions are simply stated and devoid of specific facts 

to support such allegations, or are refuted by the public records, exhibits and 

attachments submitted by Var in favor of its motion to dismiss. As stated above, 

this Court can consider such documents and is free to ignore legal conclusions 

cloaked as factual allegations. (See Ashcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, (2009). 

Likewise, this Court will dismiss the count in the complaint alleging tort 

damages. Such a charge is not recognized as an independent cause of action 

under South Dakota Law. Additionally, under our well- settled rules of pleadings, a 

complaint can include general allegations, but the complaint must put the 

defendants on notice as to exactly what is being alleged and put the defendants 

on notice as to what they should defend against. (Kaiser Trucking Inc. v. Liberty 

Mutual Fire Insurance Company, 981 N. W.2d 645, 2022 SD 64). 
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As to the claim of recisslon stated in Paul's complaint, the Court will dismiss 

that count as it applies to Vor, Inc. The recission claim in the complaint pertains to 

the sale of real estate. The parties to the sales contract were Vor, Inc. and the 

Grand Valley Hutterian Brethren, Inc. As I determined above, Paul is not the 

president of Vor, Inc. and has no authority to act on its behalf. I already dismissed 

the recission claim against Grand Valley for the reasons stated on the record at 

the close of the hearing I conducted on July 11, 2023. 

It is the intent of this Court to dismiss all claims brought by the plaintiff 

against all named defendants for the reasons stated herein. It is also the intent of 

this Court to certify this decision for immediate appeal pursuant to SDCL 15-6-

54(b) for the following reasons. All the parties are linked together, (other than 

Grand Valley), as family members, heirs or beneficiaries of Victoria's Trust. As 

such, while it is true that Vor, Inc., the Victoria O'Farrell Trust, Victoria O'Farrell 

Estate, have all filed a counterclaim that has not been dismissed, certification for 

an appeal without delay will allow the resolution of the remaining issues in the 

sense that Victoria's Estate and Trust will know if they will be allowed a set-off 

once Victoria's Estate and Trust is administered and distributed. 

Moreover, interest rates, attorney fees and other economic consequences 

continue to accrue if this Court does not certify the claims asserted by Plaintiff for 

an immediate appeal that are dismissed in this opinion. For example, Grand Valley 

is entitled to an immediate appellate decision on the Plaintiff's recission claim. 

This Court will note that a similar claim involving this same real estate is already 
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on appeal regarding Paul O'Farrell's eviction from this same real estate. 

Additionally, it is the Court's opinion that if the certain claims and issues 

dismissed by this Court in this Memo Opinion are not certified for an immediate 

appeal, in all likelihood, this Court will have to hear and resolve the same or 

similar issues another time. As far as this Court is concerned, I have already done 

so on more than one occasion. 

Finally, Vor, Inc. and Victoria's Estate are seeking attorney fees. These 

plaintiffs contend that the complaint filed in this matter was frivolous. The Court 

agrees with that assertion, at least to those aspects ofthe complaint that pertain 

to naming Vor, Inc. as a plaintiff, then treating Vor, Inc. as a defendant in the 

sense the complaint is seeking monetary damages from Vor. Additionally, this 

Court determines the portion of the complaint that names the Estate of Victoria 

O'Farrell as plaintiff is frivolous in the sense that only the personal representative 

or a specially appointed administrator can bring such a claim and the Estate 

incurred unnecessary legal expenses in dismissing the complaint. Consequently, 

Mr. Erickson shall file his time charges along with a supporting affidavit within the 

time prescribed by law and serve the same upon Paul O'Farrell. Once served and 

if he objects within the time prescribed by law, Paul O'Farrell shall file and serve 

an objection, schedule and notice a hearing. 

CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing, the motions to dismiss the complaint for failure to 

state a claim upon which relief pertaining to the above- mentioned defendants 

7 

APP.12 



are granted. In addition, Judicial Economy, along with the legal resources, 

expended by the parties are best served by this Court as stated in this Memo 

Opinion and for the reasons stated at the hearing on July 11, 2023, by certifying 

this decision as the final order of the Court for an immediate appeal under SDCL 

15-6-54(b). Mr. Erickson shall prepare findings of fact and conclusions of law, 

(unless waived), along with an Order consistent with this writing. Additionally, Mr. 

Beck will prepare the appropriate Order, findings of fact and conclusions of 

law,(unless waived), pertaining to the SDCL 15-6-54(b) Certification and consistent 

with this writing. 

4~d~x/~v 
Robert L. Spears / · 

Circuit Court Judge 
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

Throughout this brief, Paul O'Farrell, Kelly O'Farrell, and Raymond O'Farrell1 

will be referred to as "Paul," "Kelly," and "Ray," respectively. Skyline Cattle Company 

will be referred to as "Skyline." vOr, Inc. will be referred to as "VOR." The Estate of 

Victoria O'Farrell will be referred to as "Victoria's Estate." Grand Valley Hutterian 

Brethren, Inc. will be referred to as "Brethren." The Raymond and Victoria O'Farrell 

Living Trust will be referred to as "the Trust." The Codington County Clerk of Court's 

record will be referred to by the initials "CR" and the corresponding page numbers 

located in its November 21, 2023, Chronological and Alphabetical Indices. References to 

the July 11, 2023, hearing transcript will be made using "HT" followed by the page 

designation found in the hearing transcript. 

To the extent necessary, the additional, related actions will be referred to as VOR, 

Inc. and Grand Valley Hutterian Brethren v. Paul O 'Farrell and Skyline Cattle Company 

(25CIV23-18) (Appeal No. 30344) ("Eviction Action); In the Matter of the Guardianship 

and Conservatorship of Raymond O 'Farrell (25GDN23-l) (Appeal No. 30508) ("Ray's 

Guardianship"); Estate of Victoria O 'Farrell (25PRO22-l l) (Appeal No. 30532) 

("Victoria's Estate"); Victoria O 'Farrell v. Raymond O 'Farrell, Kelly O 'Farrell 

(25CIV22-38) (Appeal No. 30508) ("Victoria's Lawsuit"); and CHS Capital, LLC v. 

Skyline Cattle Co., Paul O 'Farrell, VOR, Inc . (25CIV23-27) ("Collection Lawsuit"). 2 

1 Ray is not a party to this action or appeal. 
2 Paul claims "[ a]ll of these matters are interrelated, and, ultimately [they] expect all of 
these appeals and proceedings to be combined." (Appellants' Br., at 3.) However, Paul 
has never sought consolidation of these cases before the trial court(s) or this Court. 



JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

Brethren agree with and adopt Appellant's Jurisdictional Statement as if fully set 

forth herein. 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES3 

1. Paul alleges Kelly is solely responsible for manipulating Ray, but neither the 
Complaint nor Paul's testimony provided any bases for this. All claims 
against Kelly were dismissed by the lower court. Paul waived all claims on 
appeal by failing to articulate elements of each claim against Kelly, let alone 
the facts that support any such claim. Because Kelly is the alleged undue 
influencer, has Paul waived all claims in this action and the other, related 
actions? 

Nygaard v. Sioux Valley Hosps. & Health Sys. , 2007 S.D. 34, 731 N.W.2d 184 

2. Paul is not a party to the Purchase Agreement in any personal or 
representative capacity. Paul has not pied that he is a party to the Purchase 
Agreement. Paul does not own the Property. Paul is not the president of 
VOR. Paul does not have an enforceable interest under the Trust. Paul is 
not Ray's guardian or conservator. Does Paul have standing to bring any of 
the pending claims? Even if he does, has Paul failed to state a claim for 
rescission? 

Cable v. Union Cty. Ed. ofCty. Comm'rs, 2009 S.D. 59, 769 N.W.2d 817 
Steel Co. v. Citizens for a Better Env't, 523 U.S. 83 (1998) 
SDCL § 21-12-1 
SDCL § 53-11-2 

3. The Purchase Agreement was signed on August 12, 2022 and closed in 
October 2022. To As it stands, Paul has not and cannot tender the $3.2 
million to restore to Brethren the value received under the Purchase 
Agreement. Is Paul's Notice of Rescission and attempt to rescind defective 
and untimely under South Dakota law? 

3 Paul did not plead a cause of action against Brethren in Count 1. (CR at 20-24, ,i,i 68-
91.) Count 3 is not an independent cause of action, rather, it is a general request for tort 
damages. Paul expressly disclaimed any damages sought against Brethren. See id. at 28, 
,i 114 ("No tort damages are sought from the Huttelite Brethren, and Paul sincerely 
apologizes that thev must be made part of this ordeal.") (Emphasis in original.) 
Furthermore, Brethren take no position as to the lower court's imposition of attorneys' 
fees or its failure to recuse itself from this case. 
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SDCL § 53-11-5 
Halvorson v. Birkland, 84 S.D. 328, 171 N.W.2d 77 (S.D. 1969). 

4. Paul is alleging he has an interest in the Property because of the Trust. By 
extension Paul's siblings similarly have an unenforceable interest in the 
Property via the Trust. The bank issued a note and mortgage and was a 
party to the closing, giving it an enforceable interest in the Property. Paul 
did not name his siblings or the bank in the rescission action or include them 
in the Notice of Rescission. Did Paul fail to properly request the remedy of 
rescission by failing to name all parties in his Complaint and his Notice of 
Rescission? 

5. Rescission is a remedy, not a cause of action. Paul did not plead a 
substantive cause of action against Brethren. Paul did not plead that 
Brethren connived to improperly secure Ray's assent to the Purchase 
Agreement. Now, on appeal, Paul is alleging Brethren were complicit in 
Kelly's alleged undue influence over Ray. Can Paul allege Brethren 
connived for the first time on appeal? 

Hauck v. Clay Cnty. Comm'n, 2023 S.D. 43,994 N.W.2d 707 
State v. Hi Ta Lar, 2018 S.D. 18,908 N.W.2d 181 
Supreme Pork, Inc. v. Master Blaster, Inc., 2009 S.D. 20, 764 N.W.2d 474 
McDowell v. Citicorp Inc., 2008 S.D. 50, 752 N.W.2d 209 

6. Paul did not file a Motion for Leave to Amend his Complaint following 
service of the Motions to Dismiss. Paul did not amend his Complaint to add 
a cause of action against Brethren or even to allege connivance. Paul did not 
even propose an Amended Complaint for the trial court to analyze in 
conjunction with the pending Motions to Dismiss. Can Paul, for the first 
time in this action, amend his Complaint to allege Brethren connived to 
improperly obtain Ray's assent to the Purchase Agreement in order to avoid 
dismissal? 

SDCL § 15-6-15(a) 
Sisney v. Best Inc., 2008 S.D. 70, iJ 23, 754 N.W.2d 804, 813 

7. Paul did not join all the parties that would have been required to accomplish 
rescission. Paul claims that Brethren needed to file a motion under Rule 
12(b)(6) to prevail on this issue. However, the rescission statute required 
Paul to name all of those people. Th rescission statutes are substantive and 
failure to comply with the same is an independent basis to dismiss. Can Paul 
rely on SDCL § 15-6-12(b)(6) to cure his failures under SDCL § 15-6-12(b)(5) 
and SDCL Ch. 21-12 and 53-11? 

3 

4873-0791-6191, V. 1 



STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On March 3, 2023, Paul, individually, and purportedly on behalf of Victoria's 

Estate, Skyline, and VOR, filed suit against Kelly, Brethren, and the Trust for declaratory 

judgment, rescission, and unspecified tort damages. (CR at 7-90.) Attached to the 

Complaint were several pleadings from Victoria's Lawsuit: (i) the Complaint; (ii) 

Victoria's Brief filed in support of her Motion for Temporary Restraining Order; (iii) 

Affidavit of Victoria O'Farrell in support of her Motion for Temporary Restraining 

Order; (iv) an Affidavit of Victoria's physician's assistant. (CR at 32-90.) 

On April 5, 2023, VOR, Victoria's Estate, and the Trust filed an Answer, 

Counterclaim, and Motions to Dismiss. (CR at 126-185.) In this filing, VOR and 

Victoria's Estate sought dismissal as parties and all parties moved to dismiss each Count 

of the Complaint and sought attorneys' fees. In addition, VOR, Victoria's Estate, and the 

Trust filed a Counterclaim for tortious interference with contractual rights and barratry. 4 

On April 10, 2023, Kelly filed a Separate Answer and Counterclaim for barratry. 

(Id. at 187-199.) Kelly did not file a Motion to Dismiss. 

On April 10, 2023, Brethren filed a pre-Answer Motion to Dismiss. (Id. at 200.) 

On June 23, 2023, Brethren filed its Brief in Support of Motion to Dismiss, attaching the 

4 Attached to this Answer, Counterclaim, and Motion to Dismiss were (a) a September 7, 
2022, Annual Report of VOR filed with the South Dakota Secretary of State, (b) Order 
appointing Ray the Special Administrator in Victoria' s Estate and Letters of Special 
Administration, (c) the Purchase Agreement Paul attempted to rescind, (d) Chicago Title 
Insurance Company Owner's Policy issued to Brethren, (e) Notice of Rescission, (f) 
Acknowledgement ofreceipt of Notice of Rescission by Brethren's Registered Agent, (g) 
Order from Victoria's Lawsuit, denying Paul's Motion to Intervene, (h) Notice of 
Termination and Nonrenewal of Farm Lease, (i) Assignment of 50% ofVOR's stock to 
Ray, and G) Assignment for all remaining stock in VOR to Ray. (CR at 143-186.) 
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Trust document, the Purchase Agreement that is the subject of the Complaint in this 

matter, as well as Paul's Notice of Rescission. 

On July 11, 2023, a hearing was held on the various Motions to Dismiss before 

the Honorable Robert L. Spears. (Id. at 382-419.) Prior to this hearing, Paul did not file 

a Motion for Leave to Amend Complaint. Prior to his hearing, Paul did not submit a 

proposed Amended Complaint for the lower court to consider. On August 9, 2023, the 

Circuit Court issued a Memorandum Decision, dismissing the Complaint in its entirety 

and all Defendants. (Id. at 425-432.) The court, below, tookjudicial notice of the 

Eviction Action, in its entirety. (CR at 443, ~ 25.) In addition, the court took judicial 

notice of "all previous hearings, witness testimony, exhibits, orders, attachments to the 

pending motions to dismiss, and all things mentioned or referred to in the complaint, 

answer and counterclaim." (Id. at 427.) 

On September 5, 2023, Judge Spears entered a Judgment of Dismissal and Rule 

54(b) Certification. On September 9, 2023, Judge Spears entered an Opinion and Order 

on Brethren's Motions to Dismiss.5 (Id. at 440-501.) On September 7, 2023, Notice of 

Entry of the same was filed and served on Plaintiffs. (Id. at 507-509). Paul filed a Notice 

of Appeal on October 6, 2023, and an Amended Notice of Appeal on December 6, 2023. 

(Id. at 541-544.) 

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

Ray and Victoria owned approximately 1,000 acres of farmland in Grant County, 

South Dakota (the "Property"). (CR at 12, ~ 26.) Ray and Victoria put the Property into a 

corporation named VOR. (Id.,~ 25.) Ray and Victoria owned all the shares of VOR and 

5 Paul has not challenged the lower court's Rule 54(b) Certification. 
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deposited these shares of VOR into the Trust, which was a revocable trust created in 

2011. (Id., at 8, ~4; 12, at~~ 24-25; see also The Trust (Id. at 230-325.)) 

The Trust conditionally designated the majority of the Property to be inherited by 

their son, Paul, which included nine contiguous parcels comprising 703.33 acres. (Id. at 

13, ~ 29; 24, at~ 92.) The Trust also conditionally designated two other quarters of 

ground to be inherited by Ray and Victoria's other children, Lance, Marcie, Kelly, and 

Rita. (Id. at 12, ~ 27; 13, at~ 29.) The Trust granted Paul an option to purchase those two 

parcels. (Id. at 13, ~ 29). 

Victoria died on July 11, 2022. (Id. at 17, ~ 52.) By operation of the Trust, 

Victoria's shares of VOR and her beneficial interest in the Trust went to Ray. (See The 

Trust, Id. at 230-325.) Raymond removed all shares of VOR from the Trust. (Id. at 14, ~ 

34.) 

On August 12, 2022, Brethren and VOR entered into a Purchase Agreement 

whereby VOR sold the Property to Brethren for $3,200,000.00. The Purchase Agreement 

was signed on behalf of VOR by Ray, Paul's father, as its president. The land sale 

transaction closed in October 2022. (Id. at 18, ~ 59.) Nearly seven months later, Paul 

signed a document purporting to be a "Notice of Rescission." (CR at 336.) Paul signed 

the Notice of Rescission allegedly as VOR's president. Other than recite the legal 

description of the property subject to the Purchase Agreement, the Notice of Rescission 

states, in full: 

Paul O'Farrell, as duly-elected President, and on behalf of vOr, Inc., give 
notice of rescission of that certain real estate transaction involving the real 
property listed below. By this Notice, v0r, Inc. offers to restore to Grand 
Valley Hutterian Brethren, Inc., that which vOr, Inc. has received from 
them under the contract, upon the condition that they shall do likewise. 
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(Id.) Paul did not tender $3.2 million to Brethren. Paul did not have a proposed 

mortgage or note from First International Bank, or any other bank. Because none of that 

has been presented to date, his attempt to rescind is clearly untimely. 

Paul does not own the Property in his individual capacity or in any representative 

capacity for VOR or the Trust. Paul is not the president of VOR. (Id. at 143-144.) Paul 

is not a trustee of the Trust. (Id. at 230-325.) Indeed, Paul alleges that he is merely a 

"Successor Co-Trustee" in the event Ray is "unable" to serve. (Id. at 8, ,r 4.) Paul did 

not include First National Bank, Ray, or any of his siblings in the Notice of Rescission. 

(Id. at 336.) 

In this case, Paul has alleged that his brother, Kelly, "orchestrated a scheme to 

interfere with the long-standing trust and estate plans of his parents, (Raymond and 

Victoria). This resulted in the precipitous and illegal sale of nearly all of the family's 

farm ground." (Id. at 7.) In particular, Paul alleges that Kelly "manipulated" Ray to 

effectuate Paul's disinheritance and such acts have caused financial harm to Victoria, her 

Estate, Ray, the Trust, VOR, and to Paul. (Id. at 10.) Paul also alleges Kelly convinced 

Ray to remove shares of VOR from the Trust, separate Ray's and Victoria's assets, 

interfere in Paul's lending and farming activities, remove Paul and Victoria as officers 

and directors of VOR, attempt to fire Victoria's attorneys that were hired to stop these 

acts; and "signing a secret agreement to sell nine parcels of family farm ground to the 

Hutterite Brethren." (Id. at 14.) These exact same allegations appear in Ray's 

Guardianship as pied by Paul in an effort to obtain a guardianship and conservatorship 

over his father. (See Ray 's Guardianship record, at 2-3, attached as Appendix A.) 
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In the Eviction Action, Paul also went to great lengths to testify that Kelly 

"manipulated" Ray, alleged that Ray does not know how to read or write, and that Ray 

has been isolated by Kelly. (See Eviction Action record, at 227, attached as Appendix 

B.) Paul even went so far as to offer hearsay about Ray's capacity. (Id. at 228.) 

However, the court in the Eviction Action specifically "found much of the testimony of 

the defendant [Paul] to be non-credible." (Id. at 255:7.) The trial court similarly rejected 

such claims in Victoria's Lawsuit, holding: 

Now, I have heard a lot of evidence that Mr. O'Farrell, Senior, and that's 
who I am going to call him, the father here ,didn't have--didn't know what 
he was doing on this, didn't have capacity to do that. But that is just bold 
testimony and statements unsupported in the record. 
There's nothing in front of the court that I've heard today that would 
suggest that Mr. O'Farrell is incompetent, doesn't know who his heirs are, 
and was subjected to undue influence. 

(Victoria' s Lawsuit Record, at 539:25-540:8, attached as Appendix C.) Again, the lower 

court, in this case, took judicial notice of the Eviction Action in its entirety, including 

Paul ' s non-credible testimony, as well as Victoria's Lawsuit proceedings. (CR at 443, ,r 

25; 427.) In Victoria's Estate action, Paul continued to allege Kelly was unduly 

influencing Ray and that Kelly was instrumental in making changes to the Trust and 

VOR. (See Victoria' s Estate record, at 14-15, attached as Appendix D.) No judicial 

determination has been made, findings such claims to have merit. 

Paul commenced this action as an individual and on behalf of Victoria's Estate, 

Skyline, and VOR. However, the record reveals that he cannot assert claims on behalf of 

all of these entities. Paul is not the president ofVOR. (CR at 143-144.) 

In Victoria's Estate action, Ray was appointed as special administrator of 

Victoria's Estate on July 18, 2022 by Judge Dawn Elshere. (See Appx. D, at 5.) On 
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September 26, 2022, Paul sought to remove Ray as special administrator and appointment 

of himself in a Petition for Appointment of Special Administrator and Petition for 

Removal of Special Administrator. (Appx. D, at 11-15.) Although opposition was filed, 

it does not appear any action was taken on Paul's Petitions, thus Paul is not a personal 

representative or a specially appointed administrator of Victoria's Estate. Accordingly, 

Judge Spears dismissed Victoria's Estate as a Plaintiff in this action. (CR at 427-428.) 

Paul commenced a separate appeal of Judge Elshere's Order on November 7, 2023, 

which is pending with this Court. 

The only remedy sought against Brethren in the Complaint is Paul's request for 

rescission of the Purchase Agreement relating to the Property. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

To survive a motion to dismiss under SDCL 15-6-12(b )(5), a "complaint ... does 

not need detailed factual allegations, [rather,] a plaintiffs obligation to provide the 

'grounds' of his 'entitle[ment] to relief' requires more than labels and conclusions, and a 

formulaic recitation of the elements of a cause of action will not do ( on a motion to 

dismiss, courts 'are not bound to accept as true a legal conclusion couched as a factual 

allegation'). Factual allegations must be enough to raise a right to relief above the 

speculative level[.] [T]he pleading must contain something more ... than ... a statement 

of facts that merely creates a suspicion [ ofJ a legally cognizable right of action on the 

assumption that all the allegations in the complaint are true ( even if doubtful in fact)[.]" 

Sisney v. Best Inc. , 2008 S.D. 70, ,i 7, 754 N.W.2d 804, 808 (quoting Bell Atlantic Corp. 

v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 553, 127 S. Ct. 1955, 1964-65, 167 L. Ed. 2d 929 (2007) 

(alterations in original)). While a court must accept allegations of fact as true, the court 
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"is free to ignore legal conclusions, unsupported conclusions, unwarranted inferences and 

sweeping legal conclusions cast in the form of factual allegations." Nygaard v. Sioux 

Valley Hasps. & Health Sys., 2007 S.D. 34, ,r 9, 731 N.W.2d 184 (quoting Wiles v. 

Capitol Indemnity Corp. , 280 F.3d 868, 870 (8th Cir. 2002)). 

In ruling on a motion to dismiss under SDCL § 15-6-12(b), the trial court "may 

consider documents or attachments incorporated by reference in the pleadings[.]" Healy 

RanchP'ship v. Mines, 2022 S.D. 44, ,r 43,978 N.W.2d 768,780 n.10. See also 

Standard Fire Ins. Co. v. Cont'lRes., Inc., 2017 S.D. 41, ,r 10, 898 N.W.2d 734, 737 

(upholding trial court's review of the pleadings, the attachments to the pleadings, and 

documents incorporated by reference in the pleadings on a 12(b)(5) motion.). The Eighth 

Circuit Court of Appeals has held: 

In a case involving a contract, the court may examine the contract 
documents in deciding a motion to dismiss. This is true even if contract 
documents not attached to the complaint refute a breach-of-contract claim, 
or a claim that defendant breached a statutory or common law duty. 

Zean v. Fairview Health Servs., 858 F.3d 520, 526 (8th Cir. 2017). Similarly, where a 

trust document is involved, the Eighth Circuit has held that it necessarily must be 

considered: 

The Employer Trustees did not attach the Trust Agreement to their 
complaint, instead attaching it only to their response in opposition to the 
Union Trustees' motion to dismiss. In deciding a motion to dismiss, courts 
ordinarily do not consider matters outside the pleadings. See Fed. R. Civ. 
P. 12(d). However, "documents necessarily embraced by the complaint are 
not matters outside the pleading[s]. Documents necessarily embraced by 
the pleadings include 'documents whose contents are alleged in a 
complaint and whose authenticity no party questions, but which are not 
physically attached to the pleading."' Ashanti v. City of Golden Valley, 
666 F.3d 1148, 1151 (8th Cir. 2012) (citations omitted). Here, the content 
of several provisions of the Trust Agreement was alleged in the complaint. 
Additionally, no party has questioned the Trust Agreement's authenticity. 
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Accordingly, we will consider the entire Trust Agreement because it was 
necessarily embraced by the pleadings. 

Gillick v. Elliott, 1 F.4th 608, 610 (8th Cir. 2021). 

In addition, the court may take judicial notice when considering a motion to 

dismiss. See Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rts., Ltd., 551 U.S. 308,322, 127 S. Ct. 

2499, 2509, 168 L. Ed. 2d 179 (2007) ("[C]ourts must consider the complaint in its 

entirety, as well as other sources courts ordinarily examine when ruling on Rule 

12(b)(6) motions to dismiss, in particular, documents incorporated into the complaint by 

reference, and matters of which a court may take judicial notice."); Nooney v. StubHub, 

Inc. , 2015 S.D. 102, ,i 8, 873 N.W.2d 497,499 (considering documents incorporated by 

reference in the complaint); 5B Fed. Prac. & Proc. Civ. § 1357 (3d ed.) (courts may 

consider matters incorporated by reference or integral to the claim, items subject to 

judicial notice, matters of public record, orders, items appearing in the record of the case, 

and exhibits attached to the complaint whose authenticity is unquestioned; these items 

may be considered by the district judge without converting the motion into one for 

summary judgment.). 

ARGUMENT 

1. Paul claims that his Complaint included tort claims against Kelly, but he 
failed to plead the elements of the claims or any facts to support the same, 
therefore, Paul failed to state a claim against Kelly. 

According to Paul, Kelly is the individual at the root of the undue influence 

claims and is the bad actor giving rise to nearly all of the pending lawsuits. Indeed, Paul 

has gone to great lengths to plead alleged undue influence across multiple lawsuits 

including the Eviction Action, Victoria's Estate, Ray's Guardianship, and this case. As a 

basis for Paul's rescission claim, he alleges that Ray's consent for the sale of the Property 
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to Brethren "was procured via undue influence," presumably on the part of Kelly as pled 

elsewhere throughout the Complaint and in other actions. In addition, Paul claims that 

his Complaint included tort claims against Kelly for conversion, breach of fiduciary duty, 

and tortious interference with expected and established relationships. (Appellants' Br., at 

34.) However, Paul concedes that the Complaint fails to even allege or list out the 

elements of each tort. Paul's argues: 

The Complaint concludes by identifying a series of tort claims that fit the 
facts of these facts. Those include tort claims for which Kelly O'Farrell 
faces liability, including the torts of "conversion," "breach of fiduciary 
duty," and ''tortious interference with expected and established 
relationships." [R.28; Complaint, ,i,i 111, 112]. The elements of these torts 
are not listed, but, the Complaint contains sufficient allegations that can 
be used to justify each of them. The Complaint also expressly advises that 
further "[ d]iscovery will determine the extent and nature of the tort 
claims." Id. Further, to effectuate the pursuit of such damages, Count 3 
also alleges that the Plaintiffs are "entitled to an accounting of all funds 
and property of the Family Trust, the Trust Corporation, and the 
Estate .... " [Id, ,i 113]. 

(Appellants' Br., at 34.) So, Paul admits that the Complaint fails to allege the elements of 

the tort claims. While he claims that the Complaint contains factual allegations against 

Kelly, he cannot even identify those facts for this Court. Paul's failure to plead facts in 

support of these claims against Kelly and his mere reliance on speculation, suspicion, and 

unsupported conclusory labels is fatal to his Complaint against all parties. See Nygaard 

v. Sioux Valley Hasps. & Health Sys., 2007 S.D. 34, i] 9, 731 N.W.2d at 190. 

Paul relies on Victoria's lawsuit to argue that it supplements his Complaint in this 

case and cures all of its deficiencies. (Appellants' Br., at 34.) It simply does 

not. Victoria's Complaint did not include breach of fiduciary duty and, Victoria claimed 

the Kelly wronged her. Victoria did not claim that Kelly wronged Paul. Regardless, the 

lower court explicitly found there was no undue influence by Kelly on Ray in Victoria's 
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Lawsuit. (Appx. C, at 539:25-540:8.) Considering Victoria's Lawsuit does not cure 

Paul's failures with respect to the Complaint in this case. Paul, himself, has not 

sufficiently pled facts to survive the Motions to Dismiss and the lower court properly 

dismissed all claims against Kelly. 

It follows that, if Paul has failed to properly appeal the dismissal of this action as 

against Kelly, then all of Paul's claims must fail as a practical matter because there is no 

way for Paul to establish any of Kelly's alleged bad acts giving rise to this lawsuit or the 

sale of the Property. All of Paul' s claims in this case stem from the alleged undue 

influence caused by Kelly. Because Paul has failed to meaningfully appeal dismissal of 

the claims against Kelly, the entire foundation for this case (and the others) cannot be 

established as a matter of law. 

2. Paul cannot sufficiently plead facts to establish standing and cannot establish 
the ability to plead a rescission claim, therefore, he fails to state a claim for 
rescission. 

For a court to have subject matter jurisdiction over a case, the plaintiff must 

establish standing as an aggrieved person. Cable v. Union Cty. Ed. ofCty. Comm'rs, 2009 

S.D. 59, ,r 21, 769 N. W.2d 817, 825. "Standing to sue is part of the common 

understanding of what it takes to make a justiciable case." Steel Co. v. Citizens for a 

Better Env't, 523 U.S. 83, 102, 118 S. Ct. 1003, 1016, 140 L. Ed. 2d 210 (1998). To 

establish standing, the plaintiff must show (1) injury-in-fact, (2) causation, and (3) 

redressability. Cable, 2009 S.D. 59, ,r 21, 769 N. W.2d at 825-26. Injury in fact is "an 

invasion of a legally protected interest which is ( a) concrete and particularized and (b) 

actual or imminent, not 'conjectural' or 'hypothetical. "' Id. ( citation omitted). Second, a 

causal connection must exist between the plaintiffs injury and the conduct in the 
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plaintiff's complaint. Id. The causal connection is met "when the injury is 'fairly 

traceable to the challenged action of the defendant, and not the result of the independent 

action of some third party not before the court."' Id. ( citation omitted). Finally, 

redressability is met when the plaintiff shows "it is likely, and not merely speculative, 

that the injury will be redressed by a favorable decision." Id. 

"Standing is established through being a 'real party in interest' .... 'The real 

party in interest requirement for standing is satisfied if the litigant can show that he 

personally has suffered some actual or threatened injury as a result of the putatively 

illegal conduct of the defendant."' In re Florence Y. Wallbaum Revocable Living Tr. 

Agreement, 2012 S.D. 18, ,r 40, 813 N.W.2d 111, 121 (citation omitted). Although a 

motion to dismiss provides a generous standard of review, such deference to the 

allegations pled is not unlimited. The Eighth Circuit has held "[w ]e accept as true the 

factual allegations in the complaint, but give "no effect to conclusory allegations of law." 

In re Polaris Mktg., Sales Pracs., & Prod. Liab. Litig. , 9 F.4th 793, 796 (8th Cir. 2021) 

(quoting Stalley ex rel. United States v. Cath. Health Initiatives, 509 F.3d 517, 521 (8th 

Cir. 2007)). "The plaintiff must assert facts that affirmatively and plausibly suggest that 

the pleader has the right he claims (here, the right to jurisdiction), rather than facts that 

are merely consistent with such a right." Id. (citation omitted). Paul hasn't even alleged 

facts consistent with such rights, indeed, he has only offered speculative allegations­

even though the record flatly contradicts the same. 

Paul alleges that he was damaged by the sale of the Property as a beneficiary of 

the Trust because he was set to inherit the Property pursuant to the terms of the Trust. 
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(CR at 8, ,r,r 3-4). However, the Trust was revocable, and Paul has no enforceable 

interest until the Trust becomes irrevocable upon Ray's death. 

Paul is not a real party in interest. Nor is Paul a trustee of the Trust. Paul is not a 

beneficiary under the Trust and has no enforceable interest under the same until it 

becomes irrevocable. Paul cannot plead otherwise and survive a motion to dismiss. 

Paul had no interest in the Property as VOR was the sole owner of the Property 

and the Trust holds no shares of VOR. Paul has not and cannot plead an interest in the 

Property through his former role in VOR. Therefore, Paul suffered no "actual or 

threatened injury" by the land sale transaction based on his status as a remainder 

beneficiary and has no standing to challenge the land sale transaction. See In re Florence 

Y. Wallbaum Revocable Living Tr. Agreement, 2012 S.D. 18, ,r 41, 813 N.W.2d at 121 

(finding the remainder beneficiaries had no standing to challenge the trustee's actions 

because they had no interest in the income distributed to the beneficiary of a revocable 

trust, even though the distributions did not adhere to the terms of the trust). Because he 

does not own the property and has no interest in the same, he is not damaged by its sale 

and does not have standing to seek rescission of the same. 

Even if this Court found Paul to have standing, by statute, he cannot seek a 

rescission claim because he was not a party to the contract. "A contract may be 

extinguished ... by rescission, alteration, and cancellation, as provided by statute." 

SDCL § 53-11-1. An action for rescission may be brought as a legal action under SDCL 

chapter 53-11, or as an equitable action pursuant to SDCL chapter 21-12. Jones v. Bohn, 

311 N.W.2d 211,213 (S.D. 1981). "If the action is in equity, the rescission is 

accomplished by court decree. When an action is brought pursuant to SDCL Ch. 53-11, 
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however, the rescission has already been accomplished by the unilateral act of one of the 

parties to the contract. The rescinding party brings the legal action for rescission to 

enforce his rights arising from the rescission." Id. (emphasis added). Rescission is a 

remedy that may be available to a party to a contract only after the party establishes 

grounds for rescission as provided in SDCL Ch. 53-11 or SDCL Ch. 21-12. 

Pursuant to SDCL § 21-12-1, 

The rescission of a written contract may be adjudged on the application of 
a party aggrieved: 

(1) In any of the cases mentioned in§ 53-11-2; 
(2) Where the contract is unlawful, for causes not apparent upon its 
face, and the parties were not equally in fault; 
(3) When the public interest will be prejudiced by permitting it to 
stand. 

(Emphasis added.) Under SDCL § 53-11-2, 

A party to a contract may rescind the same in the following cases only: 
(1) If consent of the party rescinding or of any party jointly 
contracting with him was given by mistake or obtained through 
duress, fraud, or undue influence exercised by or with the 
connivance of the party as to whom he rescinds, or of any other 
party to the contract jointly interested with such party; 
(2) If through fault of the party as to whom he rescinds, the 
consideration for his obligation fails in whole or in part; 
(3) If the consideration becomes entirely void from any cause; 
( 4) If such consideration before it is rendered to him fails m a 
material respect from any cause; or 
(5) By consent of all the other parties. 

(Emphasis added.) Thus, to rescind, Paul needs to plead that he is a "party aggrieved," a 

party to the contract, and that he either is "the party rescinding" or a "party jointly 

contracting with him .... " SDCL §§ 21-12-1, 53-11-2-(1). Other statutes in SDCL Ch. 

53-11 support the proposition that only parties to the contract have standing to rescind the 

same. See, e.g., SDCL §§ 53-11-3 ("Rescission, when not effected by consent can be 

accomplished only by the use, on the part of the party rescinding, of reasonable diligence 
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to comply with §§ 53-11-4 and 53-11- 5." (Emphasis added.)); 53-11-4 ("The party 

rescinding a contract must rescind promptly, upon discovering the facts which entitle him 

to rescind, if he is free from duress, undue influence, or disability, and is aware of his 

right to rescind." (Emphasis added.)); 53-11-5 ("The party rescinding a contract must 

restore to the other party everything of value which he has received from him under the 

contract, or must offer to restore the same, upon condition that such party shall do 

likewise, unless the latter is unable or positively refuses to do so." (Emphasis added.)). 

Paul cannot truthfully plead the basic requirements of SDCL §§ 21-12-1 or 53-11-2. 

The only parties to the Purchase Agreement were Brethren and VOR, through its 

president, Ray. Ray and Brethren have not elected to rescind under SDCL § 53-11-2(1). 

Ray is not even a party in this lawsuit. Paul is not Ray 's guardian or conservator. Paul 

provides no authority for his apparent belief that he can pursue several lawsuits, 

simultaneously, on Ray's behalf when he has not been appointed as Ray's guardian and 

conservator. 

Paul did not own the Property, and was not the seller under the Purchase 

Agreement, in his individual capacity or in any representative capacity as part of VOR or 

the Trust. Paul was not a party, in any capacity, to the Purchase Agreement. Therefore, 

as a matter of basic statutory application, Paul cannot rely on or utilize SDCL § 53-11-2 

to rescind, regardless of how he pleads his rescission claim, because he is not a party to 

the Purchase Agreement. 6 

6 Even beyond the explicit limitation placed on SDCL § 53-11-2, as a general rule, 
"[ o ]nly parties to a contract have rights in the contract. As such, the parties to the 
contract are the only ones who can seek enforcement of the contract." Mahan v. A vera 
St. Luke's, 2001 S.D. 9, ~ 11, 621 N.W.2d 150, 154. 
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3. Paul provided a defective notice of rescission, has not restored any value to 
Brethren, and has, therefore, failed to state a claim for rescission. 

Pursuant to SDCL § 53-11-5, "[t]he party7 rescinding a contract must restore to 

the other party everything of value which he has received from him under the contract, or 

must offer to restore the same, upon condition that such party shall do likewise, unless 

the latter is unable or positively refuses to do so."8 See also Halvorson v. Birkland, 84 

S.D. 328, 333, 171 N. W.2d 77, 80 (1969) ("As a condition to rescission 'the party 

rescinding a contract must restore to the other party everything of value which he has 

received from him under the contract'." (citation omitted)). Further, under SDCL § 53-

11-3, "[r ]escission, when not effected by consent can be accomplished only by the use, 

on the part of the party rescinding, of reasonable diligence to comply with §§ 53-11-4 

and 53-11- 5." (emphasis added). Thus, more is required by a party seeking rescission 

than simply stating SDCL § 53-11-5 in a Notice of Rescission. Paul must have engaged 

in "reasonable diligence" to restore value to Brethren. No showing was pled in Paul' s 

Complaint. 

7 Again, as argued above, Paul's attempt to rescind the land sale transaction through the 
Notice of Rescission was insufficient under SDCL Ch. 53-11 because he was not a party 
to the Purchase Agreement, and therefore, has no authority or rights to rescind the 
contract. 
8 Paul attempted a legal rescission by issuing a Notice of Rescission citing SDCL § 53-
11-5 to purportedly rescind the Purchase Agreement. Now, for the first time on appeal, he 
also asserts that he is entitled to an equitable rescission and such Notice of Rescission 
was unnecessary. (Appellant's Br., at 30, 32). This Court has held " [r]escission is 
equitable if the complaint asks the court to order rescission of a contract. It is legal, if the 
court is asked to enforce a completed rescission." Nw. Realty Co. v. Carter, 338 N. W.2d 
669, 672 (S.D. 1983) (citation omitted). Paul requested the lower court to enforce his 
attempted rescission. Paul cannot for the first time on appeal now claim that he is also 
entitled to an equitable rescission when his actions and Complaint clearly show that he 
sought legal rescission consistent with SDCL Ch. 53-11. 
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First, Paul has not tendered or offered $3.2 million to Brethren-even if he is a 

proper party to rescind the contract. Paul has not "restored" the value received by 

Brethren under the terms of the Purchase Agreement. 

Second, Paul has no authority or means to restore the $3.2 million to Brethren on 

behalf ofVOR. At the time the Purchase Agreement was signed, Paul did not own any 

shares of VOR and was not its President.9 Paul is not a director, owner, or shareholder of 

VOR. Paul has no rights or authority over the $3.2 million and did not receive anything 

of value in the transaction. Paul has not tendered any evidence or allegation that he has 

the means to restore value to Brethren. Without any authority or alleged means to restore 

value, Paul has not and cannot exercise the requisite reasonable diligence in 

accomplishing rescission of the Purchase Agreement. 

9 Paul argues that the court erred in considering the Secretary of State filings to find that 
Paul was not the President ofVOR because it was beyond the record. (Appellants' Br., at 
39 n.13.) However, "[i]n addition to the pleadings and exhibits attached to the pleadings, 
a court may take judicial notice of matters of public record." Jenner v. Dooley, 1999 S.D. 
20, ,r 15,590 N.W.2d 463,470 (emphasis added); see alsoJensen v. Thompson, No. 17-
CV-4014-LLP, 2018 WL 1440329, at *4 (D.S.D. Mar. 22, 2018) ("In addressing a 
motion to dismiss, '[t]he court may consider the pleadings themselves, materials 
embraced by the pleadings, exhibits attached to the pleadings, and matters of public 
record' without converting the motion into a motion for summary judgment." ( citation 
omitted)); Tellabs, Inc. , 551 U.S. at 322 ("[C]ourts must consider the complaint in its 
entirety, as well as other sources courts ordinarily examine when ruling on Rule 
12(b)(6) motions to dismiss, in particular, documents incorporated into the complaint by 
reference, and matters of which a court may take judicial notice."); Nooney, 2015 S.D. 
102, ,r 8, 873 N.W.2d at 499 (considering documents incorporated by reference in the 
complaint); 5B Fed. Prac. & Proc. Civ. § 1357 (3d ed.) (courts may consider matters 
incorporated by reference or integral to the claim, items subject to judicial notice, matters 
of public record, orders, items appearing in the record of the case, and exhibits attached 
to the complaint whose authenticity is unquestioned; these items may be considered by 
the district judge without converting the motion into one for summary judgment.). 
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4. Paul failed to name all parties in the rescission action and the notice of 
rescission and, therefore, has failed to state a claim for rescission. 

Paul alleges the Trust gave him an interest in the Property sufficient to seek 

rescission of the Purchase Agreement. The Trust conditionally designated the majority of 

the Properly to be inherited by their son, Paul, which included nine contiguous parcels 

comprising 703.33 acres. (Id. at 13, ,r 29; 24, at ,r 92.) The Trust also conditionally 

designated two other quarters of ground to be inherited by Ray and Victoria's other 

children, Lance, Marcie, Kelly, and Rita. (Id. at 12, ,r 27; 13, at ,r 29.) 

Four conditions must have occurred in order for Paul and his siblings to inherit 

the Property under the terms of the Trust. They were: (1) one of the parents had to die, 

(2) the other parent had to die, (3) the terms of the Trust must have remained unchanged 

upon the death of both parents, and ( 4) the shares of VOR, which owned the Property, 

must have remained in the Trust. (CR at 230-325.) 

If Paul is held to have an interest in the Property sufficient to bring a rescission 

action, then his siblings, Lance, Marcie, and Rita also have an interest in the Property . 

Lance, Marcie, and Rita are not parties to this action, or any of the related actions. If the 

Court deems Paul to have an interest in the Property, the siblings would also have a 

similar interest in the Property pursuant to the terms of the Trust and would have needed 

to be included in the Notice of Rescission and as parties to this action. 

At the very least, however, First International Bank has a legitimate and 

enforceable interest in the Property given its issuance of a note and mortgage. As such, 

even if Paul is rendered to have authority to issue a Notice of Rescission, which he 

doesn't, he did not include First International Bank and it is, therefore, deficient. 
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5. Paul failed to plead a substantive cause of action against Brethren. 

In Count Two, Paul requested the trial court rescind the land transaction, arguing 

that "Raymond's consent for the transaction was procured via undue influence, or 

without his full understanding, and without following necessary corporate formalities." 

(CR at 26, ,i 102; 27, ,i 106). For the first time on appeal, however, Paul is suggesting 

that Brethren were "complicit" in improperly obtaining Ray's assent to the Purchase 

Agreement, (Appellants' Br., at 31), on the sole basis that the Purchase Agreement 

contained the following provision: 

A lawsuit is pending against Raymond O'Farrell in his individual capacity 
and as Trustee of the Raymond and Victoria O'Farrell Living Trust 
(25ClV22-000038). Raymond O'Farrell is the current President of VOR, 
Inc., and also a Director of the Board and shareholder of VO R. 

(CR at 331.) Because of this provision alluding to Victoria's Lawsuit, Paul alleges that 

the undue influence by Kelly on Ray happened with Brethren's connivance. (Appellants' 

Br., at 31.) Not only is this brand new argument in stark contrast to Paul's apology to 

Brethren in his Complaint for being sued, (CR at 28, ,i 114), it must also fail for several 

reasons. 

First, and most importantly, Paul did not plead that Brethren connived with or 

against Ray, or even that Brethren was "complicit" in improperly obtaining Ray's assent 

to purchase the Property. (See CR at 24-27, ,i,i 92-109.) Paul's argument, on appeal, is 

appearing for the very first time and is a clear attempt at saving this lawsuit. It is well­

settled that arguments made for the first time on appeal are not appropriate. See Hauck v. 

Clay Cnty. Comm'n, 2023 S.D. 43,994 N.W.2d 707, 709 n.4; State v. Hi Ta Lar, 2018 

S.D. 18, ,i 17 n.5, 908 N.W.2d 181, 187 n.5; Supreme Pork, Inc. v. Master Blaster, Inc., 

2009 S.D. 20, 764 N.W.2d 474, 480 n.5. Certainly, Paul cannot manipulate the facts and 
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his Complaint at this stage to cure basic deficiencies and avoid dismissal. See McDowell 

v. Citicorp Inc., 2008 S.D. 50, ~ 14, 752 N.W.2d 209,213 ("If a complaint is dismissed, 

'the right to amend under Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a) [SDCL 15-6-15(a)] terminates. If the 

'dismissal of the complaint also constitutes dismissal of the action[,]' then the motion to 

amend is improper.") ( citation omitted). 

Second, even if this Court analyzed this new "connivance" argument, Paul 

must, at the very least, allege that that the Brethren connived with the alleged wrongdoers 

to exert undue influence over Ray to obtain his consent. See SDCL 53-11-2(1) "consent 

of the rescinding party ... was ... obtained through ... undue influence exercised . .. 

with the connivance of the party as to whom he rescinds" (emphasis added)). It is not 

enough that the Brethren were put on notice of a lawsuit by reference in the Purchase 

Agreement. Brethren must have had knowledge of the purported undue influence 

exercised over Ray and proceeded with the contract anyways. See Chan v. Lund, 188 Cal. 

App. 4th 1159, 1174, 116 Cal. Rptr. 3d 122, 134 (2010), as modified on denial ofreh'g 

(Oct. 28, 2010) ( explaining a party to a contract "may obtain rescission against another 

contracting party, who, although not responsible for the duress, knows that [the duress] 

has taken place and takes advantage of it by enforcing the contract"). Cf Williams v. Van 

Sickel, 659 N.W.2d 572, 579 (Iowa 2003) (defining "connivance" in the context of 

whether attorneys' fees are appropriate under common law as ''voluntary blindness [or] 

an intentional failure to discover or prevent the wrong. These terms envision conduct that 

is intentional and likely to be aggravated by cruel and tyrannical motives. Such conduct 

lies far beyond a showing of mere 'lack of care' or 'disregard for the rights of 

another. " ') This is particularly true where, as in the Eviction Action and Victoria's 
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Lawsuit, the lower court has actually found Paul's allegations of undue influence are 

without merit. (See Appx. B at255:7; Appx. Cat 539:25-540:8.) Nothing in the 

Purchase Agreement would have put Brethren on notice that Ray's consent for this 

contract was allegedly obtained through undue influence. Nor has Paul alleged any facts 

that show the circumstances surrounding the Purchase Agreement negotiations or sale 

would have given Brethren knowledge of any purported undue influence. Mere 

knowledge of a separate lawsuit, particularly when there was adequate consideration for 

the sale of the Property, is not enough to charge Brethren with connivance with 

wrongdoing. See Chan, 188 Cal. App. 4th at 1174, 116 Cal. Rptr. at 134 (finding 

inadequate consideration to be evidence that a contracting party acted with connivance). 

Third, Paul's new argument on appeal assumes that Paul can seek relief under 

SDCL § 53-11-2. As described above, Paul was not a party to the Purchase Agreement 

and, therefore, is not afforded the protections of this statute. See, e.g. , Jensen v. 

Thompson, No. l 7-CV-4014-LLP, 2018 WL 1440329, at *20 (D.S.D. Mar. 22, 2018) 

( district court, on a motion to dismiss, holding that the plaintiff, failed to allege 

connivance against the contracting party and was not entitled to rescission, explaining 

that " [ o ]nly parties to a contract have rights in contract."). Even if this Court finds Paul, 

as a non-party to the Purchase Agreement, can utilize SDCL § 53-11-2, the remedy of 

rescission is "extraordinary" and "should never be granted, except where the evidence is 

clear and convincing." Knudsen v. Jensen, 521 N.W.2d 415, 418 (S.D. 1994). The entire 

basis for Paul's Complaint, as currently pled, is that Kelly unduly influenced 

Ray. However, there are not sufficient facts pled, or in the record, to establish this high 

bar in this action or any other lawsuit brought by Paul. Undue influence exists: 

23 

4873-0791-6191 , V. 1 



( 1) In the use, by one in whom a confidence is reposed by another, or who 
holds a real or apparent authority over him, of such confidence or 
authority for the purpose of obtaining an unfair advantage over him; or 
(2) In taking an unfair advantage of another's weakness of mind; or 
(3) In taking a grossly oppressive and unfair advantage of another's 
necessities or distress. 

SDCL § 53-4-7. Paul's Complaint in this case failed to plead sufficient grounds for the 

lower court to determine whether undue influence was an appropriate ground for 

rescission under SDCL Ch. 21-12 or 53-11. In the Eviction Action, the lower court 

specifically found that Paul's testimony was "non-credible." (Appx. B, at 255:7.) In 

Victoria's Lawsuit, the lower court explicitly rejected such claims, noting: 

Now, I have heard a lot of evidence that Mr. O'Farrell, Senior, and that's 
who I am going to call him, the father here ,didn't have--didn't know what 
he was doing on this, didn't have capacity to do that. But that is just bold 
testimony and statements unsupported in the record. 
There's nothing in front of the court that I've heard today that would 
suggest that Mr. O'Farrell is incompetent, doesn't know who his heirs are, 
and was subjected to undue influence. 

(Appx. C, at 539:25-540:8.) All of these findings are part of the current record via 

judicial notice. (CR at 443, ~ 25; 427.) Paul's bare and speculative assertions, across 

multiple lawsuits, are insufficient to justify rescission, particularly where Paul has no 

standing to seek such a remedy on behalf of either contracting party. 

6. Paul never moved to amend to add a cause of action or alleged 
connivance against Brethren. 

When faced with multiple motions to dismiss, Paul could have filed a Motion for 

Leave to Amend Complaint to cure the deficiencies and survive dismissal. SDCL § 15-6-

15(a). However, Paul did not do so. Paul did not move to amend his Complaint to add 

additional parties needed to effectuate rescission, did not add a cause of action against 

Brethren or allege that they were "complicit" in obtaining Ray's assent to the Purchase 
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Agreement by improper means. In fact, Paul never even presented the lower court with a 

proposed Amended Complaint for it to consider in conjunction with the pending Motions 

to Dismiss to determine if such deficiencies could be cured. The first time Paul ever 

suggested to the lower court that he be allowed to amend was at the hearing on the 

Motions to Dismiss. (See HT at 13 :9-23.) Because Paul did not properly file a motion or 

seek specific relief from the lower court, no such leave was given. Such practice is 

consistent with South Dakota law: 

In this case, Sisney only generally raised the issue of amendment in a brief 
resisting dismissal. He did not file a motion to amend, nor did he explain 
what specific factual allegation he would have added to overcome the 
defects requiring dismissal. For these reasons, the circuit court did not 
abuse its discretion in declining to make, schedule, and grant ( essentially 
sua sponte) a motion allowing amendment of the complaint. 

Sisney, 2008 S.D. 70, ,r 23, 754 N. W.2d at 813. It follows that if Paul cannot obtain a sua 

sponte amendment at the lower court, he certainly cannot achieve the same on appeal. 

See also McDowell, 2008 S.D. 50, ,r 14, 752 N.W.2d at 213. 

7. No Def end ant needed to file a Motion to Dismiss under SDCL § 15-6-
12(b )( 6). 

Paul attempts to distract this Court by arguing that Defendants were required to 

file a Motion to Dismiss under SDCL § 15-6-12(b)(6) in order for the lower court to 

dismiss this action. However, as explained above, Paul has failed to properly plead the 

basic and fundamental requirements of a rescission action, including naming the proper 

parties in this lawsuit. Such requirements are substantive and specific to a claim of 

rescission. Paul wants this to be a Rule 12(b)(6) issue and it simply isn't. 

Notably, Paul has provided this Court with an admission that he needed to include 

all of his siblings as named parties in this lawsuit by serving them with his appeal brief. 
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Paul has only now served the interested parties on appeal. Paul did not serve these 

individuals below. To the extent Paul is attempting to cure all of his procedural and 

substantive failures for the first time on appeal, such acts are impermissible and do not 

satisfy the requirements of rescission. Paul is not entitled to the extraordinary remedy of 

rescission of the Purchase Agreement as he does not have standing to assert these claims, 

and even ifhe does, he failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. 

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated above, Brethren respectfully request this Court affirm Judge 

Spears's decision below. 

Dated this 23rd day of January, 2024. 
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issues. 

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT 

Brethren respectfully requests the opportunity to present oral argument on these 

Dated this 23rd day of January, 2024. 

WOODS, FULLER, SHULTZ & SMITH P.C. 

By Isl William G. Beck 
William G. Beck 
Seth A. Lopour 
Courtney S. Chapman 
300 South Phillips Avenue, Suite 300 
Sioux Falls, SD 57117-5027 
Phone (605) 336-3890 
William.Beck@woodsfuller.com 
Seth. Lopour@woodsfuller.com 
Courtney. Chapman@woodsfuller.com 

Reed Rasmussen 
Kiera Leddy 
Siegel, Barnett & Schutz, LLP 
PO Box 490 
Aberdeen, SD 57402 
rrasmussen@sbslaw.net 
kleddy@s bslaw. net 

Attorneys for Grand Valley Hutterian 
Brethren, Inc. 
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CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 

In accordance with SDCL § 15-26A-66(b)(4), the undersigned certifies that this 

brief complies with the requirements set forth in the South Dakota Codified Laws. This 

brief was prepared using Microsoft Word 365, Times New Roman (12 point) and 

contains 8,496 words, excluding the table of contents, table of authorities, and certificates 

of counsel. The undersigned has relied on the word and character count of the word­

processing program to prepare this certificate. 

Dated this 23rd day of January, 2024. 
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STATEOFSOUTHDAKOTA ) 
: : §§§ 

COUNTY OF GRANT ) 

IN THE MATTER OF THE GUARDIANSHIP 
AND CONSERVATORSHIP OF 

RAYMOND O' FARRELL, 

A PERSON ALLEGED TO NEED 
PROTECTION. 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

25GDN23----
25GDN23-000001 

PETITION FOR APPOINTMENT OF 

GUARDIAN AND CONSERVATOR 

INTRODUCTION 

1. This Petition seeks to establish a guardianship and conservatorship over Raymond 

O'Farrell. The Petition is brought by his son, Paul O'Farrell. 

2. Raymond is 84 years old and currently resides at his home near Marvin, South Dakota. 

3. Raymond's wife died in July of 2022. As a widower, Raymond has 5 children that qualify 

as interested parties to this proceeding: Kelly O'Farrell, Lance O'Farrell, Marcie 

Reyelts, Paul O'Farrell and Rita O'Farrell. 

4. Prior to her death, Raymond's wife Victoria noted that Raymond was exhibiting 

symptoms and behaviors of a person in need of protection. Paul O 'Farrell and other 

relatives agree. Raymond's physical and mental condition makes him susceptible to the 

influence of others, specifically, Kelly O'Farrell. 

5. And, in fact, prior to her ckath, Raymond ,s wife Victoria was so concerned about 

Raymond's deficits, and about Kelly O 'Farrell,s problematic influence over 

Raymond, that she sought to remove Kelly from their home. Victoria's affidavit is 
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attached to this Petition as Exhibit 1. 

6. In conjunction with her concerns about Raymond, Victoria initiated a lawsuit in order to 

unwind numerous financial transactions for which Kelly had manipulated Raymond. 

That lawsuit is sealed and is on file with the Clerk. See,, 25CIV22-000038 (Grant 

County, S.D.) 

7. Paul has initiated a similar lawsuit to unwind those, and other transactions. This new 

lawsuit is on file with the Clerk. See) 25CIV23-000015 (Grant County, S.D.). 

8. Raymond relies on the assistance of others for transportation and other basic living 

activities. Raymond requires the use of a walker to move around and has suffered at least 

three strokes. In addition, he has a long history of alcohol abuse and is in poor health. 

9. Raymond's family members have observed that Kelly continues to exert the same 

isolation of Raymond and influence over Raymond that Victoria observed in the summer 

of 2022. 

10. This influence and isolation increased after the passing of Raymond's wife Victoria. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS LEADING TO THE FILING OF THIS PETITION 

11. In early 2022, Kelly O'Farrell secretly began an orchestrated effort to alienate and isolate 

Raymond from his family, with the intent of thwarting various features of Raymond and 

his wife's Estate plan, and disrupting their farming operations. 

12. Kelly's efforts resulted in such actions as: Raymond signing documents which 
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"withdrew,, shares of the family farm corporation from the Family Trust; "separated" 

Raymond's and Victoria's assets; interfered in Paul's lending and family farming 

activities; "removed" Paul and Victoria as officers and directors of the family farm 

corporation; attempted to fire the attorneys that Victoria hired to stop all of this; and, 

ultimately, entered into a secret agreement to purportedly sell nine parcels of family farm 

ground to the Grand Valley Hutterian Brethren. 

13. Some of these actions were accomplished via the misuse of Power of Attorney 

documents. 

14. In addition, Kelly began taking or diverting funds from his parents and converted them 

to his own use, including checks for $1,200 alleged to be for labor/services. 

15. Kelly has isolated Raymond from his family members. Kelly has given Raymond false 

information about his family members, in order to alienate Raymond from Paul and other 

family members, and as part of a plan and scheme to enrich himself and harm his other 

family members. 

16. The problems appear to have started when Kelly moved in with his parents in 2021, 

where he and his wife began living rent-free. 

17. Despite the free rent, by 2022, Kelly was demanding that his siblings pay him $1,200 per 

month to care for Raymond and Victoria. Kelly threatened that he would leave the 

house and take Raymond with him if the siblings didn't pay Kelly the money he was 

demanding. 
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18. Raymond's wife Victoria temporarily moved out of the home after she fell and broke her 

leg in April 2022. This required surgery and recuperation outside of the home, first a 

hospital and then a nursing home in Garretson, South Dakota. 

19. Raymond had long relied upon his wife Victoria. 

20. In the vacuum created by her absence, Victoria realized that Kelly was isolating 

Raymond. In the summer of 2022, she submitted an affidavit outlining her observations 

and concerns, which is attached as Exhibit 1. 

21. Kelly convinced Raymond to terminate Victoria as his power of attorney and to appoint 

Kelly as his power of attorney, instead. 

22. Kelly then took further steps to disempower Victoria. He directed his sister Rita to 

solicit a letter from an Avera physician in June 2022 which purported to advise that their 

mother Victoria was unable to make financial decisions. The physician letter was issued, 

and then Kelly acted upon it. However, less than two weeks later, the same Avera 

doctor learned that the letter had been procured under false pretenses and disavowed its 

contents. Instead, the doctor advised that she knew of no issues with Victoria,s 

cognition nor with her ability to make financial decisions. 

23. At all times, Victoria was fully capable of making decisions, and, she was keenly aware 

that Kelly had been engaging in a pattern of wrongdoing. 

24. Victoria voiced concerns about Kelly in her affidavit: " [I]t became clear that Kelly was 

trying to influence how Raymond thought about vOr, Inc's [i.e.) the family fanning 
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corporation's] relationship with Paul and about what the corporation should do in regard 

to [Paul's farming] loans coming due [for which family trust land had long-served as 

collateral]. Since coming to live with us, Kelly seems to have attempted to influence 

Raymond more and more, and I believe that was part of an effort to undo or disrupt 

estate planning decisions that my husband and I had already made about what would be 

done with the family land." 

25. Victoria also reaffirmed the validity of her and Raymond's estate plans: "Raymond and I 

put a lot of thought into our estate plan, and the specific distributions that are called for 

in the Trust Instrument are the result of a lot of reflection and discussion between us 

about what we believe and how we want our estate distributed." 

26. As of June of 2022, Victoria noted that Raymond had "never expressed to me any 

inclination to change the estate plan or to make any alteration to the trust. The recent 

actions that he has taken relating to the Trust and the changes to [the family fam1 

corporation's] directors and officers were not his idea, and I do not believe he even 

understands what he purports to have done." This was based on Victoria's 

conversations with Raymond at that time. 

27. Victoria remained grateful to Kelly's wife, Donna, for her help and care, as well as to 

Kelly's and Donna's children. But, Victoria concluded, "based on the series of actions 

that have been taken, I no Jonger want KeUy to Jive in my home. It saddens me to 

come to that conclusion, but I feel I have no other choice, based on what has gone on in 
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the last month." 

28. Victoria planned to return home after recuperating in the nursing home, and, stated that 

as part of her plan to return home, "I want the Court to compe1 [Kel]y] to leave," 

29. Victoria died unexpectedly on July 11, 2022, before she could return home. 

30. Since that time, Raymond has continued to live with Kelly O'Farrell and his wife Donna. 

And, since that time, Kelly has continued to exert influence and control, and, Raymond 

has continued to sign documents which ostensibly seek to carry out substantial changes 

to the original family estate plan, and which put Raymond's finances at risk. 

31. These attempted actions ( carried out in Raymond's name) were contrary to years and 

years of prior understanding, and they were carried out without proper authority, 

consent, or comprehension. 

32. In the months since, Kelly has continued to isolate Raymond and exert influence, which 

has resulted in other wrongful actions and transactions that are not in Raymond's best 

interests. 

33. Each of the various actions and transactions was legally ineffective because of a failure of 

notice, consent, capacity, authority, undue influence, and/ or est opp el. 

34. The Petitioner)s parallel civil lawsuit seeks to remedy and unwind those various actions 

and transactions. 

35. This conservatorship and guardianship proceeding seeks to prevent such misdeeds from 

occurring again. 

6 
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36. Raymond's ability to respond to people, events, and environments is impaired to such an 

extent that he lacks the capacity to manage property or financial affairs without the 

assistance or protection of a conservator. 

37. Raymond's impairments also prevent him from meeting the essential requirements for 

his health care, safety, habilitation, or therapeutic needs without the assistance or 

protection of a guardian. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS REQUIRED BY STATUTE 

Pursuant to SDCL 29A-S-305(1) through (12), Paul O'Farrell provides the following 

information: 

1. The contact information for the proposed guardian is as follows: 

Paul O'Farrell 
14551 466th Ave. 
Marvin, SD 57251 

Date of Birth: 06/30/1938 

2. Raymond's nearest relatives, including those entitled to notice of these proceedings, 
and who "would be entitled to succeed the person's estate by intestate succession'': 

Name Address Relationship 

Kelly O 'Farrell 46658 143rd St., Marvin, SD 57251 Son 

Lance O'Farrell 14845 465th Ave., South Shore, SD 57263 Son 

Marcie Reyelts 24700 w. 265th St., Daughter 
Paola, KS 66071, or 

7 
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Paul O'Farrell 

Rita O'Farrell 

12601 Robinson St., #11-207, 
Overland Park, KS 66213 

14551 466th Ave., Marvin, SD 57251 

4657 Melbourne Ave., #13 
Los Angeles, CA 90027, or 
36101 Bob Hope Dr., #E5, 
Rancho Mirage, CA 92270 

Son 

Daughter 

3. Raymond is currently living at his home with the assistance of Kelly or Donna 

O'Farrell, 46658 143rd St., Marvin, SD 57251. 

4. Kelly O'Farrell claims to be the cutTent attorney-in-fact for Raymond under durable 

power of attorney dated March 1, 2022. The validity of that instrument is disputed. 

5. It is not known whether Raymond's incapacity will prevent his attendance at a 

hearing in this matter, although he may not understand or fully understand the 

proceedings. 

6. Raymond O'Farrell is not an absentee. 

7. The petitioner seeks a full guardianship and conservatorship, for the reasons and 

facts outlined above. 

a. A conservatorship is warranted because Raymond's ability to respond to 

people, events, and environments is impaired to such an extent that he lacks 

the capacity to manage property or financial affairs without the assistance or 

protection of a conservator. 

8 
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b. A guardianship is warranted because those same impainnents result in a lack 

of capacity to meet the essential requirements for his health care, safety, 

habilitation, or therapeutic needs without the assistance or protection of a 

guardian. 

c. The Petitioner's interest in this appointment is as an interested relative. 

8. The contact infonnation of the proposed guardian and conservators is: 

Proposed conservators: 

Paul O'Farrell & Lance O'Farrell 
14551 466th Ave. 14845 465th Ave. 
Marvin, SD 57251 South Shore, SD 57263 

Proposed guardians: 

Paul O 'Farrell & Lance O'Farrell 
14551466th Ave. 14845 465th Ave. 
Marvin, SD 57251 South Shore, SD 57263 

9. n/a. (The identity of any validly nominated conservator or guardian is unknown at 

this time.) 

10. No guardian has previously been appointed in this state or elsewhere. 

11. n/a. (A full conservatorship is sought.) 

12. n/a. (A full guardianship is sought.) 

RELIEF REQUESTED 

A. The Petitioner seeks leave to file the petition without an evaluation report, and, thus 
requests that the Court order the appropriate assessments or examinations, and order 

9 
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that a report be prepared and filed with the Court. 

B. The Petitioner requests the court set a time and place for a hearing on this Petition 
and enter an order appointing a guardian and conservator. 

C. The Petitioner requests that his legal fees and costs be paid in accordance with the 
statute or as the court determines appropriate. 

D. The Petitioner also requests any additional relief that the Court deems appropriate. 

Dated this 8th day of March, 2023. 

10 

HOVLAND, RASMUS, 
BRENDTRO, & TRZYNKA, PROF. LLC 

Isl Daniel K B rendtro 
Daniel K. Brendtro 
326 E. sth Street, Suite 107 
P.O. Box 2583 
Sioux Falls, SD 57101-2583 
(605) 951-9011 
dbrendtro@hovlandrasmus.com 
Attorneys for Petitioner.i Paul O 'Farrell 
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

COUNTY OF GRANT 

VOR, Inc. and Grand Valley 
Hutterian Brethren, Inc. 

Plaintiffs, 

V. 

Paul O'Farrell and Skyline 
Cattle Company, a South 
Dakota Corporation, 

Defendants. 

DATE & TIME 

BEFORE: 

LOCATION: 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

April 27, 2023 
10 : 00 a.m. 

25 CIV 23-18 

Court Trial 

THE HONORABLE ROBERT L. SPEARS 
CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE 
Watertown, South Dakota 

Grant County Courthouse 
Milbank, South Dakota 
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For Plaintiff -
VOR, Inc. 

For Plaintiff -
Hutterian Brethren, Inc . 

For Defendants: 

APPEARANCES: 

Lee Schoenbeck 
Attorney at Law 
1200 Mickelson Dr. Ste 310 
Watertown, SD 57201 

Kiera Leddy 
Attorney at Law 
PO Box 490 
Aberdeen , SD 57402 

Daniel Brendtro 
Attorney at Law 
PO Box 2583 
Sioux Falls, SD 57101 
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his age and pretty much drinks all day, and I'll even ask Tom 

you know, you go over there and have a few beers with Raymond and 

you're best friends with him. That's all it took. 

And then Kelly is the one that manipulated~- yeah, none of 

this would have happened. Kelly's making the decisions, not 

Raymond. And Raymond, he doesn't know what he's doing. He can't 

read. He can't write. 

Q. How long has it been the case that your father has 

difficulty reading and writing? 

A. What's that? 

Q. How long has that been that your father can't read or 

write? 

A. Oh, it's been a while. I don't know how many years, but 

yeah. Actually, Raymond never run VOR. I did and my mom did. 

Q. Has your father been isolated by Kelly? 

A. Yes. My son used to go over there every Sunday and now, 

yeah, they run him off. They won't let anybody near Raymond. 

They won't let me near Raymond . My own father. If I could 

actually talk to him, I could have maybe reasoned with him a 

little bit, but he doesn't know what he's doing. 

Q. Did changes to your parents' estate plan begin happening 

after your mother moved into the nursing home? 

MR, SCHOENBECK: Your Honor, I'm going to object. That 

is beyond the scope of an eviction proceeding. 

THE COURT: I'm going to sustain the objec t ion . We're 
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getting far-field here. I'm trying to be good-natured and allow 

both sides some leeway. 

I will also comment, that based on my memory, late last 

fall, Mr. O'Farrell senior testified live in front of me and it ' s 

this Court's opinion that some of the testimony now is contrary 

to what this Court observed. The objection is sustained. Ask 

your next question. 

MR. BRENDTRO: You Honor, I'd move to strike that as 

evidence in this proceeding. 

THE COURT: Move to strike what? 

MR. BRENDTRO: Your observations from a prior proceeding. 

THE COURT: That is overruled . 

MR. BRENDTRO: Thank you. 

THE COURT: You take that up on appeal. 

Q. Paul, did you have contact with representatives from the 

Hutterite Colony regarding their attempt to purchase VOR's land? 

A. After they purchased it. 

Q. Did you 

A. Tom. 

and who did you talk to from the colony? 

Q. What did Tom tell you about what he thought about 

Raymond's capacity? 

A. He thought Raymond was incompetent and then he said it on 

his own that he thought Kelly was incompetent. I think they -­

it was both incompetent. I don't think either one of them know 

what they're doing. 
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1 STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

2 COUNTY OF GRANT 

I N CIRCUIT COURT 

THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

3 

4 Victoria O'Farrell, in her 
individual capacity and as 

5 Trustee of the Raymond and 
Victoria O'Farrell Living Trust 

6 dated January 14, 2011, restated) 
March 29, 2017, and amended ) 

7 August 26, 2021, ) 
) 

8 Plaintiff, ) 
) 

9 vs. ) 
) 

10 Raymond O'Farrell, in his ) 
individual capacity and as ) 

11 trustee of the Raymond and ) 
Victoria O'Farrell Living Trust) 

12 dated January 14, 2011, resta t ed) 
March 29, 2017, and amended ) 

13 August 26, 2021, and Kelly ) 
O'Farrell, ) 

14 ) 
Defendants. ) 

15 ------------- ) 

16 

17 

18 

19 

BEFORE: THE HONORABLE ROBERT L. SPEARS 
Circuit Court Judge 

20 APPEARANCES: 

21 

Watert own, South Dakota 
October 18 1 2022, at 5:27 p.m. 

22 For t he Plaintiff: MR. ALEX HAGEN 

Judge' s Decision 

2SCIV22-000038 

23 

24 

Ca dwe l l, Sanford, Diebert & Garry 
200 East 10th Street, #200 
Sioux Falls, South Dakota 57104 
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Schoenbeck & Erickson, PC 
P.O. Box 1325 
Watertown, South Dakota 57201 

MR. GEORGE B. BOOS 
Boos Jennen Law Firm, LLC 
P.O. Box 1013 
Milbank, South Dakota 57252 

MR. JACK H. HIEB 
Richardson, Wyly, Wise, Sauck & Hieb 
P.O. Box 1030 
Aberdeen, South Dakota 57402 
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(WHEREUPON , the following proceedings were duly had :) 

THE COURT: All right. Here's what I am going to do. 

It' s the decision of this Court that, based on the 

developmen ts, I am trying to schedule day two f or 

November 4th; but if I do that, issues will be moot. That 

is not the Court's fault. That i s not my scheduling 

staff's fault. 

And as I mentioned earlier in this proceeding -- and 

we' re going wel l after 5: 00. It's nearly 5:30. I 

indicated about a half an hour ago, when I called the 

first case, why wasn ' t it brought to my attention t hat 

this was going to be an issue, but we proceeded well over 

now ~hree hours, three and a half hours , in file number 

22-0038, the motion to intervene. 

Based on the exhibits, the testimony presented, I am 

going to reverse myse l f when I said I would not rule from 

the bench. I am going to rule from the bench this 

afternoon. Based on the three-hour-and-thirty-minute 

hearing and the testimony I've ~aken, it appears to this 

Court that the law is pretty clear and the l aw requires I 

deny the motion to interve ne . Nothing in that ruling or 

the order prevents this plaintiff from filing further 

claims against the estate such as undue influence or 

anything e l se . 

Now, I heard a lot of evidence that Mr. O' Farrell, 
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Senior, and that's who I am going to call him, the father 

here, didn't have -- didn't know what he was doing on 

this, didn't have capacity to do that. But that is just 

bold testimony and statements unsupported in the record. 

There's nothing in front of the Court that I've heard 

today that would suggest that Mr. O'Farrell is 

incompetent, doesn't know who his heirs are, and was 

subjected to undue influence. Perhaps, that's a cla~m for 

another day. But I am going to dismiss the motion to 

intervene in file number 0038 for the reasons I just 

stated. 

This was a revocable living trust. It's clear on 

this Court's review of the trust document and the 

testimony presented that Mr. O'Farrell had every right to 

withdraw certain trust assets and assign them to himself, 

at least 50 percent of the joint property pursuant to t he 

trust document. Therefore, the plaintiff in file number 

0038, motion to intervene, will be denied. 

Now, on the other issue, whether or not I should 

remove Mr. Schoenbeck because of an alleged conflict of 

interest and his partners or any attorneys employed by 

him, I've heard nothing on that except argumentative 

statements from both sides. 

Both sides know that I, long before I was a circuit 

court judge , I was o n the ethics committee. So I feel I 
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA ) 
) 

COUNTY OF GRANT ) 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
************************************************************************ 

ESTATE OF 
VICTORIA 0. O'FARRELL, 

Deceased. 

* 

25PRO22-000011 

ORDER APPOINTING 
SPECIAL ADMINISTRATOR 

************************************************************************ 

Upon consideration of the petition for the appointment of a special administrator, the 
court finds: 

I. The venue is proper in this court and it is proper to appoint the petitioner, Raymond A. 

O'Farrell, as Special Administrator without fu1ther notice for the reasons presented in the 

petition for appointment as Special Administrator without bond. TI1e court is satisfied that at 

the time of decedent's death, she was involved as a pa1ty in a lawsuit in Grant County, South 

Dakota, (25CIV22-000038), and also, there appears to be pending negotiations involving 

possible foreclosure proceedings that would have considerable adverse effects on the estate of 

the decedent. Pursuant to SDCL 29A-3-614, petitioner is an interested person, and it is 

necessary to protect the estate of the decedent pending the search for a Will and detennination 

of whether the decedent died testate or intestate. 

2. The decedent died on the 11 tJi day of July, 2022. 

3. The decedent was domiciled at death in Grant County, South Dakota. 

4. The appointment of a Special Administrator is necessary to protect the estate pending 

the search for a Will and detennination of the proper probate proceedings. 

IT IS ORDERED: 

A. The findings are made a part of this order. 

B. Raymond A. O'Farrell is appointed as Special Administrator of the estate of Victoria 0 . 

O'Farrell with the powers of a general personal representative until such time as the duties have 

been completed. 

The personal representative 's tc1m should be limited to such time as it necessary to 

investigate whether the decedent has a Will, and such is offered and accepted in probate or 

- Page 5 -



ORDER APPOINTING: SPECIAL ADMINISTRATOR Page 2 of 2 

upon dctem1ination that the decedent died intestate and intestate proceedings properly 

commenced. 

And letters shall be issued to the special administrator to serve without bond. 

Attest 
Reichling, Sandy 
Clerk/Deputy 

Filed on: 07/18/2022 GRANT 

BY THE COURT: 

7/1812022 3:00:58 PM 

County, South Dakota 25PRO22-000011 
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

COUNTY OF GRANT 

rN CIRCUIT COURT 

THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

ESTATE OF 25PRO22-000011 

VICTORIA 0. O'FARRELL, 
Deceased. 

PETITION FOR APPOINTMENT OF 
SPECIAL ADMINISTRATOR 

PURSUANT TO SDCL 29A-3-614 

COMES NOW, Paul O'Farrell whose address is 14551 4661
h Avenue, Marvin, South 

Dakota 57251, as an interested party of the estate, by and through his attorney of record, David 

A. Geyer of the Delaney, Nielsen & Sannes, P .C. law finn of Sisseton, South Dakota and 

respectfully moves this Court for its Order Appointing Paul O'Farrell as Special Administrator of 

the above captioned estate pursuant to SDCL 29A-3-614, and in support of this Petition shows 

the Court as follows: 

1. SDCL 29A-3-6 l 4(2) entitled "Special Administrator-Appointment." states in part as 
follows: 

A special administrator may be appointed: 

(2) In a formal proceeding by order of the court on the petition of any 
interested person and finding, after notice and hearing, that appointment is 
necessary to preserve the estate or to secure its proper administration 
including its administration in circumstances where a general personal 
representative cannot or should not act. ... 

2, Paul O'Farrell is the decedent's son and is an interested person in this proceeding. 

3. Paul O'Farrell is one of the successor tmstees of the Raymond and Victoria O' Farrell 
Living Trust, dated January 14,2011, restated March 29, 2017, and amended August 26, 
2021 . 

Filed: 9/26/2022 10:32 AM CST Grant County, South Dakota 25PRO22-000011 
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4. Paul O'Farrell has been the registered agent for vOr, Inc., a family fann coporation, since 
2002. 

5. Paul O'Farrell's appointment as special administrator is necessary to preserve the 
decedent's estate or to secure its proper administration. 

6. It is in the best interest of the decedent's estate to appoint Paul O'Farrell as special 
administrator because he is familiar with the decedent's estate plan and is willing to fulfill 
his duties according to SDCL 29A-3-703(a). 

WHEREFORE, Paul O'Farrell requests that this Court enter its Order as follows: 

A. Enter its Order Appointing Paul O'Farrell as Special Administrator of the above 
captioned estate; and 

B. For such other and further relief to which the Petitioner may be entitled. 

Dated this l-t day of September 2022. 

DELANEY, NIELSEN & SA 

av1 ; eyer 
Attorney for Petitioner 
PO Box 9 
520 2nd Avenue East 
Sisseton, SD 57262 
(605) 698-7084 

Filed: 9/26/2022 10:32 AM CST Grant County, South Dakota 25PRO22-000011 
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

COUNTY OF GRANT 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

ESTATE OF 25PRO22-000011 

VICTORIA 0. O'FARRELL, 
Deceased. 

PETITION FOR REMOVAL OF 
SPECIAL ADMINISTRATOR 

PURSUANT TO SDCL 29A-3-61 l 

COMES NOW, Paul O'Farrell whose address is J 4551 4661h Avenue, Marvin, South 

Dakota 57251, as an interested party of the estate, by and through his attorney of record, David 

A. Geyer of the Delaney, Nielsen & Sannes, P.C. law finn of Sisseton, South Dakota and 

respectfully moves this Court for its Order removing Raymond A. O'Farrell as Special 

Administrator of the above captioned estate pursuant to SDCL 29A-3-61 l and 29A-3-6I 8, and in 

support of this Petition shows the Court as follows: 

l. SDCL 29A-3-611 entitled "Termination of appointment by removal-Cause; procedure." 
states in part as follows: 

(a) Any interested person may petition for removal of a personal 
representative for cause at any time. 

(b) Cause for removal exists when: 
(1) Removal is in the best interests of the estate. 

2. Raymond A. O'Farrell ("Raymond") and the decedent each owned 50% of the shares of 
vOr, Inc., a family farm corporation organized under the laws of South Dakota. 

3. The decedent and Raymond were Trustors and Trustees of the Raymond and Victoria 
O'Farrell Living Trust ("Trust") dated January J 4,2011, and amended August 26, 2021. 
The decedent and Raymond collectively owned all of the shares of vOr, Inc., and jointly 
assigned all of those shares in 2011. 

4. On June 27, 2022, the decedent filed a Summons and Complaint with the case number 

Filed: 9/26/2022 10:32 AM CST Grant County, South Dakota 25PRO22-000011 
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2SC1V22-000038 along with other documents that commenced an action ("Lawsuit'') 
against Raymond and their son, Kelly O'Farrell ("Kelly,,). 

5. The Complaint alleges that Raymond purported to reverse his and the decedent's joint 
assignment of shares to the Trust as part of their estate plan, thereby imperiling the estate 
planning objectives which motivated the creation of the Trust in the first place, all 
without the knowledge of the decedent. 

6. In order to accomplish this, the Complaint alleges that Raymond attempted to remove the 
decedent as a director of vOr, Inc., modify the corporate Bylaws, appoint new officers, 
and vote on all 25,000 shares that were assigned to the Trust, all while the decedent was 
recovering from surgery in the hospital. 

7. Decedent alleged that when she learned what Raymond had done, she spoke with him 
about these acts. She detennined that Raymond was being unduly influenced by their son, 
Kelly. 

8. Additionally, decedent alleges that Raymond has refused to provide necessary 
information to the lender to permit vOr, Inc., to refinance, which resulted in vOr, Inc. to 
have allegedly defaulted on two loans. The Complaint alleges this is another byproduct of 
Kelly's undue influence on Raymond. 

9. The decedent requested in her Complaint that the Court find Raymond liable for 
conversion and civil conspiracy and to remove Raymond as Trustee because of actions 
taken in breach of his fiduciary duty. 

10. Raymond, as a special administrator, is a fiduciary of the estate who has a duty to settle 
and distribute the estate of the decedent in accordance with the terms of any probated and 
effective will and South Dakota law included SDCL 29A-3-703(a). 

11. This Lawsuit creates a conflict of interest since the decedent was in the process of suing 
Raymond right before her death for actions he took related to their estate plans without 
her knowledge. 

12. After the decedent's death, Raymond, through his attorney, filed a Suggestion of Death in 
the Lawsuit, triggering the 90 days requirement to file a motion for substitution pursuant 
to SDCL 15-6-25(a)(l) to allow the Lawsuit to continue. Raymond has made no action to 
substitute a party in the Lawsuit. 

13. Raymond, as special administrator, could not substitute himself as the plaintiff in the 
Lawsuit in place of decedent pursuant to SDCL l 5-6-25(a) because Raymond is a 
defendant in this same matter and it would create a conflict of interest. 

2 
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14. This conflict of interest renders Raymond unable to be a fiduciary of the decedent's estate 
pursuant to SDCL 29A-3-703(a). 

15. Prior to the decedent's death, the decedent alleged in her Complaint that Raymond had 
breached his fiduciary duty as a trustee of the Trust. 

16. The decedent asserted that Raymond's actions listed above have resulted in the waste and 
mismanagement of vOr Inc. bank accounts so that the checking account was overdrawn 
by $2,800.00 without the knowledge of the decedent. 

17. Since before the decedent's death, she asserted that Raymond has been influenced by 
Kelly to drastically and unlawfully restrict the decedent's access to the Trust and vOr Inc., 
which interrupted the estate plan that Raymond and the decedent had in place since 2011. 

l 8. Based on decedent's allegations in the Lawsuit, it is clear thal Raymond has no intention 
of acting in the best interest of the decedent's estate, and therefore Raymond is unable to 
fulfill his fiduciary duty as Special Administrator. 

19. It is in the best interest of the decedent's estate to remove Raymond A. O'Farrell as 
special administrator of the estate. 

WHEREFORE, Paul O'Farrell requests that this Court enter its Order as follows: 

A. Enter its Order Removing Raymond A. O'Farrell as Special Administrator of the above 
captioned estate; and 

B. For such other and further relief to which the Petitioner may be entitled. 

Dated this a day of September 2022. 

~~-~-···· ~ '-, __ _ 
== David A. Geyer 

Attorney for Petitioner 
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INTRODUCTION 

This case involves a son, Paul O'Farrell, who through a series of various 

legal actions is attempting to recover what he believes is his "expected" 

inheritance from his parents. At the outset, Paul O'Farrell's "expected 

inheritance" is not a viable claim in South Dakota.1 

The one-sided story told by Paul O'Farrell ignores Paul O'Farrell's use of 

VOR, Inc. as a personal piggy bank for Paul and his company, Skyline Cattle 

Company. Paul and Skyline encumbered VOR, Inc.'s property with loans totaling 

over $1.2 million dollars and faced with a foreclosure action to pay that debt, 

VOR, Inc. sold land to Grand Valley. In short, Paul is not a victim. 

Today, there are four pending appeals with this Court and one petition for 

an intermediate appeal by Paul O'Farrell and/ or Skyline Cattle. Two of the 

appeals are related to orders entered by the Third Circuit Court in relation to 

Victoria O'Farrell's lawsuit after she passed away and Victoria O'Farrell's Estate­

both orders appealed from were entered approximately a year prior to Paul 

O'Farrell's recent appeals. 

In this case, which Paul O'Farrell continuously relies on in his eviction 

proceeding (Appeal #30344) and the grain priority proceeding (Appeal #30584), 

1 Estate of Lynch v. Lynch, 2023 S.D. 23, ii 41,991 N.W.2d 95, 109: 
A mere possibility, such as the expectancy of an heir 
apparent, is not deemed an interest of any kind. ( citations 
omitted.) [A] testator may, up to the moment of death, 
revise and amend the disposition of the estate, and a 
prospective beneficiary's right to inherit depends on the 
decedent's final testamentary disposition in favor of that 
beneficiary. (citations omitted.) 
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is a case where Paul O'Farrell attempted to bring claims on behalf of several 

entities in which he did not have standing and did not state a claim upon which 

relief could be granted. Those entities include VOR, Inc., the Revocable Trust, 

and Victoria's Estate. A review of the complaint in this case (and the documents 

that it incorporates) makes it clear the trial court did not err when it dismissed 

claims brought by Paul on behalf of these entities or that Paul also brought 

against these entities-in the same complaint. 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

Appellants/Plaintiffs, Paul O'Farrell and Skyline Cattle Company, will be 

referred to as "Paul," "Skyline," and collectively as "Appellants"; 

Appellee/Defendant, the Raymond and Victoria O'Farrell Living Trust, will be 

referred to as the "Revocable Trust"; Appellees/ Defendants, Kelly O'Farrell and 

Grand Valley Hutterian Brethren, Inc., will be referred to as "Kelly" and "Grand 

Valley"; VOR, Inc., was named a Plaintiff in the underlying matter, but was also 

asserted as a Defendant, and is now named an Appellant who will be referred to 

as "VOR"; and finally, the Estate of Victoria O'Farrell was listed as a Plaintiff in 

the underlying matter, but also asserted as a Defendant, and is now listed as an 

Appellee who will be referred to as "Victoria's Estate." 

The motions hearing noted by Appellants from another O'Farrell 

proceeding held on October 18, 2022, will be referred to as "VHT" followed by the 

appropriate page number; the Appendix for this brief will be referred to as "App." 

followed by the appropriate page number; and the settled record will be referred 

to as "SR" followed by the page number. 
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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

This is an appeal from the Judgment by the Honorable Robert L. Spears 

on September 5, 2023. (SR 502.) Notice of Entry was given on September 7, 

2023 (SR 507), and Appellants filed their Notice of Appeal on October 6, 2023 

(SR 541). This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to SDCL 15-24A-3(1). 

STATEMENT OF LEGAL ISSUES 

1. Whether the Circuit Court erred when it dismissed this Complaint 
against the Revocable Trust. 

No, the Circuit Court did not err by dismissing this Complaint against the 
Revocable Trust. 

SDCL 21-24-5. 
Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544,555 and 570 (2007). 
Cable v. Union County Bd. of County Com'rs, 2009 S.D. 59,769 N.W.2d 

817. 
In re Florence Y. Wallbaum Revocable Living Tr. Agreement, 2012 S.D. 

18,813 N.W.2d 111. 

2. Whether the Circuit Court erred when it dismissed VOR as a 
Plaintiff. 

No, the Circuit Court did not err when it dismissed VOR as a plaintiff to the case. 

SDCL 47-lA-841. 
SDCL 47-lA-842(3). 
Healy Ranch P'ship v. Mines, 2022 S.D. 44, 978 N.W.2d 768. 
Landstrom v. Shaver, 1997 S.D. 25, 561 N.W.2d 1. 
Nooney v. StubHub, Inc., 2015 S.D. 102, 873 N.W.2d 497. 
Gillick v. Elliott, 1 F-4th 608 (8th Cir. 2021). 

3. Whether the Circuit Court erred when it dismissed Victoria's 
Estate as a Plaintiff. 

No, the Circuit Court did not err when it dismissed Victoria's Estate as a plaintiff. 

SDCL 29A-3-617. 
SDCL 29A-3-711. 
Matter of Estate of Jones, 970 N.W.2d 520, 2022 S.D. 9. 
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4. Whether the Complaint was frivolous under SDCL 1.5-1.7-51.. 

Yes, the Complaint was frivolous as to VOR and Victoria's Estate. 

SDCL 15-17-51. 
Healy v. Osborne, 2019 S.D. 56,934 N.W.2d 557. 
Ridley v. Lawrence County Com'n, 2000 S.D. 143, 619 N.W.2d 254. 

5. Did the presiding judge, Gregory J. Stoltenburg, of the Third 
Judicial Circuit err by failing to permit Paul's change of judge 
request. 

No, the presiding judge did not err. 

SDCL 15-12-23. 
SDCL 15-12-24. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Contrary to Paul's remark in his brief, this complaint was not at all based 

upon the circuit court's "advisement"-the circuit court never told Paul to bring 

this case on behalf of the entities that he claims authority over and to bring these 

claims against these entities.2 (Appellants' Brief p. 6.) On his own accord, Paul 

started this case where he purported to be acting on behalf of Victoria's Estate, 

VOR, and his company, Skyline, and filed suit against Kelly, Grand Valley, and 

the Revocable Trust for a declaratory judgment, rescission, and "tort damages." 

(SR 3-30.) 

2 Instead, Judge Spears said the following at a hearing when Paul tried to 
intervene in Victoria's lawsuit in 2022: 

There's nothing in front of the Court that I've heard today that would 
suggest that Mr. O'Farrell is incompetent, doesn't know who his heirs 
are, and was subjected to undue influence. Perhaps, that's a claim for 
another day. But I am going to dismiss the motion to intervene in file 
number 0038 for the reasons I just stated. 

(VHT 147:2-8.) 
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In response, Victoria's Estate, the Revocable Trust, and VOR filed an 

answer to the complaint, along with motions to dismiss and a counterclaim 

against Paul. (SR 126-141.) 

Additionally, Grand Valley filed a motion to dismiss for failure to state a 

claim. (SR 200-201, 214-229.) 

Following Grand Valley's motion and brief, defendant Revocable Trust, 

"plaintiff' Victoria's Estate, and "plaintiff' VOR joined the motion and the 

arguments made by Grand Valley's brief regarding the legal arguments for 

dismissal of the complaint. (SR 339-343.) Within this brief in support of their 

motion to dismiss, these parties also directed the trial court to the recent South 

Dakota Supreme Court case, Estate of Lynch v. Lynch, which described that an 

expectancy of an inheritance is "not deemed an interest of any kind."s 

The circuit court held a motions hearing on July 11, 2023. At the hearing, 

the circuit court orally granted Grand Valley's motion to dismiss, and later 

entered an opinion and order related to Grand Valley's motion to dismiss. (SR 

440-455.) 

In regard to the other motions, the trial court issued a memorandum 

decision on August 9, 2023, that described the dismissal of Paul's complaint in its 

entirety. (SR 425-432.) The trial court also entered a memorandum decision 

regarding its decision of attorney's fees on October 10, 2023. (SR 639-642.) 

Additionally, the trial court entered its order t hat dismissed the case as to 

VOR, Victoria's Estate, and Revocable Trust on September 5, 2023 (SR 433-434); 

3 2023 S.D. 23, ,r 41,991 N.W.2d 95, 109 (citations omitted). 
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a judgment of dismissal and Rule 54(b) certification on September 5, 2023 (SR 

502-506); and opinion and order on Grand Valley's motion to dismiss on 

September 5, 2023 (SR 440-455). 

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

1.. The Relationship between the Farm Property, the Revocable 

Trust, and VOR. 

Raymond and Victoria O'Farrell owned approximately 1,000 acres of 

farmland in Grant County, South Dakota (the "Farm Property"). (SR 12.) 

Raymond and Victoria then put that Farm Property into a corporation named 

VOR, Inc. (SR 12.) Raymond and Victoria owned all the shares ofVOR and 

deposited all shares ofVOR into the Revocable Trust, which was a revocable trust 

created in 2011. (SR 8, 12, 230-325.) 

The Revocable Trust additionally designated the majority of the Farm 

Property to be inherited by their son, Paul, which included nine contiguous 

parcels comprising 703.33 acres. (SR 13, 24.) However, the four conditions that 

must have occurred in order for Paul and his siblings to inherit any of the Farm 

Property owned by VOR and under the terms of the Revocable Trust were: (1) one 

of the parents had to die; (2) the other parent had to die; (3) the terms of the 

Revocable trust must have remained unchanged upon the death of both pa rents; 

and (4) the shares ofVOR, which owned the Farm Property, must have remained 

in the Revocable trust. (SR 230-325.) In addition to Paul's conditional 

inheritance through the Revocable Trust, the other O'Farrell siblings- Lance, 

Marcie, Kelly, and Rita-all were to inherit certain property as well. (SR 12-13.) 
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2. Raymond's Shares of VOR. 

On July 11, 2022, Victoria O'Farrell passed away. (SR 17.) By operation of 

the Revocable Trust, Victoria's shares ofVOR and her beneficial interest in the 

Revocable Trust went to Raymond O'Farrell. (SR 230-325.) With Raymond in 

full control of the shares within the Revocable Trust, Raymond removed all the 

shares of VOR from the Revocable Trust. (SR 14.) 

3. Sale ofVOR land and resulting eviction proceeding. 

On or about August 12, 2022, Grand Valley executed a purchase 

agreement for the sale of nine contiguous parcels for $3.2 million. (SR 326-335.) 

As the only owner of VO R's shares, Raymond signed the purchase agreement on 

behalf ofVOR in his capacity as president ofVOR. (SR 143-144.) The land sale 

transaction closed in October 2022. (SR 18.) 

After the land sale, Grand Valley and VOR initiated eviction proceedings in 

VOR, Inc. and Grand Valley Hutterian Brethren v. Paul O'Farrell and Skyline 

Cattle Company, 25CIV.23-18 (referred to as "Eviction Action"), to evict Paul and 

Skyline from the Farm Property. As a result of this case, the trial court ordered 

Paul and Skyline to vacate the Farm Property. During that Eviction Action, Paul 

never filed a motion to stay with surety and he did not file a motion to consolidate 

this lawsuit with the Eviction Action. The Eviction Action is currently on appeal 

to the South Dakota Supreme Court, Appeal #30344. 
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4. Paul cannot act on behalf ofVOR, Victoria's Estate, or the 

Revocable Trust. 

Paul's complaint further claims that damages are available for Raymond, 

Victoria, Victoria's Estate, the Revocable Trust, and VOR based on Kelly's actions 

and "discovery will determine the extent and nature of the tort claims ... such 

damages would be available as a result of conversion, breach of fiduciary duty, 

and tortious interference with their expected and established relationships." (SR 

28.) First, Raymond, Victoria, and the Revocable Trust are not plaintiffs in this 

lawsuit where Paul claims they are allowed to seek damages. Second, Paul has no 

authority to bring any action on behalf of Victoria's Estate, the Revocable Trust, 

orVOR. 

Raymond was ordered as the special administrator to Victoria's Estate by 

the circuit court on July 18, 2022. (SR 146-147.) Paul petitioned to have 

Raymond removed, but then left that petition without ever seeking a hearing on 

that issue. (App. 1-4.) 

RegardingVOR, Paul was a former president of the company. (SR 8.) 

Paul was never a shareholder. (SR 12, 230-325.) Raymond was appointed as 

president-of the company that he owns 100% of the shares of. (SR 143-144, 

230-325.) 

In regard to the Revocable Trust, Paul is not a trustee and he only claims 

that he could be a "Successor Co-Trustee." (SR 8.) As explained before, until 

several events happened, Paul is not even a beneficiary of any of the shares of 

VOR that were once held by the Revocable Trust-and are no longer held in the 

Revocable Trust. Paul has never filed any document within a trust proceeding to 
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have Raymond removed as the trustee and have himself appointed-like he 

started to in Victoria's Estate. (App. 1-4.) 

5. Paul is not a victim. 

First Interstate Bank initiated a foreclosure on VOR's Farm Property on 

July 22, 2022. (App. 11-20.) Page three of the foreclosure complaint summarizes 

the four notes Paul took out, pledging VO R's land as collateral, which had a 

remaining balance at the time of foreclosure, according to pages 6 and 7, of 

$1,248,420.10. (App. 11-20.) Paul had been previously able to get his father to 

sign mortgages on VO R's land, until his father received independent legal counsel 

from Susan Yexley J ennen of Clark, South Dakota. To resolve the foreclosure, 

Raymond, VOR, and their attorney were able to sell part of the land to Grand 

Valley to pay off the debt as previously described in the purchase agreement. (SR 

326-335.) 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

This appeal primarily relates to the trial court granting various parties' 

motions to dismiss, and a de novo review applies to the court's rulings. Kaiser 

Trucking, Inc. v. Liberty Mutual Fire Ins. Co., 2022 S.D. 64, ,r 13,981 N.W.2d 

645, 650-651. 

Additionally, the appeal pertains to whether the presiding judge of the 

third circuit erred by not removing the Honorable Judge Spears from the case. 

The standard of review for a presiding judge ruling on removal of a judge is one 

of statutory construction and is likely, therefore, de novo. In re West River Elec. 

Ass'n, Inc., 2004 S.D. 11, ,r 14, 675 N.W.2d 222, 226. 
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The circuit court's decision to award attorney's fees, under SDCL 15-17-51, 

is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. Johnson v. Miller, 2012 S.D. 

61, il 19, 818 N.W.2d 804, 810. 

ARGUMENT 

1.. The Trial Court did not err when it dismissed the claims against 

the Revocable Trust. 

The Revocable Trust is listed as a defendant4 in this lawsuit by Paul, but 

Paul's complaint fails to state a claim against the Revocable Trust upon which 

relief can be granted. There are three counts/requests to Paul's complaint: Count 

1-a request for declaratory relief; Count 2-a request for rescission of the 

purchase agreement between VOR and Grand Valley; and Count 3-"tort 

damages." Of these three counts, the only two that apply in any way to the 

Revocable Trust are Count 1 and Count 3. 

A review of the two claims "against" the Revocable Trust show that there is 

an insuperable bar to relief and that Paul's allegations are just mere recitals and 

conclusions. Additionally, Paul has no standing for any claims against the 

Revocable Trust relating to shares of VOR, when Paul only had an expectation of 

4 To the extent that Paul is also claiming to bring claims on behalf of the 
Revocable Trust, the Recovable Trust must be dismissed as a plaintiff. Paul does 
not have standing to bring any claims on behalf of the Recovable Trust. See 
Matter of Estate of Calvin, 2021 S.D. 45, ,r,r 17-18, 963 N.W.2d 319, 324-325. 
Paul makes no allegations that he has asked the Revocable Trust to pursue 
certain claims and that the Revocable Trust has declined to pursue such a claim. 
Further, the same reasons that support that the Revocable Trust cannot be a 
defendant, also support that Paul cannot act as a plaintiff on behalf of the 
Revocable Trust. 
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an inheritance. Therefore, Paul's claims against the Revocable Trust were 

rightfully dismissed. 

a. Applicable Law. 

The U.S. Supreme Court has laid out the following principals for a motion 

based on a failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, (in the South 

Dakota Rules of Civil Procedure it is a "12(b)(5)" motion, whereas in the Federal 

Rules of Civil Procedure it is a "12(b)(6)" motion): 

• The facts plead in the Complaint "must be enough to raise a right to 

relief above the speculative level" and must be "plausible on its face." 

Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544,555 and 570 (2007). 

• Additionally, "the tenant that a court must accept as true all of the 

allegations contained in a complaint is inapplicable to legal 

conclusions." Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009). 

• Although not the U.S. Supreme Court, the 8 th Circuit held"[ w ]here the 

allegations show on the face of the complaint there is some insuperable 

bar to relief, dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) is appropriate." Benton v. 

Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc., 524 F.3rd 866, 870 (8th Cir. 2008). 

• Further, the South Dakota District Court has held "[w]hen ruling on a 

motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), courts ca n consider matters of 

public record in addition to the complaint's factual allegations." 

Waldner v. N. Am. Truck & Trailer, Inc. , 277 F.R.D. 401, 406 (D.S.D. 

2011). 

Additionally, "[s]tanding to sue is part of the common understanding of 

what it takes to make a justiciable case." Steel Co. v. Citizens for a Better Env't, 
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523 U.S. 83, 102, 118 S. Ct. 1003, 1016, 140 L. Ed. 2d 210 (1998). To establish 

standing, the plaintiff must show (1) injury-in-fact, (2) causation, and (3) 

redressability. Cable v. Union County Bd. of County Com'rs, 2009 S.D. 59, ,r 21, 

769 N.W.2d 817, 825-26. Injury in fact is "an invasion of a legally protected 

interest which is (a) concrete and particularized and (b) actual or imminent, not 

'conjectural' or'hypothetical."' Id. (citation omitted). Second, a causal 

connection must exist between the plaintiffs injury and the conduct in the 

plaintiffs complaint. Id. The causal connection is met "when the injury is 'fairly 

traceable to the challenged action of the defendant, and not the result of the 

independent action of some third party not before the court."' Id. (citation 

omitted). Finally, redressability is met when the plaintiff shows "it is likely, and 

not merely speculative, that the injury will be redressed by a favorable decision." 

Id. 

"Standing is established through being a 'real party in interest' .... 'The 

real party in interest requirement for standing is satisfied if the litigant can show 

that he personally has suffered some actual or threatened injury as a result of the 

putatively illegal conduct of the defendant."' In re Florence Y. Wallbaum 

Revocable Living Tr. Agreement, 2012 S.D. 18, ,r 40, 813 N.W.2d 111, 121 

(citation omitted). 

b. There is an insuperable bar to any declaratory relief for 
Paul against the Revocable Trust because he does not have 
standing to bring the claim. 

Paul's brief defends its Count 1 against the Revocable Trust by claiming 

that the declaratory judgment act is liberal and that it can be used to decide 

various issues within a trust and, because he makes various assertions related to 
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trust documents, then his claim against the Revocable Trust cannot be dismissed. 

(Appellants' Brief pp. 20-26.) 

Paul's defense to allow his claim for declaratory judgment to continue 

against the Revocable Trust faces an insuperable bar to relief-the Revocable 

Trust has no VOR shares and Raymond, upon Victoria's death, became the 

recipient of all VO R's shares held by the Revocable Trust. These facts by the 

plain terms of the Revocable Trust bar any type of declaratory judgment by Paul 

related to VOR shares in the Revocable Trust. Further, Raymond is not a 

defendant individually in this case, and Raymond removed the VOR shares from 

the Revocable Trust. Apart from Paul's various conclusory claims related to 

actions of the Revocable Trust, there is no claim that relief can be granted upon 

in relation to the Revocable Trust because there is no claim that turns Paul's 

rights into anything other than a speculative "expectation of an inheritance" 

claim.s 

For the first time in this case, Paul claims declaratory relief against the 

Revocable Trust should continue because SDCL 21-24-5 allows for the 

determination of rights under trust or a decedent's estate through a declaratory 

s Estate of Lynch v. Lynch, 2023 S.D. 23, ii 41, 991 N.W.2d 95, 109: 
A mere possibility, such as the expectancy of an heir 
apparent, is not deemed an interest of a ny kind. ( citations 
omitted.) [A] testator may, up to the moment of death, 
revise and amend the disposition of the estate, and a 
prospective beneficiary's right to inherit depends on the 
decedent's final testamentary disposition in favor of that 
beneficia ry. (citations omitted.) 
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judgment action. 6 However, not only is his argument barred because it is only 

first being made on appeal (Sioux Falls Shopping News, Inc. v. Dept. of Revenue 

and Regulation, 2008 S.D. 34, ,r 29,749 N.W.2d 522,528), this argument also is 

incorrect because SDCL 21-24-5 does not apply to the facts here. 

Under SDCL 21-24-5, it appears (although not analyzed in Appellants' 

brieO that Paul claims it applies because of subsection 3: "To determine any 

question arising in the administration of the estate or trust, including questions 

of construction of wills and other writings." However, Paul's complaint does not 

make any claims regarding the construction of the Revocable Trust itself or its 

writings, rather he claims "relief' against the Revocable Trust because of 

purported bad acts by Kelly. Further, Paul is not a beneficiary under the 

Revocable Trust until Raymond passes away. Therefore, the statute does not 

allow Paul to bring his claims against the Revocable Trust itself. 

In short, just because declaratory judgments are allowed, does not mean 

they cannot be dismissed when there are no rights to declare. In this case, Paul 

and Skyline do not have rights related to the Revocable Trust's VOR shares that 

went to Raymond after Victoria's death, and Paul and/ or Skyline's allegations 

against Kelly do not automatically allow suit against the Revocable Trust. 

c. There are no tort claims against the Revocable Trust. 

The only other part of Paul's complaint that could potentially be against 

the Trust appears to be Count 3 "tort damages." However, there are no facts in 

the Complaint that Paul is asserting any tort against the Revocable Trust. 

6 Paul did not make this argument in his briefing or at the hearings on the 
motions to dismiss. (SR 356-364, 382-419.) 
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Instead, it appears that Paul's complaint only involves claims against Kelly acting 

improperly. Of course, this would not result in any tort liability against the 

Revocable Trust itself. Further, by Appellants' own brief, it appears that Paul is 

not making any tort claims against the Revocable Trust. (Appellants' Brief p. 34.) 

2. VOR should be dismissed from this case as a plaintiff. 

In a bizarre fashion, VOR-the corporation that Raymond is president of 

and owns 100% of the shares-is listed as a plaintiff in this case by Paul. Even 

stranger, within the same complaint, Paul makes claims that VOR may owe him 

money damages.7 

To the extent any claims are made against VOR or that VOR is alleged to 

make claims against any purported party by Paul's Complaint, the trial court 

correctly decided Paul could not act on behalf of VOR and dismissed the 

Complaint's claims related to VOR entirely. 

a. Applicable Law 

In addition to the law regarding a "12(b)(5)" motion, South Dakota's law 

on the consideration of documents in a motion to dismiss is applicable to Paul's 

complaint in its entirety. South Dakota law on this issue is as follows: 

• This Court "may consider documents or attachments 'incorporated by 

reference in the pleadings' when deciding a motion to dismiss under SDCL 

15-6-12(b)." H ealy Ranch P'ship v. Mines, 2022 S.D. 44, ,r 43 n.10, 978 

N.W.2d 768,780 n.10. 

7 As Paul put it in his opposition to VO R's motion to dismiss: "in paragraphs 107 
and 108, Paul is asserting his potential right to recover damages against VOR." 
(SR 358.) 

15 



• "[C]ourts must consider the complaint in its entirety, as well as other 

sources courts ordinarily examine when ruling on Rule 12(b )( 6) motions to 

dismiss, in particular, documents incorporated into the complaint by 

reference, and matters of which a court may take judicial notice." Tellabs, 

Inc. v. Makar Issues & Rts., Ltd., 551 U.S. 308,322, 127 S. Ct. 2499, 2509, 

168 L. Ed. 2d 179 (2007). 

• Standard Fire Ins. Co. v. Cont'[ Res., Inc., 2017 S.D. 41, il 10, 898 N.W.2d 

734, 737, upheld trial court's review of the pleadings, the attachments to 

the pleadings, and documents incorporated by reference in the pleadings 

on a 12(b )(5) motion. 

• Nooney v. StubHub, Inc., 2015 S.D. 102, il 8, 873 N.W.2d 497,499, 

considered documents incorporated by reference in the complaint. 

• Courts may consider matters incorporated by reference or integral to the 

claim, items subject to judicial notice, matters of public record, orders, 

items appearing in the record of the case, and exhibits attached to the 

complaint whose authenticity is unquestioned; these items may be 

considered by the district judge without converting the motion into one for 

summary judgment. 5B Fed. Prac. & Proc. Civ. § 1357 (3d ed.). 

• "In a case involving a contract, the court may examine the contract 

documents in deciding a motion to dismiss. This is true even if contract 

documents not attached to the complaint refute a breach-of-contract 

claim, or a claim that defendant breached a statutory or common law duty. 

Zean v. Fairview Health Servs., 858 F. 3ed 520,526 (8th Cir. 2017). 
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• Similarly, where a trust document is involved, the Eighth Circuit has held 

that it necessarily must be considered: 

The Employer Trustees did not attach the Trust 
Agreement to their complaint, instead attaching it 
only to their response in opposition to the Union 
Trustees' motion to dismiss. In deciding a motion to 
dismiss, courts ordinarily do not consider matters 
outside the pleadings. See Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(d). 
However, "documents necessarily embraced by the 
complaint are not matters outside the pleading[s]. 
Documents necessarily embraced by the pleadings 
include 'documents whose contents are alleged in a 
complaint and whose authenticity no party questions, 
but which are not physically attached to the 
pleading."' Ashanti v. City of Golden Valley, 666 F.3d 
1148, 1151 (8th Cir. 2012)(citations omitted). Here, the 
content of several provisions of the Trust Agreement 
was alleged in the complaint. Additionally, no party 
has questioned the Trust Agreement's authenticity. 
Accordingly, we will consider the entire Trust 
Agreement because it was necessarily embraced by 
the pleadings. 

Gillick v. Elliott, 1 F-4th 608, 610 (8th Cir. 2021). 

b. Paul's allegations regarding his control of VOR are wholly 
unsupported. 

In an attempt to justify his complaint and position that VOR is a plaintiff 

in this matter, Paul claims that he is the only "rightful" president. However, this 

is contrary to public documents and Paul's own knowledge that he is not the 

president ofVOR. (SR 143-144.) For clarity, Paul's only legal connection to VOR 

is that he was a former president of the corporation that used the real property 

held by VOR as collateral to receive loans for his company, Skyline. 

Paul attempts to get around this by making the conclusory statement that 

VOR cannot act in this manner because Raymond was purportedly unduly 

influenced to become the president ofVOR by Kelly. 
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In addition to the clear documents that show that Raymond is the 

president ofVOR, Paul's own complaint shows that he is not acting in the benefit 

of VOR-even if he were to have the authority to do so. Within his own 

complaint, Paul also makes claims against VOR for money damages. (SR 27, ,i,i 

107-108.) Appellants never addressed the conflict and problem with claiming to 

act on behalf ofVOR and then bring claims against VOR in the same complaint, 

even though it was extensively argued at the motion to dismiss hearing and 

formed the basis for the trial court's award of attorney fees against Paul and 

Skyline. 

Instead, Paul argues that he should be able to make claims on behalf of 

VOR and against VOR in the same complaint because he is acting in accordance 

with SDCL 47-1A-841 and SDCL 47-1A-842(3). 

Neither of these statutes support that Paul is allowed to act on behalf of 

VOR when the clear documents show that he is not the valid president. 

Specifically, SDCL 47-lA-842(3) states the following: "An officer, when 

performing in such capacity, shall act: (3) In a manner the officer reasonably 

believes to be in the best interests of the corporation." Even if Paul were the 

president, there is no valid argument that Paul is acting in the best interests of 

the corporation when he purportedly brings this lawsuit in VOR's name and also 

makes claims against VOR in the same lawsuit. Further, Paul cannot be acting in 

a manner that is in the "best interests of the corporation" when he is acting in a 

manner that only benefits himself. As is known throughout his entire complaint, 

and admitted in his pleadings, Paul is only acting in a manner that benefits him 

and what he desired for an inheritance. 
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In addition to SDCL 47-1A-841 and SDCL 47-lA-842(3), Paul claims that 

Landstrom v. Shaver supports the claim that he can bring this action on behalf of 

VOR. (Appellants' Brief p. 39.) 1997 S.D. 25,561 N.W.2d 1. Paul's reliance on 

Landstrom is wholly misplaced. To the contrary, Landstrom supports that 

Raymond would be the only person available to make a claim on behalf of VO R­

as Raymond owns all the shares and Paul has never alleged nor been a 

shareholder. 

Specifically, the quote attributed to Landstrom by Paul on page 40 of his 

brief actually replaced the word "stockholder" with "[those others]." It is clear 

through a quick reading of Landstrom and that quote-without Paul's edit-that 

Landstrom is applicable to stockholders/shareholders of a corporation-not 

former presidents. Further, Landstrom is a decision discussing whether a 

shareholder has to bring a derivative suit or whether a shareholder can bring it on 

an individual basis (see Landstrom, at ,i 54), and the language cited by Paul 

(inaccurately) is the limited exception to the rule that "an action to redress 

injuries to a corporation cannot be maintained by a shareholder on an individual 

basis but must be brought derivatively." Id. 

Through law or equity, there is no meritorious argument that VOR should 

be included as a plaintiff in this case. Paul does not have standing to bring such a 

claim. Even if Paul did have standing, he cannot also turn around and sue VOR 

in the same complaint for money damages. The law is clear and Paul's purported 

actions on behalf of VOR are not allowed. 
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c. VORjoins Grand Valley's brief regarding rescission 
"claim." 

VORjoins Grand Valley in its position regarding Paul's inability to move 

forward in any manner on the remedy of rescission. VOR is not going to restate 

the supporting authorities of Grand Valley's argument that Paul's "claim" of 

rescission should be dismissed. Instead, VORjoins Grand Valley in its position 

and authorities, and requests that claim is also dismissed. 

3. The Trial Court did not err when it dismissed Victoria's Estate 

as a plaintiff. 

To begin, the trial court did not err when it dismissed Victoria's Estate as a 

plaintiff because Paul did not have any authority to bring such a claim on behalf 

of the Estate. South Dakota law clearly requires that authority. 

Paul then complains that he brought the lawsuit because Raymond is 

attempting to serve on both sides of a lawsuit. It appears in that respect, Paul is 

referring to the lawsuit that Victoria started that was voluntarily dismissed by her 

attorney. Currently, the issues with that old lawsuit are up on appeal by Paul, 

Appeal #30508. 

Paul's attempt to include Victoria's Estate as a plaintiff is not allowed and 

the court correctly applied the law. 

a. Applicable Law. 

The probate code reserved powers to bring litigation on behalf of an estate 

to either a personal representative or special administrator: 

A special administrator appointed by order of the 
court in any formal proceeding has the powers of a 
general personal representative, except as limited in 
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the order of appointment, and the duties as prescribed 
in the order. The appointment may be for a specified 
time, to perform particular acts or on other terms as 
the court may direct. 

SDCL 29A-3-617. 

Until termination of an appointment, a personal 
representative has the same power over the title to 
property of the estate that an absolute owner would 
have, in trust however, for the benefit of the creditors 
and others interested in the estate. This power may be 
exercised without notice, hearing, or order of court. 

SDCL 29A-3-711. 

Recently, in Matter of Estate of Jones, this Court addressed an issue 

where interested parties to an estate attempted to petition for a special 

administrator be appointed to pursue a wrongful death claim because of an 

alleged conflict of interest by the personal representative of the estate. 970 

N.W.2d 520, 2022 S.D. 9. Particularly of importance in this case, the Court 

described that the petition for a special administrator required further 

proceedings to determine whether a special administrator was appropriate to 

bring a claim for wrongful death. Id. at ,r 33. Further, this Court described that 

the circuit court would be "determining who shall pursue a wrongful death claim 

on behalf of an estate." Id. The South Dakota Supreme Court did not state 

anything within Jones regarding interested parties being able to file a lawsuit on 

behalf of the estate without being appointed as a special administ rator. Id. 

b. Victoria's Estate was rightfully dismissed as a plaintiff. 

Paul appears to claim that Victoria's Estate is not a plaintiff in this case 

because of how he captioned his complaint. However, in his summons, it appears 
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that Victoria's Estate is a plaintiff and is argued as such in his briefings and at the 

motion to dismiss hearing in front of the trial court. 

It is clear that South Dakota law does not allow Paul to bring an action on 

behalf of Victoria's Estate. To bring an action on behalf of an estate, one must be 

either a personal representative or special administrator. 

Paul's recourse-for not being either a personal representative or special 

administrator-is not to bring a complaint that he's not allowed to bring, rather it 

would be to address his issues with the special administrator within the probate 

action itself. Instead, it appears Paul relies on the liberal nature of a declaratory 

judgment action to claim that it is not necessary and upon a case from Nebraska. 

(Appellants' Brief p. 43.) 

However, Paul is asking this Court to remove the special administrator of 

Victoria's Estate and simultaneously allow him to bring an action on the Estate's 

behalf. Of course, there are specific statutes within the probate code that must be 

followed to remove a special administrator, which Paul knows because he filed a 

petition to do so, but did not pursue it past the filing of a petition and Raymond's 

objection. (App. 1-10.) 

Further, Paul's complaint does not explain in any way how an action on 

behalf of Victoria's Estate will benefit the Estate. As Paul's submissions admit, 

the only focus of Paul's complaint is an attempt to benefit himself. 
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4. The Complaint was frivolous under SDCL 15-17-51. 

Paul's complaint is frivolous because it ignored facts Paul knew to be true 

and asserted claims on behalf ofVOR and Victoria's Estate without any authority 

to do so, and then turned around and made claims against them. 

Paul's response to why the complaint was not frivolous is unsupported by 

South Dakota law. 

a. Applicable Law. 

If a civil action, including an action for appeal of a 
zoning decision, or special proceeding is dismissed or 
requested relief is denied and if the court determines 
that it was frivolous or brought for malicious 
purposes, the court shall order the party whose claim, 
cause of action, or defense was dismissed or denied to 
pay part or all expenses incurred by the party 
defending the matter, including reasonable attorneys' 
fees. 

A "frivolous action exists when the proponent can present no rational 

argument based on the evidence or law in support of the claim .... " Healy v. 

Osborne, 2019 S.D. 56, ,r 34,934 N.W.2d 557, 566-7 (citations omitted). 

b. There is no rational position for Paul's assertions. 

In response to whether Paul's claims were frivolous on behalf and against 

VOR, Paul asserts that he had a reasonable legal position to bring an action on 

behalf ofVOR because of a case from Delaware in 1972 that stated that previous 

officers continued to hold office if corporate meetings are not lawfully convened. 

Schroder v. Scotten, Dillon Co., 299 A.2d 431 (De. Ch. 1972). The Delaware case 

does not provide any law on if a former president-who feels he was incorrectly 

dismissed as president-can start a lawsuit against the corporation and on behalf 
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of the same corporation in the same complaint. This case does not control in 

South Dakota and does not make his argument legitimate. 

As previously described, Raymond-by all public documents-is the acting 

president ofVOR. Further, the action that Paul apparently believes he can take 

because of Landstrom is one where he must be a shareholder-Paul knows he is 

not a shareholder, and he did not allege that he was a shareholder. Paul had all 

this information available to him at the time he filed his complaint, but he filed 

anyway. What makes his position more irrational is that he then pursues claims 

against VOR within the same complaint. This type of behavior squarely fits 

within the South Dakota definition of frivolous. 

As to Victoria's Estate, Paul knew he was unable to bring the lawsuit, but 

then claims he brought it because Raymond refused to do so. However, Paul does 

not explain that the lawsuit was voluntarily dismissed by the attorney that was 

acting as Victoria's attorney. There is no explanation within the complaint that 

allows Paul to escape the fact that his lawsuit ignores the probate code and Paul's 

own knowledge. Paul instead relies on a case from Nebraska in 2000 to claim 

that he could bring such an action. (Appellants' Brief p. 44.) Again, this does not 

change South Dakota law. It also does not change that Paul abandoned his 

petition to remove Raymond as a special administrator of Victoria's Estate. 

c. The Trial Court correctly applied the law in its frivolous 
finding. 

On page 41 of Paul's brief, he claims that the circuit court "did not cite or 

apply the correct and complete law in reaching its decision." However, Paul does 

not in any way explain how the court's application of the law was deficient. 
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(Sioux Falls Shopping News, Inc. v. Dept. of Revenue and Regulation, 2008 S.D. 

34, ,r 29,749 N.W.2d 522, 528.) Contrary to this position, in Ridley v. Lawrence 

County Com'n, 2000 S.D. 143, ,r 14, 619 N.W.2d 254, 259, the Supreme Court 

described a frivolous action under SDCL 15-17-51: "To fall to the level of 

frivolousness, there must be such a deficiency in fact or law that no reasonable 

person could expect a favorable judicial ruling." 

Similarity, within the trial court's findings and conclusions, the court 

specifically stated that test, "The Court finds there is a deficiency in facts, such 

that neither plaintiffs nor their counsel could expect a favorable ruling." 

The trial court correctly applied SDCL 15-17-51 and found Paul and 

Skyline's claims frivolous because there is no reasonable person that could expect 

that Paul could act on behalf of and against VOR in the same complaint. Further, 

Paul knew he had no authority to act on behalf of Victoria's Estate and attempted 

to anyway. 

5. It was not error for the Presiding Judge Stoltenburg to deny 

Paul's request to remove Judge Spears. 

Paul claims that Judge Spears should have been removed because Skyline 

had not previously submitted any argument or proof in support of a motion, only 

Paul had. Therefore, Paul claims that the previous decisions made by Judge 

Spears do not apply to Skyline, and Judge Spears should have been removed. 

However, this ignores that Paul previously waived any issue with the judge 

presiding for the same reason Paul now claims there is an "appearance of 

impropriety." Further, Paul's recollection of the facts ignores that he made his 
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informal request for Judge Spears to recuse himself in two files at the same time, 

"My letter to you is attached regarding recusal in 25GDN23-000001 and 

25CIV23-000015." (SR 97-99.) Presiding Judge Stoltenburg then issued his 

denial of Skyline's formal request for removal in a manner that followed Paul and 

Skyline's initial informal request-with both cases captioned together. (SR 121-

122.) 

a. Presiding Judge Stoltenburg acted appropriately. 

First, informal requests from Paul and Skyline were apparently made in 

two files at the same time (SR 97-102), this file and the guardianship proceeding. 

Thus, based on Paul's own submission, the joint requests included the 

guardianship file where previous orders had been made. (SR 97-101.) Then, it 

appears that counsel for Paul and Skyline did an affidavit just in this civil file, and 

the presiding judge captioned his response as to both the civil file and the 

guardianship file when the presiding judge ruled there was "previously submitted 

motions, arguments, and testimony to the assigned judge on substantive issues 

and has waived his right to file an affidavit for change of judge pursuant to SDCL 

15-12-24." (SR 121-122.) Now, Skyline wants to say this was in error because the 

pervious decisions only related to Paul. However, in all the informal requests and 

communications, Paul and Skyline made their submission as one and for both 

proceedings together. 

In light of the presentation of the requests, and the intertwined nature of 

the cases, the presiding judge correctly interpreted SDCL 15-12-23 and SDCL 15-

12-24 in denying the removal of the judge by affidavit. Further, as referenced by 



the presiding judge's order, the nature of all these lawsuits makes it judicially 

efficient to be heard by the same judge. 

b. There is no appearance of impropriety requiring removal. 

The appearance of impropriety relating to the campaign treasurer of the 

judge's campaign that works for Schoenbeck & Erickson, PC is without merit. As 

described in Judge Spears' email to counsel for Paul and Skyline, Paul was 

advised that his former campaign treasurer was a paralegal at Schoenbeck & 

Erickson, a nd Paul agreed he had no issue with Judge Spears continuing to stay 

on whether Paul could intervene in the lawsuit initiated by Victoria. (Victoria 

O'Farrell v. Raymond O'Farrell, etal., 25CIV.22-000038, Appeal #30508). (SR 

102, 110.) Appellants cited no case law that requires removal of a judge when a 

former campaign treasurer works as a paralegal for a firm in front of that judge. 

Like Paul previously agreed, this is not an unusual circumstance in the small 

communities of South Dakota and does not require removal. 

CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing, Victoria's Estate, the Revocable Trust, and VOR 

respectfully request this Court affirm the trial court's dismissal of each of them in 

their entirety-as either a plaintiff or a defendant-in Paul's complaint. Victoria's 

Estate and VOR further respectfully request that this Court affirm the award of 

attorney's fees against Paul and Skyline. Finally, VOR respectfully asks that this 

Court affirm the dismissal of the rescission "cla im." 

DATED this 19th day of January, 2024. 
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PETITION: PETITION FOR REMOVAL OF SPECIAL ADMINISTRATOR Page 1 of 3 

ST A TE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

COUNTY OF GRANT 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

ESTATE OF 25PR022-00001 l 

VICTORIA 0. O'FARRELL, 
Deceased. 

PETITION FOR REMOVAL OF 
SPECIAL ADMINISTRATOR 

PURSUANT TO SDCL 29A-3-611 

COMES NOW, Paul O'Farrell whose address is 14551 466th Avenue, Marvin, South 

Dakota 57251, as an interested party of the estate, by and through his attorney of record, David 

A. Geyer of the Delaney, Nielsen & Sannes, P.C. law firm of Sisseton, South Dakota and 

respectfully moves this Court for its Order removing Raymond A. O'Farrell as Special 

Administrator of the above captioned estate pursuant to SDCL 29A-3-6I 1 and 29A-3-618, and in 

support of this Petition shows the Court as follows: 

I. SDCL 29A-3-6l l entitled "Tennination of appointment by removal-Cause; procedure." 
states in part as follows: 

(a) Any interested person may petition for removal of a personal 
representative for cause at any time. 

(b) Cause for removal exists when: 
(1) Removal is in the best interests of the estate. 

2. Raymond A. O'Farrell ("Raymond") and the decedent each owned 50% of the shares of 
vOr, Inc., a family farm corporation organized under the laws of South Dakota. 

3. The decedent and Raymond were Trustors and Trustees of the Raymond and Victoria 
O'Farrell Living Trust ("Trust") dated January 14, 2011 , and amended August 26, 2021. 
The decedent and Raymond collectively owned all of the shares ofvOr, Inc., and jointly 
assigned all of those shares in 2011. 

4. On June 27, 2022, the decedent filed a Summons and Complaint with the case number 

Filed: 9/26/2022 10:32 AM CST Grant County, South Dakota 25PRO22-000011 
- Page 13 -
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25CIV22-000038 along with other documents that commenced an action ("Lawsuit") 
against Raymond and their son, Kelly O'Farrell ("Kelly"). 

5. The Complaint alleges that Raymond purported to reverse his and the decedent's joint 
assignment of shares to the Trust as part of their estate plan, thereby imperiling the estate 
planning objectives which motivated the creation of the Trust in the first place, all 
without the knowledge of the decedent. 

6. In order to accomplish this, the Complaint alleges that Raymond attempted to remove the 
decedent as a director ofvOr, Inc., modify the corporate Bylaws, appoint new officers, 
and vote on all 25,000 shares that were assigned to the Trust, all while the decedent was 
recovering from surgery in the hospital. 

7. Decedent alleged that when she learned what Raymond had done, she spoke with him 
about these acts. She determined that Raymond was being unduly influenced by their son, 
Kelly. 

8. Additionally, decedent alleges that Raymond has refused to provide necessary 
information to the lender to permit vOr, Inc., to refinance, which resulted in vOr, Inc. to 
have allegedly defaulted on two loans. The Complaint alleges this is another byproduct of 
Kelly's undue influence on Raymond. 

9. The decedent requested in her Complaint that the Court find Raymond liable for 
conversion and civil conspiracy and to remove Raymond as Trustee because of actions 
taken in breach of his fiduciary duty. 

I 0. Raymond, as a special administrator, is a fiduciary of the estate who has a duty to settle 
and distribute the estate of the decedent in accordance with the terms of any probated and 
effective will and South Dakota law included SDCL 29A-3-703(a). 

11 . This Lawsuit creates a conflict of interest since the decedent was in the process of suing 
Raymond right before her death for actions he took related to their estate plans without 
her knowledge. 

12. After the decedent's death, Raymond, through his attorney, filed a Suggestion of Death in 
the Lawsuit, triggering the 90 days requirement to file a motion for substitution pursuant 
to SDCL 15-6-25(a)(1 ) to a llow the Lawsuit to continue. Raymond has made no action to 
substitute a party in the Lawsuit. 

13. Raymond, as special administrator, could not substitute himself as the plaintiff in the 
Lawsuit in place of decedent pursuant to SDCL I 5-6-25(a) because Raymond is a 
defendant in this same matter and it would create a conflict of interest. 

2 
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PETITION: PETITION FOR REMOVAL OF SPECIAL ADMINISTRATOR Page 3 of 3 

14. This conflict of interest renders Raymond unable to be a fiduciary of the decedent' s estate 
pursuant to SDCL 29A-3-703(a). 

15. Prior to the decedent's death, the decedent alleged in her Complaint that Raymond had 
breached his fiduciary duty as a trustee of the Trust. 

16. The decedent asserted that Raymond's actions listed above have resulted in the waste and 
mismanagement of vOr Inc. bank accounts so that the checking account was overdrawn 
by $2,800.00 without the knowledge of the decedent. 

17. Since before the decedent's death, she asserted that Raymond has been influenced by 
Kelly to drastically and unlawfully restrict the decedent's access to the Trust and vOr Inc ., 
which interrupted the estate plan that Raymond and the decedent had in place since 20 I I . 

18. Based on decedent's allegations in the Lawsuit, it is clear that Raymond has no intention 
of acting in the best interest of the decedent's estate, and therefore Raymond is unable to 
fulfill his fiduciary duty as Special Administrator. 

19. It is in the best interest of the decedent's estate to remove Raymond A. O'Farrell as 
special administrator of the estate. 

WHEREFORE, Paul O'Farrcll requests that this Court enter its Order as follows: 

A. Enter its Order Removing Raymond A. O'Farrell as Special Administrator of the above 
captioned estate; and 

B. For such other and further relief to which the Petitioner may he entitled. 

Dated this 21, day of September 2022. 

~ ~-~-· ,. ;.-- ~ 
=::La ---- , 

3 

David A. Geyer 
Attorney for Petitioner 
PO Box 9 
520 2nd A venue East 
Sisseton, SD 57262 
(605) 698-7084 
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SUPPLEMENTAL: PETITION FOR APPOINTMENT OF SPECIAL ADMINISTRATOR PURSUANT TO SDCL 29A-
3-614 Page 1 of 1 

STATE Of SOUTH DAKOTA 

COUNTY OF GRANT 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

ESTATE OF 

VICTORIA 0. O'FARRELL, 
Deceased. 

25PRO22-00001 l 

SUPPLEMENT TO PETITION FOR APPOINTMENT OF 
SPECIAL ADMINISTRATOR 

PURSUANT TO SDCL 29A-3-614 

Paul O'Farrell, an interested party in the above-entitled matter, having filed with this 

Court his Petition for Appointment of Special Administrator, by and through his attorney of 

record, submits the following supplement to said petition as follows: 

7. Alternatively, Petitioner moves the Court to appoint Paul O'Farrell and Lance O'Farrell 
as co-Special Administrators in the above-entitled estate. 

8. It is in the best interest of the decedent's estate to appoint Paul O'Farrell and Lance 
O'Farrell as co-Special Administrators because they are familiar with the decedent's 
estate plan and are willing to fulfill their duties according to SDCL 29A-3-703. 

WHEREFORE, Paul O'Farrcll requests that this Court enter its Order as follows: 

C. Alternatively, enter its Order Appointing Paul O'Farrell and Lance O'Farrell as 
co-Special Administrators of the above captioned estate. 

Dated this .i day of October 2022. 

David A. Geyer 
Attorney for Petitioner 
PO Box 9 
520 2nd A venue East 
Sisseton, SD 57262 
(605) 698-7084 
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RESPONSE: RESISTANCE TO PETITION FOR REMOVAL OF SPECIAL ADMINISTRATOR, AND 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE Page 1 of 4 

STATE OF SOUTII DAKOTA 

COUNTY OF GRANT 

ESfATEOF 
VICTORIA 0. O'FARRELL, 

Deceased. 

:ss 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

25PR0.22-11 

RESISTANCE TO PETITION FOR 
REMOVAL OF SPECIAL 

AD:\IIINISTRATOR 

Comes Now Raymond O'Fanell, through his attorneys of record, Lee Schoenbeck 

and Joe Erickson, and resists the Petition for Removal of Special Administrator filed by 

Paul O'Farrell, for the reasons set for below. 

INTRODUCTION 

The particulars of the Petition are addressed below. There are some critical 

introductory matters that the Court needs to be aware of to understand the conte:,,,.t in 

which Paul O'Farrell is making this attack on his father's status as a special 

administrator of his mother's Estate: 

1. Paul O'Farrell has systematically looted his parents' estate, culminating in 

he and his parents' corporation, VOR, Inc., being sued by First Interstate Bank f/k/a 

Great Western Bank, ·which debts totaled in excess of $1.5 million dollars. 

2. Raymond O'Farrell had the assistance of counsel, particularly Susan 

Yexley Jennen, to assist him in protecting his property from the looting efforts of his 

son, Paul. 

3. All the actions that were taken by Raymond were to stop Paul from looting 

Raymond's assets. 

4. Raymond is the beneficiary of his wife's Estate, so Paul attempting to get 
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RESPONSE: RESISTANCE TO PETITION FOR REMOVAL OF SPECIAL ADMINISTRATOR, AND 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE Page 2 of 4 

the Court to remove Raymond, because Raymond won't sue himself for a lawsuit where 

Raymom.l would be lhe ullimale beneficiary of, is ridiculous. 

RESPONSE TO ALLEGATIONS 

Rnymond offers these responses to the nllegntions mnde in the Petition: 

1. Paragraph 1 does not require a response. 

2. Denied. The shares of VOR, Inc. were nol owned individually, bul were 

owned 100% by the Trust. The shares were transferred into the Trust by 

Raymond aml held separalely by Raymond in lhe Trusl. 

3. Denied. See the response to Paragraph 2 above. Additionally, Raymond 

assigned lhe shares lo Lhe Trusl, and Lhey would have been held as his 

separate property within the Trust. 

4. Wilh respecl Lo Lhe Complainl alleged in Paragraph 4, we admil lhal Lhe 

lawsuit was commenced with the influence of Paul upon his mother, 

Victorin, and contains the nllegations reflected in Pnrngmphs 4, 9, 15, 16, 

and 17. 

5. Denied. See respom,e Lo Paragraph 2 above. In .June of 2022, Raymond 

transferred one-half of his shares in VOR, Inc. to himself, personally. 

6. Admil lhe Corporalion removed Paul as a direclor. Admil lhe Corporalion 

modified the Bylaws to move from two directors to four directors. Admit 

lhe Corporalion elecled new officen,. A<lmil Lhal Raymond voled his 

12,500 shares he held individually and his 12,500 shares held in his 

accounl wilhin Lhe Trusl. 

7. Deny, hearsay. 

2 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE Page 3 of 4 

8. Raymond and VOR, Inc. don't have to let Paul and his company continue 

borrowing and looling from his parenls. 

9. See response to Paragraph 4. 

to. Admit. 

11. Denied. There is no conflict of interest, as there is no valid claim for 

Raymond lo asserl againsl himself. 

12. Admit. 

13. Denied. The lawsuil was mool when Victoria <lied, and Raymond has Lhe 

ability and the right to evaluate the allegations and make the appropriate 

<lecisiom;. 

14. Denied. 

15. See response lo Paragraph 4. 

16. See response to Paragraph 4. 

17- See response to Paragraph 4. 

18. Denied. 

19. Denied. 

WHEREFORE, Raymond O'Farrell prays that the Comt dismiss the Petition for 

Removal of Special Adminislralor allempling lo remove him as Lhe special 

administrator of his wife's Estate. 

Dale<l lhis 11th <lay of October, 2022. 

3 

SCHOENBECK& ERICKSON, PC 

/ s / Lee Schoenbeck 

Lee Schoenbeck 
Joe Erickso n 
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RESPONSE: RESISTANCE TO PETITION FOR REMOVAL OF SPECIAL ADMINISTRATOR, AND 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE Page 4 of 4 

Attorneys for Raymond O'Farrell 
1200 Mickebon Dr., STE. 310 
Watertown, SD 57201 
( 605) 886-0010 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I, the undersigned, hereby certify that I have served a hue and correct copy of the 
foregoing Resistance to Petition for Removal of Special Administrator on the following: 

David Geyer 
Delaney, Nielsen & Sannes, PC 
PO I3ox9 
Sisseton, SD ,~7262 
A.llurney fur Paul O'Farrell 

via electronic means, and upon the following: 

Kelly O'Fa rrell 
46658 143rd St. 
Marvin, SD 57251 
Interested Party 

Rita O'Farrell 
36101 Bob Hope Dr., STE. E5 
Rancho Mirage, CA 92270 
Tnterestcd Party 

Marcie Reyelts 
24700 Vi. 26,~Ll, St. 
Paola, KS 66071 
interested Party 

I ,a nee O'Fa rrel 1 
14845 465th Ave. 
South Shore, SD 57263 
Interested Party 

Rita O'Farrell 
4657 Melbourne Ave., Apt. 13 
Los Angeles, CA 90027 
Tntcrcstcd Party 

Marcie Reyelts 
12601 Robinson St., Apt. 11-207 
Overland Park, KS 66:.!13 
interested Party 

by U.S. :\fail, postage prepaid, this n th day of October, 2022. 

4 

/s/ Lee Schoenbeck 
LEE SCHOENBECK 
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RESPONSE: RESISTANCE TO PETITION AND SUPPLEMENT FOR APPOINTMENT OF SPECIAL 
ADMINISTRATOR, AND CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE Page 1 of 2 

STATE OF SOUTII DAKOTA 

COUNTY OF GRANT 

ESfATEOF 
VICTORIA 0. O'FARRELL, 

Deceased. 

:ss 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

25PR0.22-11 

RESISTANCE TO PETITION AND 
SUPPLEMENT FORAPPOINTMENT 

Of SPECIAL ADMINISTRATOR 

Comes Now Raymond O'Fanell, through his attorneys of record, Lee Schoenbeck 

and Joe Erickson, and resists the Petition and Supplement Petition for Appointment of 

Special Administrator filed by Paul O' Farrell, for the reasons set for below. 

1. Raymond O'Farrell incorporates by reference the allegations contained in 

the other Resistances that have been filed by him in this probate and the testimony that 

will be produced before the Court. 

2. Raymond O'Farrell has statutory priority to serve as the special 

administrator of his wife's Estate, and there's no reason to allow Paul O'farrell to have 

any role in the Estate of Victoria O' Farrell, particularly concerning Paul O' Farrell 's 

efforts to loot his parents' estate. 

Dated this 11th day of October, 2022. 

SCHOENBECK& ERICKSON, PC 

/s/ Lee .Schoenbeck 
Lee Schoenbeck 
J oe Erickson 
Attorneys for Raymond O'Farrell 
1200 Mickelson Dr., STE. 310 
Watertown, SD 57201 
(605) 886-0010 
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CERTIFICAIB OF SERVICE 

I, Lhe umlersigne<l, hereby cerlify Lhal I have served a Lrue aml correcl copy of Lhe 
foregoing Resistance to Petition and Supplement for Appointment of Special 
Administrator on the following: 

David Geyer 
Delaney, Nielsen & Sannes, PC 
PO I3ox9 
Sisseton, SD 57262 
Allurney fur Paul O'Farrell 

via electronic means, and upon the following: 

Kelly O'Farrell 
46658 143rd St. 
Marvin, SD 57251 
Interested Party 

Rita O'Farrell 
36101 Bob Hope Dr., STE. E5 
Rancho Mirage, CA 92270 
Inleresled Farly 

Marcie Reyelts 
24700 W. 265th St. 
Paola, KS 66cq1 
Interested Party 

Lance O'Farrell 
14845 465th Ave. 
South Shore, SD 57263 
Interested Party 

Rita O'Farrell 
4657 Melbourne Ave., Apt. 13 
Los Angeles, CA 90027 
Inleresled Farly 

Marcie Reyelts 
12601 Robinson St., Apt. 11-207 
Overland Park, KS 66'.!1 3 
Interested Party 

by U.S. :\fail, postage prepaid, this 11th day of October, 2022. 

2 

/ s/ Lee Schoenbeck 
LEE SCHOENBECK 

Filed: 10/11/2022 3:48 PM CST Grant County, South Dakota 25PRO22-000011 
- Page 43 -

App. 010 



ST A TE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

COUNTY OF GRANT 
:SS 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 

FIRST INTERSTATE BANK, a Montana 
banking corporation, successor by merger to 
GREAT WESTERN BANK. a South Dakota 
banking corporation, 

Plaintiff, 
vs. 

vOr, INC., a South Dakota corporation; and 
SKYLINE CATTLE COMPANY CO. aka 
Skyline Cattle Company, a South Dakota 
corporation 

Defendants . 

25CIV22-000041 ___ CN _______ _ 

COMPLAINT FOR FORECLOSURE 
AND JUDGMENT ON NOTES 

................••••••••••••..•.................•..•.......•••••............... 
NOTICE: PLAINTIFF INTENDS TO SEEK A DEFICIENCY JUDGMENT AGAINST 
THE OBLIGORS OF A PROMISSORY NOTES. THIS COMPLAINT INCLUDES A 
REQUEST FOR THE COURT TO DETERMINE THE FAIR AND REASONABLE 

VALUE OF THE MORTGAGED PREMISES. 

COMES NOW First Interstate Bank ("Bank" or "Plaintiff'), for its Complaint for 

Foreclosure and Judgment on Notes, and states and alleges as follows: 

PARTIES 

1. The Plaintiff, First Interstate Bank. ("Bank" or "Plaintiff'), is a Montana banking 

corporation !llld is successor by merger to Great Western Bank, a South Dakota banking 

corporation, with offices in several locations throughout South Dakota. 

2. Defendant, vOr, Inc. ("vOr") is a South Dakota corporation. Said Defendant's 

rights, if any, to the Mortgaged Property which is the subject of this action, are junior and 

inferior to that of the Plaintiff 

3. Defendant, Skyline Cattle Co. aka Skyline Cattle Company ("Skyline") is a South 

Dakota corporation. Said Defendant's rights, if any, to the Mortgaged Property which is the 

subject of this action, arc junior inferior to that of the Plaintiff. 
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4. Jurisdiction and venue are proper because the transactions giving rise to this 

Complaint occurred in the state of South Dakota and the Property that is the subject of this 

Complaint is within Grant County, South Dakota. 

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

5. On or about January 14, 2003, Defendant, vOr, Look fee simple title by virtue of a 

Quit Claim Deed which was filed at the Grant County Register of Deed's Office on January 15, 

2002, as Document No. 203184, in Book 109 at Page 103 to the Property legally described as: 

Parcel 1: The SE 1/4, except Lot 1, Kane Subdivision, and except the West 
100 feet of the East l33 feet of the South LOO feet of the SE1/4, and except 
Lot H-3, of Section 1, Township 121 North, Range 50 West of the 5th P.M., 
Grant County, South Dakota 

Parcell: The NWI/4 of Section 16, Township 121 North, Range 50 West of 
the 5th. P.M., Grant Cow1ty, South Dakota 

Parcel 3: The S I/2SE1 /4 and the S I /2S W 1/4 of Section 22, and the 
Sl/2NW1f4, and the SI/2NEl/4, and the Nl/2NE1/4, and the SEl/4, except 
Lot 1, Hopewell Subdivision in the SEl /4, and the Nl/2SW1/4 of Section 23, 
all in Township 121 North, Range 50 West of the 51

h P.M., Grant County, 
South Dakota 

Parcel 4: Lot 2A of the Plat of Lots 2A and 2B, O'Farre!l Subdivision, a 
Replat of Lot 2 of the Plat of Lots 1 and 2, O' Farrell Subdivision, located in 
Sl/2SE1/4 of Section 14, Township 12 1 North, Range SO West of the 51

h 

P.M., Grant County, South Dakota 

Parcel S: The S l/2SW1/4 of Section 23, Tov-,nship 121 North, Range 50 
West of the 5ih P.M., Grant County, South Dakota. 

(the "Mortgaged Property''). A copy of the Quit Claim Deed together with the Register of 

Deed's Certificate is attached hereto as Exhibit "l" and by this reference is incorporated herein. 

6. Defendants are engaged in a farming operation upon the Mortgaged Property. 

7. Plaintiff has provided financing to the Defendants evidenced by certain 

Promissory Notes as follows: 

A. A Promissory Note dated February 2, 2011 executed by vOr in favor of 

Plaintiff in the original principal sum of Three Hundred Fifty Thousand, One 

Hundred Eighty-Two and 00/100 Dollars ($350,182.00), as amended by those 

2 
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certain Change in Terms Agreements dated November 4, 2016, December 14, 

2016 and November 30, 2021 (collectively, "Note l''). A copy of the redacted 

Note 1 is attached hereto as Exhibit "2" and by this reference is incorporated 

herein. 

B. A Promissory Note dated February 29, 2016 executed by Skyline in favor of 

Plaintiff in the original principal sum of Six Hundred Thousand a.nd 00/100 

Dollars ($600,000.00), as amended by those certain Change in Tenns 

Agreements dated December 13, 2016, January 10, 2018, and December 15, 

2021 (collectively, "Note 2"). A copy of the redacted Note 2 is attached 

hereto as Exhibit ''3" and by this reference is incorporated herein. 

C. A Promissory Note dated July 9, 2018 executed by Skyline in favor of 

Plaintiff in the original principal sum of Five Hundred Thousand Two 

Hundred Fifty and 00/100 Dollars ($500,250.00), as amended by those certain 

Change in Terms Agreements dated July 10, 2018, February 5, 2019, January 

27, 2020, February 13. 2020, March 31, 2021 and December 15, 2021 

(collectively, ''Note 3"). A copy of the redacted Note 3 is attached hereto as 

Exhibit "4" and by this reference is incorporated herein. 

D. A Promissory Note dated December 28, 2018 executed by Skyline in favor of 

Plaintiff in the original principal sum of Three Hundred Thousand, Two 

Hundred Fifty and 00/100 Dollars ($300,250.00) ("Note 4"). A copy of the 

redacted Note 4 is attached hereto as Exhibit "5" and by this reference is 

incorporated herein. 

E. A Promissory Note dated January 31, 2019 executed by vOr in favor of 

Plaintiff in the original principal sum of Three Hundred Thousand, Two 

Hundred Fifty and 00/100 Dollars ($300,250.00) ("Note 5") A copy of the 

redacted Note 5 is attached hereto as Exhibit "6" and by this reference is 

incorporated herein. 

F. A Promissory Note dated May 6, 2021 executed by Skyline in favor of 

Plaintiff in the original principal sum of Two Hundred Fifty Thousand, One 

Hundred Forty-Nine and 99/100 Dollars ($250,149.99) ("Note 6,'' and 

3 
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together with Notes 1-5, the "Notes"). A copy of the redacted Note 6 is 

attached hereto as Exhibit "7" and by this reference is incorporated herein. 

8. To secure payment of the Notes, vOr executed and delivered to Plaintiff that 

certain Mortgage dated February 2, 2011 which Mortgage was recorded February 4, 2011, as 

Document No. 221384 in Book 382 at Page 332 of the Grant County Register of Deed's Office, 

upon the Mortgaged Property, which Mortgage was modified by that certain Addendum to 

Collateral Real Estate Mortgage dalt:d January 15, 2016 and recorded January 22, 2016 as 

Document No. 230549 in Book 422 at Page 351 in the Grant County Register of Deed's Office, 

and further modified by that certain Addendum to Collateral Real Estate Mortgage dated 

December 1, 2020, and recorded December 2, 2020 as Document No. 240244 in Book 466 at 

Page 454 in the Grant County Register of Deed's Office, as further modified by that certain 

Modification of Mortgage dated January 27, 2020 and recorded January 31, 2020 as Document 

No. 238518 at Book 454 at Page 941 in the Grant County Register of Deed's Office, as further 

modified by that certain Modification of Mortgage dated March 31, 2021 which was recorded 

April 15, 2021 at Document 241042 in Book 470 at Page 433 in the Grant County Register of 

Deed's Office on the parcels (the Mortgage and all Addendums and Modifications, collectively, 

"Mortgage l''). Mortgage l is a first lien upon the parcels. A true and correct copy of the 

redacted Mortgage t, together with the Register of Deed's Certificate thereon is attached hereto 

as Exhibit "8" and by this reterence is incorporated herein. 

9. To secure payment of the Notes, vOr executed and delivered to Plaintiff one 

certain Mortgage-Collateral Real Estate Mortgage dated August 3, 2015 which Mortgage was 

recorded August 3, 2015, as Document No. 229676 in Book 418 at Page 615 of the Grant County 

Register of Deed's Office, upon the Mortgaged Property, which Mortgage was modified by that 

certain Modification of Mortgage dated January 31, 2019 and recorded February 4, 2019 as 

Document No. 236760 at Book 446 at Page 672 in the Grant County Register of Deed ' s Office, 

as further modified by that certain Modification of Mortgage dated March 31, 202 l and recorded 

April 15, 2021 as Document No. 241043 at Book 470 at Page 448 in the Grant County Register 

of Deed' s Office, and as further modified by that certain Addendum to ColJateral Real Estate 

Mortgage dated June 30, 2020 and recorded July l, 2020 as Document No. 1013958 in Book 460 

at Page 752 in the Grant County Register of Deed's Office (the Mortgage and all Addendums 

and Modifications, collectively, "Mortgage 2", and collectively with Mortgage l , the Mortgage). 

4 
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Mortgage 2 is a second lien upon the parcels. A true and con·ect copy of the redacted Mortgage 

2, together with the Register of Deed's Certificate thereon is attached hereto as Exhibit "9" and 

by this reference is incorporated herein. 

10. The Notes and Mortgages provide that in case of default the holder may declare 

the entire principal and the interest accrued thereon due and payable and lhe Mortgages may be 

foreclosed. 

11. There has been a failure to pay the Notes and interest thereon as provided by the 

terms of the Notes and Mortgages. 

12. On or about May 2, 2022, Plaintiff sent demands for payment to the Defendants 

on the Notes. Copies of the redacted demand letters are attached hereto as Exhibits "10" through 

"15" and by this reference is incorporated herein. 

13. The Defendant have failed or refused to pay the sums demanded in said demand 

letters. 

14. On June 3, 2022, the South Dakota Department of Agriculture and Natural 

Resources issued an Agricultural Mediation Release with respect to the Defendants pursuant to 

SDCL §§ 54-13 and 54-13-1 in connection with above-described Notes, Mortgages, aml demand 

letters. A true and correct copy of said Agricultural Mediation Release is attached hereto as 

Exhibit "16" and by this reference is incorporated herein. 

15. In order to commence this foreclosure proceeding, the Plaintiff has incurred costs 

and attorneys' fees and costs, which includes the sum of Three Hundred Sixty Two and l 0/ l 00 

Dollars ($362. I 0) expended for a title report. Plaintiff is entitled to a judgment for costs and 

accruing costs, and also reasonable attomeys' tees and costs. 

COUNT I-FORECLOSURE 

16. Plaintiff incorporates by reference herein the allegations contained in the 

foregoing paragraphs. 

17. The Plaintiff reserves the right to pursue deficiency against the Defendants and 

recognizes their right of redemption, which length of redemption shall be later detennined by the 

court under applicable law. 

18. The Plaintiff is the holder of the Notes and Mortgages, and due demand has been 

made for payment and payment has been refused. 

5 
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19. No proceedings at law or otherwise for the recovery of the debt evidenced by the 

Note and the Mortgage have been had. 

20. By reason of the failure to pay the Notes and interest, the Plaintiff has elected and 

does hereby elect in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Notes to declare the whole 

of the Notes due and payable forthwith and to exercise its right to enforce payment of the entire 

Notes as provided by the Notes and to foreclose the Mortgages given to secure the same. 

21. The total unpaid balance of the Notes as of April 12, 2022 after allowing all 

credits due lo the Defendants, is $2,116,920.08, with aggregate accruing interest thereafter of 

$259.63271 per diem, as follows: 

A. Note l: The sum of One Hundred Ten Thousand, Two Hundred Nincty~Two 

and 49/100 Dollars ($110,292.49) which sum includes interest calculated at 

the current contractual rate through April 12, 2022. Interest continues to 

accrue on the unpaid principal balance at the rate of $13.50795 per diem; 

B. Note 2: The sum of Four Hundred Forty-Three Thousand, Four Hundred 

Thirty-Six and 12/IO0 Dollars ($443,436.1 2) which sum includes interest 

calculated at the current contractual rate through April 12, 2022. Interest 

con6nues to accrue on the unpaid principal balance at the rate of $69.46196 

per diem; 

C. Note 3: The sum of Two Hundred Twenty-Seven Thousand, Five Hundred 

Eighty-Four and 66/100 Dollars ($227,584.66) which sum includes interest 

calculated at the current contractual rate through April 12, 2022. Interest 

continues to accrue on the unpaid principal balance at the rate of $29.85501 

per diem; 

D. Note 4: The sum of Two Hundred Ninety-Three Thousand, One Hundred 

Fifty-Two and 111100 Dollars ($293,152.ll) which sum includes interest 

calculated at the current contractual rate through April 12, 2022. Interest 

continues to accrue on the unpaid principal balance at the rate of $44.76377 

per diem; 

E. Note 5: The sum of Two Hundred Eighty Fourth Tuousand Two Hundred 

Forty Seven and 30/100 Dollars ($284,247.30) which sum includes interest 

calculated at the current contractual rate through April 12, 2022. Interest 
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continues to accrue on the unpaid principal balance at the rate of $51.07344 

per diem; 

F. Note 6: The sum of Two Hundred Fifty-Nine Thousand, Two Hundred 

Seventy-Two and 47/100 Dollars ($259,272.47) which sum includes interest 

calculated at the current contractual rate through April 12, 2022. Interest 

continues to accrue on the unpaid principal balance at the rate of $26. 75215 

per diem. 

22. A Receiver may he necessary and is allowed if requested by the Plaintiff pursuant 

to the terms of the Mortgages. 

23. The Plaintiff is entitled to recover attorneys• fees and costs as provided in the 

Notes and Mortgages. 

COUNT 2 - JUDGMENT ON THE NOTE 

24. Plaintiff incorporates by reference herein the allegations contained in the 

foregoing paragraphs. 

25. Plaintiff is entitled to an in personam deficiency judgment against the Defendant, 

vOr, for such deficiency as may remain owing on the Note 1 and Note 5 indebtedness after 

application of the foreclosure sale proceeds. 

26. Plaintiff is entitled to an in personam deficiency against the Defendant, Skyline, 

for such deficiency as may remain owing on the Note 2, 3, 4 and 6 indebtedness after application 

of the foreclosure sale proceeds. 

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff, First Interstate Bank, prays for the folJo,,..,ing: 

A. A judgment for the sums prayed for in this Complaint will be entered in rem against 
the Mortgaged Property legally described as: 

Parcel 1: The SEl/4, except Lot I, Kane Subdivision, and except the 
West 100 feet of the East 133 feet of the South 100 feet of the SEl/4, and 
except Lot H-3, of Section 1, Township 121 North, Range 50 West of the 
5th P.M ., Grant County, South Dakota 

Parcel 2: The NWl/4 of Section 16, Township 121 North, Range 50 
West of the 5th P.M., Grant County, South Dakota 

Parcel 3: The Sl/2SE1/4 and the S1/2SW1/4 of Section 22, and the 
Sl/2NW1/4, and the St /2NE1/4, and the Nl/2NEV4, and the SEl/4. 
except Lot l , Hopewell Subdivision in the SEl/4, and the Nl/2SWI/4 of 
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Section 23. all in Township 121 North, Range 50 West of the 5 th P.M., 
Grant County, South Dakota 

Parcel 4: Lot 2A of the Plat of Lots 2A and 2B, O'Farrell Subdivision, a 
Replat of Lot 2 of the Plat of Lots 1 and 2, O'Farrel\ Subdivision, located 
in Sl/2SEJ/4 of Section 14, Township 121 North, Range 50 West of the 
5th P.M., Grant County, South Dakota 

Parcel 5: The S l/2S W 1/4 of Section 23, Township 121 North, Range 50 
West of the 5tn P.M., Grant County, South Dakota. 

B. That said judgment be declared a lien upon the Mortgaged Property from 
the date of the Plaintiff's Mortgage I and Mortgage 2, prior and superior 
to any right, title, lien or interest of the Defendants or any of them therein; 

C. That the Plaintiff's Mortgages be foreclosed; 

D. That any right, title, lien or interest of the Defendants in said Mortgaged 
Property be declared junior and inferior to the lien of Plaintiff's 
Mortgages; 

E. For the Court to determine the fair and reasonable value of the Mortgaged 
Property; 

F. That an Order be issued by the Court for the sale of the Mortgaged 
Property or so much thereof a<, may be necessary to satisfy the judgment 
including interest, cosls, and accruing costs up to and including the sale, 

G. That such sale be subject to easements, reservations, declarations of 
restrictions and covenants to run with the land; that from and after said 
sale under Court Order, the right, title, lien or interest of the Defendants in 
and to the Mortgaged Property be forever cut off, barred and foreclosed, 
and the purchaser at said sale take free and clear of any right, title, lien or 
interest of the Defendants; 

H. That if the Court determines the fair and reasonable value of the 
Mortgaged Property to be less than the in rem judgment entered in favor 
of Plaintiff thereupon. that Plaintiff be authorized bid not less than Lhe fair 
and reasonable value of the Property as thus detennined at the sale of the 
Property; 

l. That iC pursuant to the Court' s authorization, the Plaintiff bids less than 
the sum of the judgments for the Property, such sale proceeds be applied 
to Plaintiffs in rem judgment; 
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J. If a deficiency remains after application of the sale proceeds, that a 
judgment for the deficiency amount be entered in personam against the 
Defendants, and that Plaintiff be entitled to a general execution for such 
deficiency upon application to the Court; and 

K. That a receiver be appointed upon request of the Plaintiff. 

The Plaintiff further prays for a Writ of Possession to be issued under the seal of this 

Court, directed to the Sheriff of Grant County, South Dakota, commanding him or her to put the 

purchaser at said sale under Court Order or a successor in interest in the possession of the 

Mortgaged Property. 

The Plaintiff lurther prays for such other and further relief as the Court may deem just 

and equitable under the circumstances. 

' ,r; !'j ~ ... ~• 

Dated this {_; I./ day of July, 2022. 

FIRST INTERSTATE HANK, a Montana banking 
corporation, successor by merger to GREAT WESTERN 
BANK, a South Dakota banking corporation, Plaintiff. 

f} /) ./-/ 
By: . l - -·t.-- (/ L { :.;z_ .. ,,,/\._ ..... ~(,;7 

Cra A. Knickrehm, Attorney at Law (#4908) 
Andrew R. Biehl, Attorney at Law (#4948) 
WALENTINE O'TOOLE, LLP 
11240 Davenport Street, P.O. Box 540125 
Omaha, NE 68154-0125 
402-330-6300 FAX: 402-330-6303 
cknickrehm(ii)walentincotoole.com 
abiehli"Zihvaientincotook.c()m 
ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF 
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FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT NOTICE 

This oommunication is an attempt to collect a debt and any information obtained will be used for 
that purpose. Unless, within thirty (30) days after your receipt of this Nolice, you dispute the 
validity of the debt, or any portion thereof, the deb! will be assumed to be valid by us. If you 
notify us in writing within such thirty (30) day period that the debt, or any portion thereof, is 
disputed, we will obtain verification of the debt and mail a copy of 5uch verifKation to you. Upon 
your written request within the thirty (30) day period, we will provide you with the name and 
address of the original creditor, if different from the current credilor. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, this letter may contain a demand for payment within a period of 
time shorter than thirty (30) days, and the Creditor is entitled to proceed with its collection efforts 
if you fuil 10 1:omply with it, demand. Creditor is required to cease collection effons 2!ID'. dwing 
the time period after you dispute the validity of the debt and before Creditor provides verification 
to you. 

NOTICE: If the liability for this loan has been discharged in a personal Chapter 7 or Chapter 13 
bankruptcy case, please be ad~ised that we wiD not make a personal claim against that party for tile 
amounts due and owing on the loan. We will, however, seek any recovery solely from the property 
tliat was pledged as sec11rity for the debt. 

10 

Filed: 7125/2022 3:08 PM CST Grant County, South Dakota 25CIV22-000041 

App. 190 
App. 020 



INTHE 

~upreme <!Court 
of tbe 

~tate of ~outb ~akota 

No. 30482 

PA UL O 'FARRELL, individually; and, as a beneficiary of the family 
trust; and, for the benefit of The Estate of Victoria O 'Farrell; 
SKYLINE CA TILE COMPANY, a South Dakota corporation; & 
VOR, INC, a South Dakota corporation 

PLAINTIFFS/ APPELLANTS 

vs. 

KELLY O'FARRELL, an individual; GRAND VALLEY 
HUTTERIAN BRETHREN, INC.; a South Dakota corporation; and 
THE RAYMOND AND VICTORIA O'FARRELL LIVING 
TRUST, a South Dakota trust; RAYMOND O'FARRELL, 
individually; as Trustee; and as Special Administrator of the Estate of 
Victoria O'Farrell; and VOR, INC (by Raymond O'Farrell). 

DEFENDANTS/ APPELLEES 

An appeal from the Circuit Court, Third Judicial Circuit 
Codington County, South Dakota 

The Hon. Robert L. Spears 
CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE 

APPELLANTS' REPLY BRIEF 

Submitted by: 
Daniel K. Brendtro; Mary Ellen Dirksen; Benjamin Hummel 

Hovland, Rasmus, Brendtro & Trzynka, Prof. LLC 
P.O. Box 2583 

Sioux F alls, SD 57101 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs/Appellants: Paul QJFarrell Skyline Cattle Companyy and VORY Inc. 

Filed: 2/20/2024 6:03 PM CST Supreme Court, State of South Dakota #30482 



Notice of Appeal filed on October 6, 2023 

Lee Schoenbeck 
Joseph Erickson 
Schoenbeck & Erickson, PC 
1200 Mickelson Dr., Ste. 310 
Watertown, SD 57201 
lee@schoenbecklaw.com 
joe@schoenbecklaw.com 
Counsel for the Raymond and Victoria O'Farrell Living Trust, and, the Estate 
ofVictoria O'Farrell (and for Raymond O'Farrell individually, as, Special 
Administrator of the Estate; and as Trustee), and as asserted counsel for VOR, 
Inc., by and through Raymond O'Farrell. 

Reed Rasmussen 
Kiera Leddy 
Siegel, Barnett & Schutz, LLP 
PO Box 490 
Aberdeen, SD 57 402 
Rrasmussen@sbslaw.net 
kleddy@s bslaw .net 
Counsel for Grand Valley Hutterian Brethren, Inc. 

William G. Beck 
Seth A. Lopour 
Woods, Fuller, Shultz & Smith, PC 
300 S. Phillips Ave., Ste. 300 
Sioux Falls, SD 57117 
billbeck@woodsfuller.com 
seth.lopour@woodsfuller.com 
Counsel for Grand Valley Hutterian Brethren, Inc. 



Jack Hieb 
Richardson Law Firm 
1 Court Street 
P.O. Box 1030 
Aberdeen, SD 57402-1030 
jhieb@rwwsh.com 
Counsel for Kelly O'Farrell 

Lance O' Farrell 
15196-455th Ave. 
Summit, SD 57266 
Potential Interested Party 

Marcie Reyelts 
24700 w. 265th St. 
Paola, KS 66071 
Potential Interested Party 

Rita O'Farrell 
4657 Melbourne Ave., #13 
Los Angeles, CA 90027, 
Potential Interested Party 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

TABLE OF CONTENTS ............................................................................ i 

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES ..................................................................... iii 

ARGUMENT-IN-REPLY ......................................................................... 4 

CONCLUSION ........................................................................................ 27 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE ........................................................ 28 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE .................. .... .... .... .................................... 28 

1 



TABLE OF AUTHORITIES 

South Dakota Supreme Court Opinions 

Arnoldy v. Mahoney, 
2010 S.D. 89, 791 N.W.2d 645 ................................................................... 10, 11, 12 

Cable v. Union Cty. Bd. of Cty. Com )rs) 
2009 S.D. 59, 769 N.W.2d 817 ............................................................................. 10 

Carver v. Heikkila, 
465 N.W.2d 183,185 (S.D 1991) .......................................................................... 23 

D. G. v. D.M.K. 
1996 S.D.144, 557 N.W.2d 235 ............................................................................. ll 

Gronau v. Weubker, 
2003 S.D. 116,670 N.W.2d 380 ........................................................................... 25 

In re Baby Boy K., 
1996 S.D. 33, 546 S.D. 33 ..................................................................................... 11 

Matter of Est. ofCalvin, 
2021 S.D. 45, 963 N.W.2d 319 .................................................................................... 8 

Matter of Estate of Jones, 
2022 S.D. 9,970 N.W.2d 520 ....................................................... ............ ........... 24 

Matter of Est. ofTank, 
2023 S.D. 59, 998 N.W.2d 109 ................................................................................ 4, 6 

North American Truck & Trailer, Inc.) v. MCI, 
2008 S.D. 45, 751 N.W.2d 710 ...................................................... ............ ........... 14 

United States v. State, 
1999 S.D. 94,598 N.W.2d 208 ..................................................... ............ ........... 23 

Other State Court Cases: 

Barefoot v. Jennings) 
456 P.3d 447 (Cal. 2020) ............................................................... ............ ............. 9 

Drakev.Pinkham) 
217 Cal.App.4th 400 (2013) .................................................................................. 10 

Matter of Adoption of Baby Boy D, 
1985 OK 93, 742 P.2d 1059 .................................................................................. 10 

Starr v. Ashbrook, 
304 Cal. Rptr. 3d 275 (2023) ........................................................................ 8, 9, 10 

Federal Court Cases 

Flast v. Cohen, 
392 U.S. 83 (1968) ............................................................ ................... ........... 10 

11 



Statutes: 

SDCL § 15-6-8 ................................................................................................. 14, 23 
SDCL § 15-12-21 .................................................................................................... 26 
SDCL § 15-12-23 ................................................................................................... 26 
SDCL § 15-17-51 .................................................................................................... 25 
SDCL § 20-llA-2 .................................................................................................. 18 
SDCL § 21-24-7 .......................................................................................... 12, 16, 21 
SDCL § 21-24-12 ................................................................................................... 12 

111 



ARGUMENT-IN-REPLY 

The Appellees offer a total of twelve responsive arguments in their 

briefs (seven by the Colony, five by Raymond). For structure here, we first 

follow the numbering of the Colony's seven arguments, and then turn to 

Raymond's. However, we will address Raymond's arguments in 

conjunction with the Colony> s in the few instances where they overlap. 

1. Paul has not "waived all claims in this action and the other, 
related actions,, by failing to list the elements of tort claims 
against Kelly 

Pleading an independent tort claim against a wrongdoer is not a 

prerequisite for undue influence claims. E.g.) Matter of Est. of Tank) 2023 

S.D. 59, <jf 35 (listing elements). Yet, this is the premise behind Section 1 of 

the Colony's brief (pp.11-13). 

In its Section 1, the Colony first faults Paul's Complaint for failing to 

"list out the elements of each tort" and failing to "plead facts in support [his 

tort] claims against Kelly." Colony's Brief, p.12. The Colony claims that, 

as a result, Paul "has not sufficiently pied facts to survive the Motions to 

Dismiss" and, ergo, "the lower court properly dismissed all claims against 

Kelly." Colony's Brief, p.13. 

This is an unusual argument to make for two reasons. First, elements 
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are law) not facts. Thus, not listing elements) i.e., the law) is different than a 

failure to list any facts. 

This argument is also unusual because the Colony is attempting to 

make it on behalf of Kelly, who has not appeared in this appeal, and, who 

filed his own Answer to the Complaint, [R.187-199, "Separate Answer and 

Counterclaim of Defendant Kelly O'Farrell"]. Kelly sufficiently 

understood the relief being alleged: he interposed affirmative defenses 

against them, [R.188], and responded to the facts in 114 detailed paragraphs. 

[R.188-195]. Kelly is the only party who would be aggrieved by the wording 

the claims against him in Count 3. His Answer is proof that he understood 

what was being alleged, and what he should defend against. 

Furthermore, none of the parties below filed, noticed, or briefed a 

motion seeking dismissal of Paul's tort claims against Kelly.1 In short, Kelly 

did not voice the arguments and concerns that the Colony raises in Section 1, 

and, he waived such arguments by filing an Answer rather than a motion. 

Paul and Skyline's allegations against Kelly are simple: that his 

misconduct amounted to tortious interference with Paul's and Skyline's 

1 SeeJ [R.200] (Colony's motion sought "dismissal of Plaintiffs' Complaint against Grand 
Valley"); [R.131] (Raymond's motion sought dismissal of Count 3 as to "his" entities, but 
not as to Kelly). 
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business relationships with VOR. This is not a complicated or novel 

allegation. Failing to list the elements of a cause of action does not require its 

dismissal under Rule 12(b)(5). Appellees offer no authority to the contrary, 

and they do not even argue that the facts of the Complaint would not satisfy 

the elements of tortious interference. 

The Colony then morphs its argument, claiming that Paul's alleged 

failure to plead Count 3 sufficiently against Kelly results in a procedural 

default of all other claims, including undue influence. In the Colony's words, 

"the entire foundation for this case (and the others) cannot be established as 

a matter oflaw," if valid, independent tort claims cannot be pursued against 

Kelly. 

But the elements of undue influence do not require a viable tort claim 

against the influencer. See) Matter of Est. ofTankJ 2023 S.D. 59, <jf 35. At 

most, the third element requires "a disposition to do so for an improper 

purpose." Id. Proving undue influence is not dependent upon any 

independent tort. Nor are independent torts required as predicate offenses 

to the other claims that Paul raises: Raymond's lack of capacity; VOR's 

failure to follow corporate procedure and notice provisions; illegality of trust 

transfers; and declarations as to Paul's lease, occupancy, and equitable 
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rights. In short, Issue 1 of the Colony's brief does not support dismissal of 

the Complaint. 

2. Paul and Skyline have standing to pursue declaratory and 
tort relief. 

Section 2 of the Colony's brief questions Paul's standing to pursue his 

claims. The Colony recites some of the pertinent case law, but then 

narrowly focuses its analysis upon the claim that "Paul has no enforceable 

interest until the Trust becomes irrevocable upon Ray's death," and, that 

Paul is not the current Trustee. Colony's Brief, p.14. 

A portion of Raymond's brief (Section 1) also makes a similar standing 

argument. See) p.10 (Paul lacks standing because he ('only had an 

expectation of an inheritance"); p.14 C'Paul is not a beneficiary under the 

Revocable Trust until Raymond passes away."); p.12 (listing elements of 

standing but then failing to apply the elements). 

Neither of the Appellees squarely address the business injuries alleged 

by Paul and Skyline. See) Paul's Brief, p.38 C'value of capital 

improvements"); p.39 (the ('occupancy rights" of Paul and Skyline, and 

"the trajectory of their twenty-year farming partnership"); p.39 (" any 

damages suffered by Paul"). Those injuries offer an independent basis for 
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standing, regardless of any discussion about Paul's role as a beneficiary. 

Likewise, neither of the Appellees refute Paul's argument that he has 

standing premised upon his role as Successor Trustee, and Paul's assertion 

that Raymond is no longer able to continue in that role. [R.11]; Paul's Brief, 

p.24. 

Nor do the Appellees refute that Paul has standing to assert that he 

was improperly removed as President ofVOR. See) Paul's Brief, p.39. 

Nor do the Appellees refute the special exception created in Matter of 

Est. of Calvin for a beneficiary to pursue relief when "the trustee is 

improperly refusing or neglecting to bring an action, or if the trustee is 

unavailable or unable to act .... " See) Paul's Brief, p.40. 

Instead, the Appellees concentrate their arguments upon the general 

rule that a beneficiary of a revocable trust does not have rights in the trust 

during the trustor's lifetime. Yet, even this general rule has exceptions, 

including when competency and undue influence are at issue. 

For example, courts have held that a beneficiary of a revocable trust has 

standing during the trustor's lifetime in when seeking to challenge trust 

actions which are the result of undue influence or incompetence. Starr v. 

Ashbrook, 304 Cal. Rptr. 3d 275, 288 (2023), as modified on denial of reh'g 
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Gan. 26, 2023), review denied (Apr. 12, 2023) ("Jonathan's allegations that 

Arnold is incompetent, accepted as true, support Jonathan's standing to 

bring the petition. Jonathan must, at some point, prove Arnold's 

incompetence, but that is for a later day."); accord) Barefoot v. Jennings) 456 

P.3d 447, 450 (Cal. 2020) (settlor's exclusive standing to pursue trust claims 

applies "as long as settlor is alive .. . and the settlor is competent") ( emphasis 

added). "[W]e permit those whose well-pleaded allegations show that they 

have an interest in a trust-because the amendments purporting to 

disinherit them are invalid-to petition the probate court." Id.J at 451. This 

exception is necessary to protect vulnerable parties, their assets, and their 

intended heirs. 

In the Starr v. Ashbrook case, a beneficiary of a revocable trust alleged 

that that his father, the settlor, "is no longer competent and is subject to 

fraud and undue influence[,] ... .lacks legal capacity ... and cannot presently 

revoke the Trust." 304 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 287. The son's standing was 

disputed because, like here, the trust was revocable and the settlor was still 

living. The Court of Appeal found the allegations of undue influence and 

competency to be sufficient to confer standing upon the son, (' subject to his 

ability to meet his ultimate burden of proving [his father's] incompetence." 
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Starr, 87 Cal. App. 5th 999, 1016 ( citing Drake v. Pinkham) 217 Cal.App.4th 

400, 408-409 (2013)). 

Both Appellees focus upon the number of steps that must be 

completed prior to Paul's ability to achieve complete relief. But that is not 

the question here, and, neither of the Appellees addresses the sliding scale of 

proof required for standing at various stages of the proceeding. E.g.) Cable v. 

Union Cty.J 2009 S.D. 59, <jf<jf 22-23 (cited on page 38 of Paul's brief). The 

Starr case from California highlights the use of that principle: if the 

pleadings themselves suggest standing, then, the litigant has standing to 

proceed, subject to proving up the basis for it later. 

Finally, the South Dakota case of Arnoldy v. Mahoney, 2010 S.D. 89 

offers an analogous (procedurally and legally complicated) multi-party case 

in which standing was at issue. There, a would-be sheriff's sale purchaser 

used a declaratory judgment action to challenge the validity of the actions 

which led to another party's efforts at redemption, including challenging 

transactions to which he was not a party. Arnoldy's potential claim (with an 

equitable interest in the property, and potential financial detriment to him), 

was sufficient to confer standing. Here, Paul has an equitable interest in this 

land (because of the improvements he made, and he faces financial 
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detriment from the termination of the farming relationship and sale of the 

ground). 

"We do not consider whether the party filing the challenge 'will 

ultimately be entitled to any relief but whether he has the legal right to seek 

judicial redress for his grievance.'" Arnoldy, 2010 S.D. 89, <jf 27 (quoting 

D.G. v. D.M.K., 1996 S.D. 144, <jf 22 (quoting In re Baby Boy K., 1996 S.D. 

33, <jf 14). "In examining South Dakota statutes and case law, it is apparent 

that a declaratory judgment action is not precluded even when there may be 

jurisdiction in another action." Arnoldy) <jf 18. 

"When standing is placed in issue in a case, the question is whether 

the person whose standing is challenged, is a proper party to request an 

adjudication of a particular issue and not whether the issue itself is 

justiciable." Flast v. Cohen, 392 U.S. 83, 99-100 (1968) (quoted favorably in 

Matter of Adoption of Baby Boy D., 1985 OK 93, <jf 14, which in turn was a key 

standing case cited in In re Baby Boy K., 1996 S.D. 33, <jf 14). "'Standing' is 

the right to commence litigation, to take the initial step that frames legal 

issues for ultimate adjudication by a court or jury." Matter of Adoption of 

Baby Boy D., 1985 OK 93, <jf 15, 742 P.2d 1059, 1062 (overruled on other 

grounds). 
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There, this Court held that ' [ t ]he real party in interest requirement 

for standing is satisfied if the litigant can show that he personally has 

suffered some actual or threatened injury as a result of the putatively illegal 

conduct of the defendant." Arnoldy) <jf 19. Paul and Skyline meet that test. 

Or, using the elements of standing, Paul and Skyline show: (i) numerous 

injuries-in-fact (listed above, and, on pages 38 to 40 ); (ii) the cause of those 

(undue influence; lack of capacity; ultra vires corporate acts); and, (iii) their 

putative redressability (rescission; voiding instruments and actions; 

replacement of Raymond as trustee; and equitable and tort damages). 

The Colony attempts to obfuscate the inquiry by a claiming that Paul 

cannot seek declaratory relief and a rescission "because he was not a party to 

the contract." Colony's Brief, p.15. But, that is not the test for standing. 

And, again, the Colony cites no authority that an interested non-party is 

precluded from relief. (Indeed, if Paul is legally excluded from pursuing 

rescission as a matter oflaw, such as via Chapter 53-11, then he would not 

have an adequate remedy at law, and, would qualify for rescission as a matter 

of equity.) However, Paul also alleges in his Complaint that he is bona fide 

officer of VOR, Inc., who, but for his wrongful ouster, has such authority. 

Or, we can look again to the Arnoldy Court, which analogized to 
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unsuccessful construction bidder cases, in which standing is bestowed for 

third-parties to challenge agreements (to which they are not parties) when 

they are tainted by wrongful conduct which undermines the objective and 

integrity of the process. Id.) <jf 29. 

Beyond Paul's and Skyline's standing, the Appellees debate whether 

Paul is a proper party to pursue claims on behalf of his mother>s Estate, the 

Trust, or VOR, Inc. Paul has outlined his legal theory as to why he can 

pursue those. 

But, since this is a declaratory judgment action, it does not matter 

whether Paul is deputized to pursue them. Each of those parties would be 

necessary parties to Paul> s declaratory action -whether as plaintiff or 

defendant. Thus, each of those parties shall be joined to this action, whether 

represented by Paul or someone else. SDCL 21-24-7. And, at the 

conclusion of the declaratory action, the Circuit Court will have the power 

to award "further relief based on a declaratory judgment ... whenever 

necessary or proper.>, SDCL 21-24-12. Thus, as long as Paul has standing 

to bring his own claims (and Skyline>s), the presence of these other parties 

and the relief forthcoming to them is intrinsic and incidental. 

Paul has standing as it is defined by this Court. 
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3. The Colony argues (repeatedly and without any 
authority) that rescission claims must be pied with 
particularity 

The recurring theme in Sections 3, 4, and 5 of the Colony's brief is 

that rescission claims must be pied with special facts and heightened 

specificity. In Section 3, for example, the Colony demands that Paul provide 

extensive facts in order to survive a motion to dismiss. See) e.g.) p.18 ("No 

showing was pied in Paul's Complaint [ that he] engaged in 'reasonable 

diligence' to restore value to Brethren"); p.21 ("Paul did not plead that 

Brethren connived ... "); p.24 ("Paul's Complaint failed to plead sufficient 

grounds for the lower court to determine whether undue influence was an 

appropriate ground for recission .... "); p.25 ("Paul has failed to properly 

plead the basic and fundamental requirements of a rescission action"). 2 

But the Colony does not cite authority for heightened pleading 

requirements, and, counsel for Paul has been unable to find any. In contrast, 

Rule 8 does not require copious details within a Complaint, and, instead asks 

2 The Colony also attempts to assert facts, such as that "Paul has no authority or means to 
restore the $3.2 million to Brethren on behalf of VOR," and "has not tendered any evidence 
or allegation that he has the means." Colony's Brief, p. 19. Factual allegations like this are, 
by definition, beyond the scope of a motion to dismiss. The Colony claims Paul is not the 
President of VOR, attempting to shoehorn facts into the Record from the Secretary of 
State's filings. Those filings showing Raymond as president are not probative, and, in fact, 
are circumstantial evidence of Paul's claims: that he was the President, and then was 
improperly removed. Again, this is not an appropriate use of public records in a motion to 
dismiss. 
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only or "a short and plain statement." SDCL 15-6-8 (a). Rule 8 further 

explains that the averments "shall be simple, concise, and direct. No 

technical forms of pleading or motions are required." SDCL 15-6-8(a)(l). 

Under our Rules, there is only one type of case which must be pied 

"with particularity," namely, Rule 9(b) for allegations of fraud. But even 

this requirement has been tempered by this Court, and only "requires 

slightly more notice than would be forthcoming under Rule 8." North 

American Truck & Trailer) Inc.) v. MC~ 2008 S.D. 45, <jf 9. And, in such 

fraud cases, the Complaint is sufficient if it alleges "all of the essential 

elements". Id.) <jf 10. If alleging "the elements" is the heightened standard, 

then, in non-fraud cases, the elements are not required, and, it is sufficient to 

offer a (c short plain statement." Paul's Complaint suffices. 

4. Paul's Complaint is not defective for failing to name 
various other parties. 

Commensurate with this strain of(' particularity" argument, the 

Colony also asserts that Paul fails to state a claim for rescission because he 

(' failed to name all parties in the rescission action and the notice of 

rescission .... " Colony's Brief, p.20. See) also) p.25-26 (arguing, in essence, 

that Defendants need not file a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to get relief via 
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12(b)(6)). This argument is made in Section 4 of the Colony's brief, and 

again in Section 7. Both are devoid of authority. 

In Section 4, the Colony cites no statute or case which supports its 

claim that Paul's siblings "would need to be included in the Notice of 

Rescission and as parties to this action." Id. Likewise, there is no authority 

for the proposition that the Notice of Rescission is " deficient" because Paul 

failed to issue it to First International Bank. Id. 

Then, with sleight-of-hand, the Colony expands its argument in 

Section 7 by claiming (again with no authority) that Paul's failure to "plead 

the basic and fundamental requirements of a rescission action, including 

naming the proper parties" is a fatal defect that it was not required to raise 

via a Rule 12(b)(6) motion below. 

In sum, there is no law requiring a rescission claim to be pled with 

specificity, nor is there a law requiring dismissal of a rescission action for the 

failure to join parties newly alleged to be essential on appeal. 

Paul attempted to preempt these types of arguments with Section 2 of 

his opening brief (pp. 35 to 37). Paul's claim in Section 2 was simple: since 

none of these Defendants filed a Rule 12(b )( 6) motion challenging the 

absence of necessary parties, this should not be an issue here. And, even if 
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Defendants had had filed such a motion, the remedy lay with the Circuit 

Court who "shall" join them as parties to this declaratory judgment action, 

as required by SDCL 21-24-7. 

Raymond asserts that this is a new argument on appeal, and, thus 

impermissible. This misconstrues the definition of a 'new argument.' Paul 

raised the arguments in Issue 2 to preempt any 'missing party' arguments in 

the Appellees' briefs. Paul is not making a new argument to attack the 

judgment; he is pointing out that nobody should be making the argument. 

And in any event, now that they have made this argument, Paul would be 

permitted to respond to that argument in his reply, relying upon the same 

authority as in his opening brief. 

The issue of' missing parties> was not properly raised by any party 

below. It is not raised properly on this appeal. It is not a fatal defect in 

Paul's Complaint. On remand, Paul asks this Court to direct the Circuit 

Court to join any necessary parties under SDCL 21-24-7. 

5. Paul's Complaint pied a substantive cause of action 
involving the Colony 

Continuing further with its demands for "particularity," the Colony 

uses Section 5 of its Brief to argue that the Complaint does not adequately 

allege the Colony's "connivance" or "knowledge." 

17 



The Colony begins by asserting that Paul did not raise the issue of the 

Colony's "knowledge" at the Circuit Court level. Colony's Brief, p.21. 

This is incorrect. At the hearing, Paul pointed out that the Colony could be 

imputed with knowledge, based upon the wording of the Purchase 

Agreement, which identifies Victoria's lawsuit. [HT, p. 31:13-32:9]. 

The Colony provides no authority for its premise that the Complaint 

needed to include allegations of the Colony's complicity. Such a 

requirement is contrary to Rule 8, discussed above. 

The Colony also attempts to redefine connivance. But, even using its 

Iowa court definition ("voluntary blindness"), the Record contains 

sufficient evidence that the Colony was either intentional or willfully blind in 

its assessment of whether Raymond could enter into this transaction. 

[R.155, "Purchase Agreement"] (where Colony acknowledges Victoria's 

lawsuit pending against Raymond). 

The Colony does not respond at all to Paul's argument that the 

Colony's "knowledge (or lack thereof) appears to be an affirmative defense 

that it would need to assert in its Answer." Appellants' Brief, p.32. 

Next, the Colony quibbles with "which" avenue of rescission Paul is 

pursuing. The Complaint does not specify. Paul need not specify. 
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Rescission is available under various Chapters, and, any of them could be the 

right avenue here. E.g.) Chapter 53-11 (effectuating statutory rescission); 

Chapter 21-12 (equitable); SDCL 20-llA-2 ("conveyance .. . of a person of 

unsound mind ... subject to rescission"). 

The Colony fails to address the basic arguments outlined in Paul's 

opening brief: that rescission can be either equitable or legal. If the 

attempted legal rescission was unsuccessful, the circuit court can grant an 

equitable rescission. Paul's Complaint sought ('equitable relief as 

appropriate, including ... any other such relief necessary." [R.29; Complaint, 

<ff H.J. Under the rules we follow, Paul's Complaint sufficiently seeks a 

rescission, whether it be legal or equitable. 

Finally, the Colony attempts to rely upon factual findings from the 

truncated eviction proceeding (in which the Circuit Court intentionally 

constrained the testimony so as not to get into issues related to the issues of 

capacity and undue influence). Those proceedings are not binding upon this 

motion to dismiss. 

Paul's Complaint states a valid claim upon which to seek rescission. 

Paul seeks declaratory relief to invalidate a series of actions, including a land 

transaction. Rescission against the Colony is a remedy available if those 
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actions are invalid. 

6. Paul is not required to amend his Complaint 

In Section 6, the Colony asserts that Paul cannot survive dismissal 

because he did not move to amend his Complaint to add additional parties, 

or, add a "cause of action against Brethren," or allege they were complicit. 

The simplest response is that the Complaint is sufficient, as is. No 

amendments are necessary. 

The next response is to point out that Paul sought the remedy of 

amendment at the hearing. [HT, 13:9-23] (" If something is amiss with our 

complaint, Judge, and this applies to not just this particular motion, but all of 

these motions to dismiss, Paul and the rest of the plaintiffs ask for the 

opportunity to amend their pleadings in order to conform with whatever it is 

that's permissible as far as a recovery."). The Circuit Court ignored and 

rejected that request. 

In contrast, the litigant in Sisney v. Best raised the issue only in a reply 

brief (and not at a hearing). Since Paul's motion was oral, there was no need 

to file, schedule, or otherwise brief the issue. Based upon that request, Paul 

simply would have expected the Court's memorandum opinion to invite that 

remedy. It was clear, however, that no amount of amendments would have 
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satisfied the Circuit Court. 

7. Raymond's withdrawal of trust assets does not prevent 
Paul's claims 

In addition to the standing arguments (addressed above), Section 1 of 

Raymond)s Brief makes the claim that Paul cannot pursue any claims because 

the Trust no longer has any assets, since Raymond withdrew them all 

personally, and because Raymond is not a party to this lawsuit. Raymond 

claims that this is "an insuperable bar to relief." Raymond's Brief, p.13. 

This is erroneous. Factually, there is no question that Raymond is, 

indeed, a party to this lawsuit. At the very outset, Raymond appeared in this 

action. [R.103] ("Notice of Appearance," dated 3/21/2023). In part, 

Raymond's Notice states: 

PLEASE T 1-UCE NOTICE that Lee Schoenbeck and Joe Brickson of Schoenbeck &: 

E.ricbon, PC, 1200 Mickelson Drive, Suite 310, Watertown, South Dakota 57201, hereby 

make an appearance as attorneys for Raymond O'Farrell, The Raymond and Victoria 

O'Fandl Living Trw;t, and VOR, Inc., in the above-entitled action. 

Raymond's argument gives us the opportunity to underscore a key 

attribute of declaratory relief. "When declaratory relief is sought, all persons 

shall be made parties who have or claim any interest which would be effected by 

the declaration .... " SDCL 21-24-7 (emphasis added). Raymond made himself 

a party by appearing. 
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To the extent that other parties need to be joined, the Circuit Court is 

commanded by SDCL 21-24-7 to join them. Moreover) even if some of those 

other parties are not joined, that statute says that the declaratory relief is still 

effective against all parties who have been joined. Id. In sum, the «insuperable 

bar to relief" alleged by Raymond does not exist, legally or factually. 

Raymond also claims that Paul is making "new" arguments about the 

broad scope of declaratory relief available to him. But in Paul's briefing 

below, he expressly made this claim. See) e.g.) [R.361; "Plaintiffs ' Brief 

Opposing Motions to Dismiss", <jf 25]. Paul argued, with authority, that 

"South Dakota's Declaratory Judgment Act is to be liberally construed and 

administered," and then in <jf<jf 26-27 cited other authority and gave 

statutory examples from the Act. 

8. VOR should not be dismissed as a Plaintiff. But, in any 
event, VOR is a necessary party and Raymond has attempted 
to appear for it. 

Section 2 of Raymond's Brief attempts to argue that VOR was 

improperly made a Plaintiff. This question revolves around the validity of 

Paul's ouster as President. Ifhe was invalidly removed, Paul can bring 

VOR's claims. If not, he can't. But either way, the question itself can be 

raised by Paul, whether VOR is a Plaintiff, or a Defendant. That is the 

nature of declaratory relief. 
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"In general, all that is required for declaratory judgment action is 

existence of justiciable and ripe controversy between adversely interested 

parties." Carven). Heikkila, 465 N.W.2d 183,185 (S.D 1991). 

Raymond then persists with making the same erroneous argument he 

made in the eviction appeal, namely, that Paul cannot seek alternate, 

contradictory theories of relief. This is warranted by the Rules, as well as by 

this Court's holdings. Rule 8 permits the pleading of inconsistent claims, 

and, a litigant can (( ( state as many separate claims or defenses as he has 

regardless of consistency and whether based on legal or on equitable grounds or 

on both' ... and have them submitted to the jury." United States v. State, 

1999 S.D. 94, C[f 11 (quoting SDCL 15-6-8(e)(2)) (emphasis in original). 

9. Paul is permitted to seek relief "for the benefit" of 
Victoria's Estate, particularly when her Estate refuses to 
protect its interests 

Section 3 of Raymond's Brief attempts to argue that Victoria's Estate 

was properly dismissed as a Plaintiff, since Paul is not its fiduciary. To 

clarify, her Estate is not listed as a Plaintiff. The caption simply announces 

that Paul is seeking relief that may benefit her Estate. (The Summons and 

Complaint are worded identically, including the phrase ('for the benefit of.") 

Raymond claims that only he, as its fiduciary, can seek relief. But, in 
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simplest legal terms, the fact that this is a declaratory action makes it easy to 

resolve this issue. Paul believes that the Estate has an interest in the 

outcome of this action. Nobody has asserted her Estate is not and 

indispensable party. And, Raymond (for now) has appeared in this action on 

behalf of the Estate. [R.123] ("Supplemental Notice of Appearance). We 

now have the (' adversely interested parties" necessary for declaratory relief 

involving her Estate. 

Thus, regardless of whether Paul has authority or not, Victoria's 

Estate has been made a party, by and through Raymond's appearance. The 

Special Administrator can argue against the relief. Paul can argue for it. But 

the fact that Paul's Complaint seeks remedies "for the benefit of>' her Estate 

does not warrant dismissal of the Complaint. Instead, the Estate is an 

essential party, and, Raymond solved this problem for everyone by appearing 

on its behalf. 

And Raymond does not dispute the rule followed in Nebraska, and 

elsewhere, that an interested party to an Estate may pursue relief for it when 

its fiduciaries fail to act. The Matter of Estate of Jones case does not refute 

that rule, and, merely involves a fight over who would be appointed as the 

administrator. Such a rule is not foreclosed by existing South Dakota law. 
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10. Paul's Complaint is not frivolous 

Section 4 of Raymond> s Brief outlines his theory of a frivolous action. 

It stands in stark contrast to the "reasonableness)) arguments in Paul's 

Brief. The descriptions are like ships passing in the night. 

What is notable about Raymond>s brief, however, is that he does not 

refute Paul's argument that "if this Court agrees that the Circuit Court's 

dismissal as in error, the statutory award of attorney> s fees is per se 

erroneous. n See) Paul's Brief, p.42, citing SDCL 15-17-51. Thus, if this 

Court remands the case, Paul asks the Court to apply that rule. 

In the alternative, we also point out that Raymond similarly failed to 

respond to the rule oflaw quoted on page 42, from Gronau v. Weubker) 2003 

S.D. 116, <jf 10 (" any doubt [ about frivolous claim] must be resolved in favor 

of the party whose legal position is in question>'). In the alternative, under 

that rule, an award of fees was erroneous. Raymond does not dispute this, 

either. In the alternative, Paul seeks relief from the fee award under Gronau. 

11. A change of judge is warranted and required 

Finally, in Issue 5, Raymond addresses the change-of-judge issues. 

Notable about this section are all of the arguments Raymond fails to address, 

and, thereby waives. 
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Raymond does not dispute that his counsel improperly attempted to 

contest the request for recusal. Raymond does not dispute that SDCL 15-12-

23 is prospective in application, foreclosing only future affidavits after an 

initial affidavit. (Nor does that statute say that prior positions are imputed 

to all parties.) And Raymond does not dispute Paul's argument that recusal 

should be ordered as a sanction for violating SDCL 15-12-21.1. 

As for Paul's argument that disqualification is warranted because 

Judge Spears' "impartiality might reasonably be questioned," Raymond's 

sole argument is that "appellants cited no case law that requires removal of a 

judge when a campaign treasurer works as a paralegal for a firm in front of 

that judge" (and, was a former employee of that judge). Raymond's Brief, p. 

27. 

Raymond is correct that Paul did not find a specific case addressing 

this particular circumstance of a campaign treasurer. Instead, Paul offered 

cases that an appearance of partiality is sufficient, and, he argued that this 

standard is met here. 

Paul's opening brief states that "the objective circumstances rise at 

least to the level of an appearance of impropriety." Paul's Brief, p. 49. 

Raymond does not even attempt to dispute this. Accordingly, Paul 
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asks this Court to effectuate the disqualification under Canon 3 E(l). 

CONCLUSION 

Paul asks this Court to reverse the dismissal, vacate the award of 

attorney's fees, assign this case to another Judge, and remand the case for 

further proceedings. 

Paul believes he has identified both the remedy and the forum for 

these claims to be heard upon their merits. If not, the prayer for relief in his 

Complaint requests "any other such relief necessary." [[R.29 Complaint, <rr 

H(v) ]]. Whatever the shape of such relief, Paul is asking for it. 

Dated this 20th day of February, 2024. 
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INTRODUCTION 

This Appeal 

This appeal relates to the unusual (and, as we argue, illegal) 

appointment of Raymond O'Farrell as the special administrator for his late 

wife Victoria's estate. The appointment was achieved without notice or a 

hearing, and, it placed Raymond in the role where he would assume the role 

of plaintiff in his late wife's pending lawsuit against him. The law does not 

allow this. 

Related Appeals 

This appeaP relates to several other matters and appeals. The initial 

matter was a civil lawsuit commenced by Victoria O'Farrell against her 

husband Raymond, in which she sought to halt a series of drastic changes to 

their estate plan. 2 Victoria died shortly after commencing that suit, and, the 

attorneys helping Raymond opened this probate and attempted to secure his 

appointment as the special administrator for Victoria's Estate, in July 2022. 

By mid-August 2022, Raymond had been convinced to sell most of the 

couple's long-held farm ground. The $3.2 million sale to Grand Valley 

1 Appea l #30532 , a ri sing from 2 5PRO22-11 

2 Appeal #305 08 , a r i s i ng from 25CIV22 - 38 
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Hutterite Colony closed in October 2022 (the day prior to the hearing on 

Paul's motion to intervene in Victoria's dormant lawsuit). The land sale led 

to the attempted ejection and eviction of Paul O'Farrell from the family farm 

which he had helped care for and improve for decades.3 

However, prior to the filing of that eviction claim, Paul had already 

commenced a lawsuit (in March 2023) seeking to unwind the real estate sale 

and to invalidate Raymond's other corporate and fiduciary actions. 4 

Meanwhile in a parallel action, Paul's attempt to secure a guardianship and 

conservatorship for Raymond was rejected by the Circuit Court. 5 

All of these matters are interrelated, and, ultimately we expect all of 

these appeals and proceedings to be combined. 

Transcript & Record 

References to the settled record are denoted by [R.123]. The Circuit 

Court conducted a motions hearing on October 18, 2022. That Hearing 

Transcript is referred to by page number as [VHT 123, 10/18/22]. 

3 Seer 23C I V23-1 8 ; Appeal #30344 

4 Seer 25C I V23-15; Appeal #30482 

5 See r 25GDN23- 01 ; Appeal# no t yet assigned 
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JURISDICATIONAL STATEMENT 

Appellants appeal the Circuit Court's entry of an Order by the Hon. 

Dawn Elshere on 7/18/2022 [R.5]. No notice of entry was given of that 

Order, nor any subsequent action by the Circuit Court. Appellants filed their 

notice of appeal on 11/7/2023. [R.54]. 

This Court has jurisdiction under SDCL 15-26A-3( 4) to consider an 

appeal from the circuit court's order appointing Raymond as special 

administrator. An order appointing a special administrator is a final action 

upon the petition seeking appointment. See Matter of Est. of Petrik, 2021 

S.D. 49, <jf 16, 963 N.W.2d 766, 770 C'orders determining individual 

petitions for relief in probate actions can constitute final orders when they 

dispose of all issues relative to a particular petition and leave nothing for 

decision"). 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

In June of 2022, Victoria O'Farrell brought a lawsuit to halt Raymond 

from making further changes to the family's estate plan. Her Complaint 

describes an orchestrated campaign of undue influence exercised by their son 

Kelly, who was angry at his prospective inheritance under the Trust. [R.13-

14]. The Complaint alleges that Raymond had diminished capacity, couldn't 
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read, and did not understand the actions he was taking. [R.14]. Victoria died 

prior to further proceedings, and the upcoming hearing was canceled. 

Paul attempted to intervene in his mother's lawsuit, and, also 

attempted to alert the Court that Raymond was not a suitable representative 

for the Estate. The Circuit Court held a motions hearing on October 18, 

2022, involving the Estate, and, involving Victoria's lawsuit against 

Raymond. [VHT 1-175]. At the outset of the hearing, the Circuit Court 

noted that, "I have two files set for hearing at the same time [including] 

25CIV22-38 ... and ... 25PRO22-ll," and it took up the civil file first. [VHT 

6]. The Court discussed (but did not squarely address) the problems of 

Raymond's appointment. 

Paul's appeals from the original order appointing Raymond, and he 

assigns two errors: that the appointment was procedurally void because of a 

failure of notice, or, that the appointment was legally void because it 

purported to install Raymond as the Plaintiff in a pending lawsuit against 

himself. 
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LEGAL ISSUES 

The Probate Code contains mandatory notice provisions, as 
well as a separate proof-of-notice provision. See SDCL 29A-1-
401(a) and (c). Interested parties are afforded 14 days' notice 
of formal proceedings. In proceedings to appoint a Special 
Administrator, the Probate code contains an exception to the 
notice requirements notice in certain situations when "an 
emergency exists," but, the Probate Code still requires a 
hearing to be conducted. See SDCL 29A-3-614(2). 

Here, the Record contains no proof that service was made upon 
interested parties of the Petition; nor does the Record show that 
notice of a hearing was given; nor that a hearing took place; nor 
that the Circuit Court made a finding that an "emergency" 
existed to dispense with notice; nor that the Circuit Court made 
a conclusion that notice could be waived here; nor that any 
parties were issued notice of the appointment after the Court's 
action. 

Is the Circuit Court's appointment of Raymond procedurally 
void? Yes, the appointment is procedurally void. 

Ruling Below: The Circuit Court appointed Raymond as 
Special Administrator one week after Victoria's death. [R.5] 
The Order makes no findings of an emergency, no conclusions 
waiving notice, and no indication that a hearing was conducted. 

• SDCL 29A-1-401(a) (14-day notice) 
• SDCL29A-1-401(c) (proofofnotice) 
• SDCL 29A-3-614(2) (formal proceeding for 

appointment of special administrator) 
• Matter of Est. of Petrik, 2021 S.D. 49 
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2. 

Special Administrators are "qualified" fiduciaries who may be 
appointed in lieu of Personal Administrators "when necessary to 
preserve the estate," or, "where a general personal representative 
cannot or should not act." SDCL 29A-3-614(2). An individual is 
not legally competent to serve as an executor /fiduciary of an Estate 
where his duties would involve prosecuting a suit which he would, 
at the same time, defend as an individual. More generally, 
collusive lawsuits are not permitted under the Rules of Civil 
Procedure, nor under the Rules of Professional Conduct. 

Is the Circuit Court's appointment of Raymond as Special 
Administrator legally void? Yes, the order appointing Raymond 
was substantively and legally void. 

Ruling Below: The Circuit Court appointed Raymond as Special 
Administrator upon a finding that "it is necessary to protect the 
estate of the decedent pending the search for a will." [R.5] . The 
ruling makes reference to Victoria's lawsuit against Raymond only 
by its file number (25CIV22-38). The ruling does not expressly 
recognize that Raymond is a defendant in Victoria's lawsuit. Id. 

• SDCL 29A-3-614 
• SDCL 15-6-17(a) 
• Hampshire v. Powell) 626 N .W.2d 620 (Neb. 

2001) 
• Matter of Est. of Jones, 2022 S.D. 9 
• Matter of Est. of Cutler, 368 N .W.2d 724 (Iowa 

Ct. App. 1985) 
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STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

The background facts are familiar to this Court in light of the related 

appeals. For the sake of efficiency, we refer the Court to the factual 

summary sections in the parallel appeals. See) Appellants' Brief #30482 (pp. 

15-17); Appellants' Brief #30344 (pp. 9-17); Appellants' Reply Brief #30344 

(pp. 2-7); Appellant's Brief #30508 (pp. 16-20). What follows here is a brief 

summary of the facts referenced in the Petition and Order of appointment. 

[R.l to R.6]. 

The Order appointing Raymond as Special Administrator was to be 

self-limiting, confined (' to such time as it is necessary to investigate whether 

the decedent has a will." [R.5] There is no indication that a subsequent 

search took place, or, as to what was found. 

The also Order refers to ('pending negotiations involving possible 

foreclosure proceedings that would have considerable adverse effects on the 

estate of the decedent." [R.5]. No inventory has been filed identifying 

Victoria's assets which would have been adversely affected by the 

foreclosure. Further, no foreclosure had been filed or served at the time of 

the Petition. 
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The Order does not refer to an emergency. The Petition asserts that 

there is an '' emergency" requiring appointment without further notice 

because "the pending litigation [in which Raymond was a Defendant] 

requires immediate attention of a Special Administrator to protect the estate 

of decedent ..... " [R.2, <if 6]. 

A deputy clerk appears to have issued the initial letters of Special 

Administration on July 21, 2022, and, ''corrected" letters signed by Judge 

Elshere were then issued and filed on July 22, 2022. [R.7, R.8]. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

The following standards of review apply to the issues in this appeal. 

• De novo review applies to the construction and application of statutes, 

rules of procedure, and the Probate Code. Discover Bank v. Stanley) 2008 

S.D. 111, <if 15; In re Est. of Flaws, 2016 S.D. 61, <if 12; Matter of Est. of 

Petrik, 2021 S.D. 49, <if 16. This Court has also used de novo review when 

interpreting statutory notice requirements. Abata v. Pennington Co. Bd. of 

Comm 'rs) 2019 S.D. 39, <if 9. 

• A circuit court's appointment of a special administrator (or personal 

representative) is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Matter of Est. of 

Jones, 2022 S.D. 9, <if 33. An abuse of discretion refers to "a discretion 
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exercised to an end or purpose not justified by, and clearly against reason 

and evidence." Matter of Shirley A. Hickey Living Tr., 2022 S.D. 53, <jf 14 

( quotations and citations omitted). A Circuit Court abuses its discretion 

by applying the wrong legal standard, or failing to apply any standard. 

State v. Vento, 1999 S.D. 158, <jf 5. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

1. 

The Circuit Court abused its discretion by appointing Raymond as 

special administrator without following the procedure set forth in the 

Probate Code. It did not conduct a hearing; it made a ruling on a petition 

that Raymond filed and pursued without notice; and the Circuit Court did 

not expressly waive the notice requirements due to an emergency. As a 

result, the Order was void. 

2. 

Even if it had followed the proper procedure, the Circuit Court further 

abused its discretion as a matter of substance. A special administrator is 

legally incapable of assuming an appointment of a role in which he would 

litigate claims against himself. Raymond was legally incapable of serving the 
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role to which the Circuit Court appointed him, and, his Petition appeared to 

conceal this conflict of interest from the Circuit Court. 

Thus, in addition to being procedurally void due to a lack of notice, 

the appointment was substantively invalid. 

ARGUMENT 

I. Raymond's appointment as Special Administrator is 
procedurally invalid because of a failure of notice and a hearing 

Raymond's appointment as special administrator involves the 

application ofSDCL 29A-3-614, as well as the notice provisions of the 

Probate Code. See) generally) Matter of Est. of Petrik) 2021 S.D. 49, <jf 22 

( discussing and quoting 14-day notice provisions). 

In this case, the lawyers representing Raymond convinced the Circuit 

Court to appoint him as Special Administrator without a hearing, without 

prior notice to anyone, without an express finding of emergency, and without 

notice to anyone following the appointment. Any of these defects render the 

appointment procedurally void. 

(a) The Orderisvmdfor failure of notice 

On July 18, 2022, the Circuit Court signed and filed an Order 

appointing Raymond as Special Administrator for his wife's Estate. [R.5]. 

This Order was entered seven days after her death, and, on the same day that 
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the Petition was filed. This does not comply with the Probate Code's notice 

prov1s10ns. 

Probate proceedings can involve either informal proceedings 

conducted by the Clerk of Courts, or,formal proceedings conducted by the 

Circuit Judge. SDCL 29A-3-105. 

"[T]he UPC distinguishes informal from formal proceedings, and 

their notice requirements, based upon whether a request for relief is directed 

to a court or the clerk. (Informal proceedings' simply refer to (those 

conducted without notice to interested persons by the clerk of court.' SDCL 

29A-1-201(22) (emphasis added). (Formal proceedings,' by contrast, refer to 

(proceedings conducted before a judge with notice to interested persons.' 

SDCL 29A-1-201(18) (emphasis added); see also In re Estate of Ricard, 2014 

S.D. 54, <\f 12, 851 N.W.2d 753, 757 (noting the distinction between informal 

proceedings and formal proceedings)." Matter of Est. of Petrik, 2021 S.D. 49, 

<\f 22. 

(( Applying these uncomplicated statutory definitions," the Circuit 

Court's appointment of the Special Administrator is a formal proceeding 

subject to the notice and hearing requirements. See id. at <\f 23. "The court 
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may hear and determine formal proceedings ... after notice in conformity with 

§ 29A-l-401. ... " SDCL 29A-3-105. 

Notice requirements "in conformity with" SDCL 29A-l-401 mandate 

that "notice shall be given ... by mailing [ or delivering] a copy of the notice of 

hearing and of the petition at least fourteen days before the time set for the 

hearing .... " SDCL 29A-l-40l(a)(l) and (2). This statute contains a 

separate requirement that the Petitioner file proof of compliance with this 

notice requirement. See SDCL 29A-l-40l(c) ("proof of the giving of notice 

shall be made on or before the hearing and filed in the proceeding"). "As a 

rule of statutory construction, we have determined that 'shall' is the 

operative verb in a statute, it is given 'obligatory or mandatory' meaning." 

Discover Bank v. Stanley, 2008 SD lll, <[ 21 (interpreting civil litigation rule). 

Here, in contrast to those mandates, no notice was given; no proof of 

notice was filed; and, it would have been mathematically impossible for such 

notice to have been given. If the Probate Code had been followed, the 

Petition and a Notice of Hearing should have been mailed to the interested 

parties at least "fourteen days before the time set for the hearing." SDCL 

29A-l-40l(a)(l) and (2). 
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No notice was issued, but even if Raymond's attorneys had sent such 

notice and filed it with the Court, the relief obtained here could not comport 

with the notice requirements. The Order was issued onJuly 18, 2022, and 

the Petition is signed and dated the same day,July 18, 2022, i.e.) less than 14 

days. 

Further, this was just seven days following Victoria's death, so the 

Circuit Court had not even had jurisdiction over her Estate for 14 days at the 

time of this Order. If the ordinary notice process had been followed, the 

earliestthe hearing could have taken place would be on July 25, 2022, absent 

some affirmative act by the Circuit Court to shorten the notice requirements . 

The Order is void for failure of notice of the Petition. 

(b) The Order is void for failure to adjust or waive notice 

No steps were taken to adjust or eliminate the notice provisions of the 

Probate Code. There are statutory mechanisms by which parties can (in 

limited circumstances) waive notice. But those statutes were not followed. 

For example, SDCL 29A-1-402 provides that (( a person ... may waive 

notice by a writing signed by the person or the person's attorney and filed in 

the proceeding." ( emphasis added). No such waiver appears in the Record. 
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The Special Administrator statute also contains a mechanism by 

which the Circuit Court can dispense with notice, but that statute was not 

followed either. In pertinent part, SDCL 29A-3-614(2) provides that" [i]f it 

appears to the court that an emergency exists, appointment may be ordered 

without notice." But the Circuit Court did not make express findings that 

such an emergency existed. Nor do the facts here suggest an emergency. 

(c) The Order is void for the failure to conduct a hearing 

Furthermore, even if an emergency existed) the Circuit Court cannot 

conduct such proceedings without a hearing. The black and white text of 

SDCL 29A-3-614(2) provides that when a special administrator is appointed 

in formal proceedings, it must be done "after notice and hearing .... " 

( emphasis added). The emergency clause dispenses only with the notice 

requirement, but not the hearing requirement. 

In this case, there is no indication that a hearing took place. So, not 

only was there a failure to notify anyone of the Petition, and, a failure to issue 

notice of a hearing, but Raymond's attorneys failed to even seek a hearing 

upon that Petition. Thus, the Order is void because no hearing took place. 

A hearing on a probate matter is not an idle exercise, as this case 

demonstrates. At a hearing, the Circuit Court would have been handed a 
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copy of Victoria's Complaint, rather than simply the numerical file number. 

A hearing in this case would have given the Circuit Court the opportunity to 

ask questions of counsel, and the Court would very likely have recognized 

that Raymond was not entitled to the relief he was requesting. The Circuit 

Court would have immediately recognized that Raymond was, in actuality, 

seeking to become the Plaintiff in a lawsuit against himself. The Circuit 

Court would have refused the maneuver. 

( d) The Order is void for failure of notice of its entry 

Finally, no notice was given of the Circuit Court's order of 

appointment. This, too, is problematic, because no interested party would 

have any other way to learn what Raymond was doing. Further, the Order 

would not become "final" until thirty days after notice of its entry. Matter of 

Est. of Petrik, 2021 S.D. 49, <jf 19. Absent notice before or after, the Order 

was a rogue document upon which nobody should yet rely. 

In sum, the Order was void as a matter oflaw. It was issued to a party 

who failed to comply with the Probate Code's notice provisions. It was 

issued without a Hearing. And no notice was given after its entry. 

Timely notice is an essential element of a probate proceeding. See) In 

re Estate of Schuldt, 457 N .W.2d 837, 840 (S.D. 1990). A proper hearing is an 
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essential element of a probate proceeding. Matter of Estate of Petrik) 2021 

S.D. 49, <jf<jf 24, 31 C'absence of ... a hearing"). 

The remedy for a failure of notice, or, for a failure to conduct a hearing 

is to "vacate the court's order ... and remand the case for further 

proceedings." Id. at <jf 31. 

Paul asks that the July 18, 2022, Order be vacated because it is void. 

2. The order of appointment is also substantively invalid because 
of Raymond's inherent conflict of interest. 

The use of a special administrator is limited to circumstances where 

'' appointment is necessary to preserve the estate or to secure its proper 

administration including its administration in circumstances where a general 

personal representative cannot or should not act." SDCL 29A-3-614(2). If 

the person seeking to be named as special administrator is not named 

personal representative in the will, they must be a '' qualified person." 

SDCL 29A-3-615(b). An individual is not "qualified to serve" if they are 

"unsuitable." C.fJ SDCL 29A-3-303 (addressing personal representative 

qualifications). See also) SDCL 29A-3-611(b)(3) (disqualifying conditions for 

special administrator include being '' incapable of discharging the duties of 
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office" or, "intentionally misrepresent[ing] material facts in the proceedings 

leading to appointment"). 

"No one can serve as a special administratrix whom the trial court 

finds unsuitable. A person may be deemed unsuitable by reason of an interest 

in pending litigation, or bias or prejudice ..... The circuit court must have 

confidence that the person will demonstrate the utmost loyalty, impartiality, 

and integrity, and that the person does not have an interest in pending 

litigation, or bias or prejudice, such that the appointment would be adverse 

to the interest of those to be served by the appointment." Matter of Est. of 

Jones, 2022 S.D. 9, <jf 33 (quoting In re Est. ofHutmanJ 705 N.E.2d 1060, 

1064-65 (Ind.Ct.App. 1999)). 

Raymond's Petition for special administrator did not seek to cure the 

statutory situation of(' circumstances where a general personal 

representative cannot and should not act." Instead, Raymond was seeking 

appointment under circumstances where he, himself, cannot and should not 

act. In particular, he sought this office so that he could assume the mantle as 

plaintiff in a pending lawsuit against him. This is legally impermissible, and, 

it made his appointment void from the start. 
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One of the basic, structural requirements of a lawsuit is that there are 

lawyers zealously advocating both sides of the case. This Court has described 

it as "the institutional interest in vigorous development of each client's 

position when the clients are aligned directly against each other in the same 

litigation .... " Wilcox v. Vermeulen, 2010 S.D. 29, <jf 35, 781 N.W.2d 464, 474 

(citing SDCL 16-18 App., Rules of Prof. Conduct, Rule 1.7, cmt 17) 

(Meierhenry,J., and Gilbertson, C.J., concurring specially). And) see) 

Southard v. Hansen) 342 N.W.2d 231,233 (S.D. 1984) (citing Dehn v. Prouty) 

321 N.W.2d 534 (S.D. 1982) (likening collusion between plaintiff and 

defendant as ('opposing parties breathing together to the detriment of 

another party.") C.fJ SDCL 15-6-17(a) (real party in interest statute). 

More particularly for probate proceedings, courts (' recognize the rule 

that a person ... is not ( legally competent' to act in that capacity [ as 

executor], where his duties would require him to prosecute on behalf of 

adversary litigants, a suit which he would at the same time defend as an 

individual." Hampshire v. Powell, 626 N.W.2d 620, 626 (Neb.App. 2001) 

(citinglnreMossEst., 157N.W.2d 883,886 (Neb.1968) (in turn,quoting/n 

re Estate of Blochowitz , 245 N.W. 440 (Neb. 1932)). 
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The rule in Nebraska is that "where there exists at the time of the 

hearing on appointment of executor, a conflict of interest of a nature 

sufficiently adverse or antagonistic that the exercise of proper judicial 

discretion would require the immediate removal of an executor ifhe were 

appointed, the named executor is not legally competent under [the Nebraska 

Probate Code ]6 and should not be appointed." In re Moss Est., 157 N.W.2d 

at 887. 

Courts in Iowa and Wisconsin have similarly held that an executor's 

appointment is impermissible when it would place the executor at odds with 

himself within pending litigation. "His plain duty would be to conserve the 

estate. His personal interest would demand that the claim of the estate 

against himself be defeated. Under such conditions he could not faithfully 

6 The Court referred to section 30-302 , R. R. S. 1943 , whi c h 
provi de d tha t when "the cou r t, i n the exe rcise of a sound 
judicial discretion , de termines tha t such a pp lica nt f or 
appointment is ' i n capable or unsui tabl e t o discharg e the 
trus t,' such appoi ntment s ho u ld not be made ". In re 
Haeffele ' s Est ., 145 Neb . 809 , 8 13 , 18 N. W. 2d 228 , 23 1 (1 945) 
(quoting and appl ying s e ction 30- 302 ). 

That Nebr aska s t a tute i s s ubs t a ntia lly t he same as SDCL 29A- 3 -
303(f ) (2 ), wh ich states that: " No person i s qua lified t o serve 
as a personal repr esentat ive who i s ... [a ] pe r son whom the court 
finds unsuitable in f orma l p r oceedi ngs") ( emphas i s added); and 
SDCL 29A- 3 - 611 (b ) ( 3 ) (disqua l i f y i ng cond i tions f or speci a l 
administrator i n clude bei ng "incapable of d i scha rg i ng the 
duties of office") 
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serve two masters. There would undoubtedly exist such a conflict of interest 

and such hostility as would interfere with the proper administration of the 

estate." Matter of Est. ofCutler, 368 N.W.2d 724, 727 (Iowa Ct. App.1985) 

(quoting In re Zartner's Will, 198 N.W. 363, 367 (Wis. 1924)). 

The same conclusion was reached by an Ohio court of appeals. 

Although the executrix "has every right to assert her personal claims ... the 

fiduciary obligations as executrix impose upon her ... a confidential 

relationship .... Such a fiduciary must be capable of reasonable 

impartiality ... and of reasonable zeal to further the interest of the estate as 

against any particular claimant." In re Young's Est., 212 N .E.2d 612, 617 

(Ohio Ct. App. 1964). In that case, her personal interests and claim were 

"antagonistic not only to the estate as such but ... directly adverse to legatees 

and beneficiaries," and thus she was "not in a position to reasonably fulfill 

those obligations and is not a suitable person to act in a fiduciary capacity." 

Id. 

It is not a defense that the executor's appointment was unchallenged 

at that time. "We perceive no good reason to permit an executor to anchor 

himself in office by merely floating by any meaningful examination of his 

suitability at the time of appointment. To do so is to put an unintended 
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premium on the initial appointment of an executor, which is often done 

perfunctorily and expeditiously." Matter of Est. of Cutler, 368 N.W.2d at 727. 

See) also) Moss, 157 N.W.2d at 887 (noting "the absurdity that a court might 

be required to appoint an executor who should be immediately removed. 

Such an approach glorifies form at the expense of substance.") 

The Nebraska approach treats the question of disqualification as one 

of judicial discretion, but, with the recognition that some conflicts of interest 

will be so ('serious, adverse, or antagonistic to prevent appointment .... " In 

re Moss' Est., 157 N.W.2d at 887 (Neb. 1968) (citing ANNOTATION 18 

A.L.R.2d 633, ( Adverse interest or position as disqualification for appointment as 

personal representative. '). 

This is a fact-intensive inquiry. ((The problem of whether a personal 

interest is of a nature sufficiently adverse or antagonistic to be deemed a 

disqualification can only be answered with reference to the nature or extent 

of such interest, the relationship of the parties, or other circumstances 

involved in the particular situation. The necessity for an accounting, the fact 

that an interest is disputed or contested, or in litigation, have all been 

considered as important elements in making such a determination." In re 

Moss Est., 157 N.W.2d at 887. 
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However, as a universal rule, Courts have held that an individual is per 

se disqualified from serving as an executor when the appointment would 

place her in a position opposite herself in an Estate lawsuit. E.g.) Hampshire 

v. Powell, 626 N.W.2d 620, 626 (Neb.App. 2001) (prosecuting and defending 

same lawsuit disqualifies personal representative from office); In re Estate of 

Mills, 29 Pac. 443,444 (Or. 1892) (administrator incapable of serving while 

holding real estate claim adverse to estate); Putney v. Fletcher) 19 N.E. 370, 

370-371 (Mass. 1889) (executor unsuitable because Estate held claim against 

him for fraudulent conveyance); Corey v. Corey) 139 N.W. 509, 511 (Minn. 

1913) (estate representative "unsuitable plaintiff to prosecute an 

action ... against himself" regarding validity of prior transactions); In re 

Zartner's Will, 198 N.W. 363, 367 (Wis. 1924) (not possible for administrator 

to serve two masters by bringing claim against himself). 

In short, Victoria's Estate, Paul, and all of the other interested parties 

"are entitled to have their interests in the estate proceedings represented by 

someone independent of the conflicts of interest apparent here." Matter of 

Est. of Cutler, 368 N.W.2d 724, 729 (Iowa Ct. App. 1985). In that case, as 

with all of the other cases cited, the remedy is to "remand for the trial 

court's appointment of a new executor." Id. 
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Although a Circuit Court's discretion is broad, there are no 

circumstances under which it could appoint Raymond as special 

administrator, thereby installing him as caretaker of the lawsuit pending 

against him personally. The Petition sought relief that was void, invalid, and 

illegal from the start. 

CONCLUSION 

Paul asks for this Court to vacate the Order appointing Raymond as 

Special Administrator and remand for further proceedings. 

Dated this 22nd day of December, 2023. 

HOVLAND, RASMUS, 

BRENDTRO & TRZYNKA, PROF. LLC 

ls/Daniel K. Brendtro 
Daniel K. Brendtro 
Mary Ellen Dirksen 
Benjamin M. Hummel 
PO Box 2583 
Sioux Falls, South Dakota 57101-2583 
Attorneys for Appellant 
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA ) 
) 

COUNTY OF GRANT ) 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
************************************************************************ 

ESTATE OF 
VICTORIA 0. O'F ARRELL, 

Deceased. 

* 
* 
* 

25PRO22-000011 

ORDER APPOINTING 
SPECIAL ADMINISTRATOR 

************************************************************************ 

Upon consideration of the petition for the appointment of a special administrator, the 
court finds: 

1. The venue is proper in this court and it is proper to appoint the petitioner, Raymond A. 

O'Farrell, as Special Administrator without further notice for the reasons presented in the 

petition for appointment as Special Administrator without bond. The court is satisfied that at 

the time of decedent's death, she was involved as a party in a lawsuit in Grant County, South 

Dakota, (25CIV22-000038), and also, there appears to be pending negotiations involving 

possible foreclosure proceedings that would have considerable adverse effects on the estate of 

the decedent. Pursuant to SDCL 29A-3-614, petitioner is an interested person, and it is 

necessary to protect the estate of the decedent pending the search for a Will and determination 

of whether the decedent died testate or intestate. 

2. The decedent died on the 11 th day of July, 2022. 

3. The decedent was domiciled at death in Grant County, South Dakota. 

4. The appointment of a Special Administrator is necessary to protect the estate pending 

the search for a Will and determination of the proper probate proceedings. 

IT IS ORDERED: 

A. The findings are made a part of this order. 

B. Raymond A. O'Farrell is appointed as Special Administrator of the estate of Victoria 0. 

O'Farrell with the powers of a general personal representative until such time as the duties have 

been completed. 

The personal representative's term should be limited to such time as it necessary to 

investigate whether the decedent has a Will, and such is offered and accepted in probate or 

App. I 



upon determination that the decedent died intestate and intestate proceedings properly 

commenced. 

And letters shall be issued to the special administrator to serve without bond. 

Attest: 
Reichling, Sandy 
Clerk/Deputy 

Filed on: 07/18/2022 GRANT 

BY THE COURT: 

7/18/2022 3:00:58 PM 

County, South Dakota 25PRO22-000011 
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INTRODUCTION 

Paul O'Farrell initiated this appeal while he also has a pending Petition in 

front of the trial court requesting the same relief-removing Raymond as a 

special administrator. (SR PRO. 13-15, App. 1-3.) Paul's Petition in front of the 

trial court has been pending since September 2022, after it was not heard at the 

hearing that Paul O'Farrell set for October 18, 2022. Paul now ignores that 

Petition and seeks appellate review. 

Further, Paul claims Raymond should be removed as a special 

administrator of Victoria's Estate because of purported procedural defects never 

presented to the trial court and Raymond's position as a defendant in Victoria's 

lawsuit. (Victoria's lawsuit was voluntarily dismissed in 2022 (SR V. 553), and 

Paul started his own lawsuit in 2023 (SR P. 7).) Because the trial court did not 

abuse its discretion and Paul waived his notice arguments with his pending 

Petition, if this Court has jurisdiction, the trial court's order appointing Raymond 

should be upheld. 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

Appellant, Paul O'Farrell, as an interested party to the Estate of Victoria 

O'Farrell, will be referred to as "Paul"; Skyline Cattle Company, Appellant's 

company, will be referred to as "Skyline"; Lance O'Farrell as a potential 

interested party and represented by Appellant's counsel will be referred to as 

"Lance"; Appellee Raymond O'Farrell, individually and as special administrator 

of the Estate of Victoria O'Farrell, will be referred to as "Raymond"; Victoria 
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O'Farrell, deceased, and the Estate of Victoria O'Farrell will be referred to as 

"Victoria" or "Victoria's Estate." 

The motions hearing transcript dated October 18, 2022, will be referred to 

as "VHT" followed by the appropriate page number. There are four court files 

included in the settled record for this appeal, but only the following two files are 

cited in this brief: 

1. "SR PRO." is a reference to the underlying court file of this appeal, 

Estate of Victoria O'Farrell, 25PRO.22-11 (Appeal #30532); and 

2. "SR V." is a reference to the civil lawsuit, 25CIV.22-38 (Appeal 

#30508), Victoria O'Farrell v. Raymond O'Farrell, et al. 

All cites to the settled record will be followed by the appropriate page numbers. 

The Appendix for this brief is referred to as "App." followed by the appropriate 

page number. 

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

This Court does not have jurisdiction for this appeal because of Paul's 

pending Petition requesting appointment as a special administrator and a request 

for the removal of Raymond O'Farrell. (SR PRO. 11-15, App. 1-3.) As this Court 

described in the Matter of Estate of Petrik, when there are two petitions with the 

same subject matter-an appeal cannot be taken until there is an order that 

leaves nothing for the trial court to decide: 

Once a petition is filed, it defines a proceeding. 
Further pleadings relating to the same subject matter, 
whether labeled motions or petitions, are part of the 
same proceeding. When the subject matter of two 
petitions overlap, it would generally be appropriate to 
consider both petitions as belonging to the same 
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proceeding .... [A]n order of the probate court is final 
if it ends the particular action in which it is entered 
and leaves nothing further for the court pronouncing 
it to do in order to completely determine the rights of 
the parties as to that proceeding. 

2021 S.D. 49, ,r 17,963 N.W.2d 766,770 (citations omitted). 

Paul does not acknowledge his pending Petition in his Appellant Brief and 

does not provide an explanation for why his pending Petition was abandoned 

before the trial court ruled on it. 

STATEMENT OF LEGAL ISSUES 

1.. Whether this Court has jurisdiction to hear Paul's appeal of the 
Trial Court's Order appointing Raymond special administrator 
when Paul has a pending Petition to remove Raymond as special 
administrator that the Trial Court has not ruled upon. 

No, this Court does not have jurisdiction. 

SDCL 15-26A-3(2) 

Estate of Fox, 2018 S.D 35,911 N.W.2d 746 
Matter of Estate of Petrik, 2021 S.D. 49,963 N.W.2d 766 
In Re Estate of Geier, 2012 S.D. 2,809 N.W.2d 355 

2. Whether the Trial Court's Order appointing Raymond as a special 
administrator is void, if this Court has jurisdiction to address that 
issue. 

No, the Order appointing Raymond as special administrator is not void. 

SDCL 29A-3-614 
SDCL 29A-3-611 

Matter of Estate of Jones, 2022 S.D. 9,970 N.W.2d 520 
Schafer v. Shopko Stores, Inc., 2007 S.D. 116,741 N.W.2d 758 
Sioux Falls Shopping News, Inc. v. Dept. of Revenue and Regulation, 

2008 S.D. 34,749 N.W.2d 522 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On July 18, 2022, the trial court entered an Order appointing Raymond as 

special administrator to Victoria's Estate. (SR PRO. 5-6.) The clerk of courts first 

issued letters of special administration on July 21, 2022. (SR PRO. 7.) Then, on 

July 22, 2022, the judge signed letters of special administration. (SR PRO. 8.) 

On September 26, 2022, Paul filed a Petition asking the trial court to 

appoint him as a special administrator. (SR PRO. 11-12.) On September 26, 

2022, Paul also filed a Petition for Removal of Special Administrator pursuant to 

SDCL 29A-3-611, wherein Paul alleges Raymond should be removed as the 

special administrator because Raymond was named a defendant in Victoria's 

lawsuit before she died. (SR PRO. 13-15, App. 1-3.) Paul filed "proof of notice" of 

these various petitions on September 26, 2022. (SR PRO. 26-27.) 

On October 3, 2022, Paul filed a supplement to this Petition for 

appointment of special administrator-wherein Paul asked the trial court to 

"alternatively," appoint himself and Lance as co-special administrators. (SR 

PRO. 28.) 

On October 7, 2022, the trial court entered an order that stated the 

petitions filed by Paul would be heard on October 18, 2022.1 (SR PRO. 31.) 

Paul also filed motions in Victoria's lawsuit asking to intervene (SR V. 264-

265) and noticed it for the same one-hour hearing date of October 18, 2022 (SR 

V. 296-297)-the trial court heard that issue first. For that issue, Paul called 

1 Paul's counsel submitted the proposed notice and order for hearing to the trial 
court after requesting a one-hour hearing on the various petitions via email on 
September 27, 2022. 
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witnesses and presented evidence for more than three hours. (VHT pp. 12-129; 

SR V. 567-720.) After that evidence, the trial court asked Paul about 

rescheduling his petitions within the probate. However, Paul never set a new 

hearing date for his petitions. 

Now, Paul appeals the order appointing Raymond as special 

administrator, even though Paul still has a pending Petition to remove Raymond 

as special administrator that raises the same issues that he now asks this Court to 

rule on. 

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

As noted by Paul, there are several briefs that describe various facts 

regarding the relationship between these parties. (In Appeal #30344, Appellees' 

Brief pp. 5-11; In Appeal #30482, Appellees ' Brief pp. 6-9; In Appeal #30508, 

Appellee's Brief pp. 5-11.) For purposes of this appeal, the Statement of the Case 

describes several applicable facts, and the remaining facts are overviewed below. 

1.. Paul's pending Petition requesting removal of Raymond as 

special administrator. 

Paul's pending Petition requesting Raymond be removed as special 

administrator repeatedly refers to Raymond as special administrator of Victoria's 

Estate and raises no notice issues that Paul now raises for the first time in this 

appeal. (SR PRO. 13-15, App. 1-3.) Specifically, Paul stated the following in his 

pending Petition: 

10. Raymond, as a special administrator, is a fiduciary 
of the estate who has a duty to settle and distribute 
the estate of the decedent in accordance with the 
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terms of any probated and effective will and South 
Dakota law included SDCL 29A-3-703(a). 

12. After the decedent's death, Raymond, through his 
attorney, filed a Suggestion of Death in the Lawsuit, 
triggering the 90 days requirement to file a motion for 
substitution pursuant to SDCL 15-6-25(a)(1) to allow 
the Lawsuit to continue. Raymond has made no 
action to substitute a party in the Lawsuit. 

13. Raymond, as special administrator, could not 
substitute himself as the plaintiff in the Lawsuit in 
place of the decedent pursuant to SDCL 15-6-25(a) 
because Raymond is a defendant in this same matter 
and it would create a conflict of interest. 

18. Based on decedent's allegations in the Lawsuit, it 
is clear that Raymond has no intention of acting in the 
best interest of the decedent's estate, and therefore 
Raymond is unable to fulfill his fiduciary duty as 
Special Administrator. 

19. It is in the best interest of the decedent's estate to 
remove Raymond A. O'Farrell as special administrator 
of the estate. 

WHEREFORE, Paul O'Farrell requests that this Court 
enter its Order as follows: 

A. Enter its Order Removing Raymond A. O'Farrell as 
Special Administrator of the above captioned 
estate; 

(SR PRO. 14-15, App. 2-3.) 

Paul's pending Petition makes no argument nor comment relating to any 

error by the trial court for appointing Raymond as special administrator in its 

Order signed on July 18, 2022. (SR PRO. 13-15, App. 1-3.) Further, Paul does 
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not complain of notice nor any other purported procedural defect with 

Raymond's Petition to be appointed as special administrator. (SR PRO. 13-15, 

App. 1-3.) 

Instead, Paul's pending Petition-that he has not set for a new hearing­

argues for Raymond's removal solely because Raymond was named as a 

defendant in Victoria's lawsuit and that Raymond had not yet substituted 

Victoria's Estate as the plaintiff in that case. (SR PRO. 13-15, App. 1-3.) Paul's 

pending Petition expressly states that he is requesting Raymond's removal 

because Paul claims "Removal is in the best interest of the estate." (SR PRO. 13, 

App.1.) 

2. Raymond's Petition for appointment as special administrator 

and the Trial Court's Order and letters of special administration. 

On July 18, 2022, Raymond filed his Petition for appointment as special 

administrator to Victoria's Estate. (SR PRO. 1-3.) Within that Petition, Raymond 

disclosed that Victoria passed away on July 11, 2022. (SR PRO. 1.) Further, 

within the Petition, Raymond disclosed the case number of Victoria's lawsuit and 

described that an emergency existed because of that pending litigation and 

because of a possible foreclosure action that could have an effect on Victoria 's 

Estate. (SR PRO. 1-2.) 

On July 18, 2022, the trial court's Order did provide its reasons for not 

requiring further notice. Specifically, the Order states: 

The venue is proper ... and it is proper to appoint the 
petitioner, Raymond A O'Farrell, as Special 
Administrator without further notice for the reasons 
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(SR PRO. 5.) 

presented in the petition for appointment as Special 
Administrator without bond. 

Additionally, the Order stated: "The appointment of Special Administrator 

is necessary to protect the estate pending the search for a Will and determination 

of the proper probate proceedings." (SR PRO. 5.) 

Lastly, the Order described that Raymond had the "powers of a general 

personal representative until such time as the duties have been completed" -and, 

the Order described the duration of the special administration as "should be 

limited to such time as it [is] necessary to investigate whether the decedent has a 

Will, and such is offered and accepted in probate or upon determination that the 

decedent died intestate and intestate proceedings properly commenced." (SR 

PRO. 5-6.) 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Regarding whether this Court has jurisdiction, this Court applies statutory 

review of its jurisdictional authority. Specifically, as in Fox, this Court reviews 

SDCL 15-26A-3(2) and its application to the posture of the proceedings in this 

case. See Estate of Fox, 2018 S.D 35, ,r16, 911 N.W.2d 746,750. 

In regard to the trial court appointing Raymond as special administrator, 

this Court reviews the trial court's appointment of a special administrator under 

an abuse of discretion standard. Matter of Estate of Jones, 2022 S.D. 9, ,r33, 970 

N.W.2d 520,531. 
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ARGUMENT 

1.. This Court does not have jurisdiction. 

This Court does not have jurisdiction to decide Paul's appeal because Paul 

has a pending Petition that requests Raymond's removal as special administrator. 

Rather than allow the trial court to rule on his Petition, Paul seeks appellate 

relief. The law does not allow Paul to seek appellate relief while at the same time 

asking the trial court to provide the same relief. 

a. Applicable law. 

Recently, this Court has addressed the issue of jurisdiction over a probate 

order in two cases-Estate of Fox and Estate of Petrik. Fox, 2018 S.D 35,911 

N.W.2d 746; Petrik, 2021 S.D. 49,963 N.W.2d 766. Both of these cases are 

instructive as to this case. 

In Fox, this Court described when it did not have jurisdiction under SDCL 

15-26A-3(2) where the trial court entered-through informal proceedings-letters 

of appointment to a personal representative to a party and then revoked those 

letters of appointment after a formal proceeding was commenced by an opposing 

party. Fox, at ,r,r 8-13. This Court found that it did not have jurisdiction 

regarding the order revoking the letters to a personal representative because "the 

circuit court has not yet held a hearing to determine whether the October 11, 2017 

Clerk's Statement of Informal Probate and Appointment of Personal 

Representative is void .... " Id. at ,r 12. 

In Fox, the party that opposed the appointment of the informally 

appointed personal representative, "petitioned the circuit court to determine 
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testacy and to appoint a personal representative. In particular, [the] petition 

requested that the circuit court fix a time and place for a hearing and that the 

court enter an order formally declaring that [the deceased] died intestate. [The 

party opposing informal appointment] served notice of his petition upon [the 

party who had informal appointment revoked and appealed]." Id. at ,r 13. 

This Court held that because of the filings by the opposing party-that 

were still pending in front of the trial court-the circuit court's order revoking the 

informal appointment did not end "the particular action in which it [ was] entered 

and leave[ ] nothing further for the court pronouncing it to do in order to 

completely determine the rights of the parties as to that proceeding." Id. at ,r 14. 

In Petrik, there was no pending petition in front of the trial court 

regarding an order related to the t ermination of a joint tenancy. 2021 S.D. 49, ,r 

17. This Court found that it did have appellate jurisdiction and held: 

Once a petition is filed, it defines a proceeding. 
Further pleadings relating to the same subject matter, 
whether labeled motions or petitions, are part of the 
same proceeding. When the subject matter of two 
petitions overlap, it would generally be appropriate 
to consider both petitions as belonging to the same 
proceeding .... [A]n order of the probate court is final 
if it ends the particular action in which it is entered 
and leaves nothing further for the court pronouncing 
it to do in order to completely determine the rights of 
the parties as to that proceeding. 

Id. at ,r 17 (citations omitted) (emphasis added). 
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b. Paul's Petition to remove Raymond is still pending and 
does not allow Paul to make this appeal simultaneously. 

Applying both Fox and Petrik to the facts of this probate, this Court does 

not have jurisdiction to rule on the Order appointing Raymond as special 

administrator when Paul currently still has a Petition requesting Raymond's 

removal as special administrator. Of course, both Raymond's Petition and Paul's 

pending Petition to remove Raymond as special administrator contain subject 

matters that are identical-because of that, this Court must allow the trial court to 

make a ruling. 

This Court first addressed the issue of a final order in the context of a 

probate proceeding in In Re Estate of Geier, 2012 S.D. 2, 809 N.W.2d 355, where 

this Court first analyzed SDCL 15-26A-3(2) in relation to a UPC and how to 

analyze that issue. In that first case, and in Fox and Petrik described above, this 

Court cited back to Scott v. Scott.2 Specifically, in Scott, this Court repeatedly 

included the following language: 

When the subject matter of two petitions overlap, it 
would generally be appropriate to consider both 
petitions as belonging to the same proceeding. 

Scott, at 897; In Re Estate of Geier, at ,r 13; and Petrik, at ,r 17. 

In this case, the pending Petition by Paul and the Petition by Raymond to 

be appointed as special administrator not only overlap but are identical subject 

matters. Thus, this Court should not exercise jurisdiction over this appeal when 

the trial court is still left with rulings that will "determine the rights of the 

parties" as to Raymond serving as special administrator. Petrik, at ,r 17. 

2 136 P.3d 892, 896 (Colo.App.2006). 
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Throughout Paul's Appellant Brief, he does not address his pending 

Petition and, instead, only mentions that he "attempted to alert the Court that 

Raymond was not a suitable representative for the Estate." (Appellant's Brief p. 

4.) Paul's non-disclosure of his Petition is telling because his Petition clearly 

takes jurisdiction away from this Court and his pending Petition is inconsistent 

with his procedural defect argument in the Order appointing Raymond as special 

administrator. 

Therefore, Raymond respectfully asks this Court to dismiss Paul's appeal 

for lack of jurisdiction. 

2. The Trial Court's Order appointing Raymond as special 

administrator is not void. 

The Order appointing Raymond as special administrator was not an abuse 

of discretion by the trial court. Instead, the trial court acted rightfully under 

SDCL 29A-3-614, and fulfilled all statutory requirements. Additionally, Paul's 

claimed procedural defects relating to the trial court's Order were waived by 

Paul's own pleadings and Petition requesting for Raymond's removal-wherein 

Paul makes no claim of any procedural defect in the Order appointing Raymond 

as special administrator. 

Further, Paul's claim that Raymond should be removed because of a 

"conflict of interest" because Raymond was a defendant in Victoria's old lawsuit 

is not properly before the Court on this appeal. It is the exact argument Paul 

makes in his pending Petition to have Raymond removed, which Paul has not let 

the trial court rule upon. As Paul puts it in his Appellate Brief, the removal for 
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the purported "adverse interest" is a "fact-intensive inquiry." (Appellant's Brief 

p. 21.) 

a. Applicable law. 

SDCL 29A-3-614 describes the process for the appointment of a special 

administrator. 

A special administrator may be appointed: 

(1) Informally by the clerk on the application of 
any interested person when necessary to 
protect the estate of a decedent prior to the 
appointment of a general personal 
representative or, if a prior appointment has 
been terminated, as provided in§ 29A-3-609; 
or 

(2) In a formal proceeding by order of the court 
on the petition of any interested person and 
finding, after notice and hearing, that 
appointment is necessary to preserve the estate 
or to secure its proper administration including 
its administration in circumstances where a 
general personal representative cannot or 
should not act. If it appears to the court that an 
emergency exists, appointment may be ordered 
without notice. 

In relation to Paul's new arguments on appeal relating to notice and 

procedure, this Court has held the following: 

"Generally, questions over ... notice must be raised at 
the first reasonable opportunity or they are waived. 
Moreover, actual participation in legal proceedings 
waives irregula rities in notice and service procedures 
and even a lack of formal notice." 

Matter of Estate of Jones, 2022 S.D. 9, ,i 17, 970 N.W.2d 520,527 (citations 

omitted). 
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As it relates to who can serve as a special administrator, this Court has 

held the circuit court has "discretion to determine if a special administrator is 

'necessary to preserve the estate or to secure its proper administration including 

its administration in circumstances where a general personal representative 

cannot or should not act."' Id., at ,i 33. Further, this Court has stated, "[T]he 

'[circuit] court must have confidence that the person will demonstrate the 

upmost loyalty, impartiality, and integrity, and that the person does not have an 

interest in pending litigation, or bias or prejudice, such that the appointment 

would be adverse to the interest of those to be served by the appointment."' Id. 

Lastly, upon petition, like the one Paul has pending, a special 

administrator may be removed when-after notice of a petition for removal and 

a hearing on that petition-shows that: 

(b) Cause for removal exists when: 

(1) Removal is in the best interests of the 
estate; 

(2) The personal representative or the person 
requesting the representative's appointment 
intentionally misrepresented material facts in 
the proceedings leading to appointment; or 

(3) The personal representative has 
disregarded an order of court, has become 
incapable of discharging the duties of office, 
has mismanaged the estate, or has failed to 
perform any duty pertaining to the office. 

SDCL 29A-3-611(b)(1), (2), and (3). 
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b. The Order is not void under SDCL 29A-3-614. 

The strange circumstance of Raymond's appointment is that Raymond was 

appointed special administrator by both the clerk of courts and by Order of the 

judge. (SR PRO. 5-8.) It is not disputed that Raymond's Petition and the Order 

were entered by the judge on the same day, July 18, 2022. Contrary to Paul's 

unique reading of the UPC, SDCL 29A-3-614 allowed for the trial court to issue 

its Order on July 18, 2022. 

Under SDCL 29A-3-614(2), the trial court is required to provide notice and 

have a hearing unless "it appears to the court that an emergency exists, 

appointment may be ordered without notice." The Order by the trial court 

specifically referenced appointment of Raymond as special administrator 

"without further notice for the reasons presented in the petition for appointment 

as Special Administrator without bond." (SR PRO. 5.) That language is exactly 

what SDCL 29A-3-614 allows the trial court to do. 

In response, Paul claims the language only waives notice and not the 

requirement of a hearing. It is true that SDCL 29A-3-614 only states that 

appointment may be ordered without notice-however, it is an absurd result to 

read the statute to require a hearing when notice is not required.3 Under a 

reasonable interpretation of SDCL 29A-3-614, the trial court did not have any 

procedural defects in its Order. 

3 Schafer v. Shopko Stores, Inc., 2007 S.D. 116, ,i 7,741 N.W.2d 758,761 
( citations omitted): 

"We presume that the Legislature intended no absurd 
or unreasonable result." 
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c. Paul waived his notice and hearing arguments. 

Even if Paul's reading of SDCL 29A-3-614 was correct, Paul waived his 

right to argue about these procedural issues when he filed his Petition to remove 

Raymond as special administrator and when he failed to raise them at any level 

before this appeal. 4 

Paul's pending Petition repeatedly refers to Raymond as a special 

administrator and makes no allegation in relation to the procedural follow 

through of the trial court in ordering Raymond as the special administrator. (SR 

PRO. 13-15; App. 1-3.) Instead, Paul's pending Petition to remove Raymond 

focuses entirely on Paul's position that Raymond cannot serve in that role 

because of Victoria's old lawsuit against Raymond. SDCL 29A-1-402 and the 

Matter of Estate of Jones support that Paul waived his right to bring these 

procedural defects on appeal. 

SDCL 29A-1-402 provides that, "A person ... may waive notice by a 

writing signed by the person or the person's attorney and filed in the proceeding." 

Paul's attorney in a writing signed by his attorney repeatedly acknowledged 

Raymond as the special administrator and made no assertion that there was any 

procedural defect with the Order appointing Raymond as special administrator. 

In Matter of Estate of Jones, this Court described that notice issues "must 

be raised at the first reasonable opportunity or they are waived." 2022 S.D. 9, ,i 

4 Sioux Falls Shopping News, Inc. v. Dept. of Revenue and R egulation, 
2008 S.D. 34,749 N.W.2d 522 (citations omitted): 

"Having never raised the issue at the trial level, 
[Appellant] cannot now assert the trial court erred on 
matters it did not determine." 
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17 (citations omitted). Of course, the first opportunity for Paul to raise his issues 

with notice or the lack of hearing would have been when he petitioned the trial 

court to remove Raymond as the special administrator. 

This Court also cited to the holding in a Nebraska case in Jones where 

"notice may be waived through unequivocal conduct such as voluntary 

appearance or filing a lawsuit." Id. In this case, Paul unequivocally conducted 

himself in a manner by filing his Petition to remove Raymond as a special 

administrator, which was akin to filing a lawsuit. 

d. Paul cannot skip a removal hearing-Raymond's 
appointment as special administrator requires a fact­
intensive inquiry. 

After claiming that Raymond should not be special administrator because 

of procedural defects, Paul then claims that Raymond should be removed because 

he is not "a qualified person." (Appellant's Brief p. 16.) However, Paul ignores 

that the process for removal of the special administrator is through SDCL 29A-3-

611-which requires notice and a hearing. Paul's attempt to move past what he 

calls a "fact-intensive inquiry" is odd given that Paul has a pending Petition to 

remove Raymond as a special administrator under SDCL 29A-3-611. 

As noted in Jones, the discretionary decision by the trial court to appoint a 

special administrator requires the court to review whether the person has "an 

interest in pending litigation, or bias or prejudice, such that the appointment 

would be adverse to the interest of those to be served by the appointment." 2022 

S.D. 9, ,r 33. In this case, because Paul has never put this issue in front of the trial 

judge, there has been no factual findings related to whether Raymond serving as 
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special administrator would be adverse to the interest of those to be served by the 

appointment.s Therefore, Paul's claims that there are no circumstances under 

which Raymond could act as special administrator is not factually developed and 

skips the required hearing on Raymond's removal. Therefore, this Court cannot 

and should not take any position in regard to Raymond's appointment as special 

administrator. 

CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing, Raymond asks this Court to dismiss this appeal 

because the Court lacks jurisdiction. Alternatively, if this Court finds that it does 

have jurisdiction, Raymond asks the Court to affirm the trial court's Order 

appointing Raymond as special administrator. 

DATED this 5th day of February, 2024. 

Respectfully submitted, 

SCHOENBECK & ERICKSON, PC 

By: _ / s/ Joe Erickson _____ _ 
LEE SCHOENBECK 
JOE ERICKSON 
Attorneys for Appellee 
Raymond O'Farrell 
1200 Mickelson Dr., STE. 310 

s Paul also cites Hampshire v. Powell, 626 N.W.2d 620, 626 (Neb.App. 2001), to 
claim a special administrator is per se disqualified if the appointment results in 
"prosecuting and defending same lawsuit." (Appellant's Brief p. 22.) However, 
the case cited by Paul expressly states the following: 

Id., at 626. 

If the personal representative has a conflict, the 
proper procedure would be for the interested 
beneficiary to petition the court for removal of the 
personal representative pursuant to Neb.Rev.Stat.§ 
30-2454 or to plead and prove that an exception to 
the general rule applied. 
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PETITION: PETITION FOR REMOVAL OF SPECIAL ADMINISTRATOR Page 1 of 3 

ST A TE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 

COUNTY OF GRANT 

IN CIRCUIT COURT 

THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

ESTATE OF 25PR022-00001 l 

VICTORIA 0. O'FARRELL, 
Deceased. 

PETITION FOR REMOVAL OF 
SPECIAL ADMINISTRATOR 

PURSUANT TO SDCL 29A-3-611 

COMES NOW, Paul O'Farrell whose address is 14551 466th Avenue, Marvin, South 

Dakota 57251, as an interested party of the estate, by and through his attorney of record, David 

A. Geyer of the Delaney, Nielsen & Sannes, P.C. law firm of Sisseton, South Dakota and 

respectfully moves this Court for its Order removing Raymond A. O'Farrell as Special 

Administrator of the above captioned estate pursuant to SDCL 29A-3-6I 1 and 29A-3-618, and in 

support of this Petition shows the Court as follows: 

I. SDCL 29A-3-6l l entitled "Tennination of appointment by removal-Cause; procedure." 
states in part as follows: 

(a) Any interested person may petition for removal of a personal 
representative for cause at any time. 

(b) Cause for removal exists when: 
(1) Removal is in the best interests of the estate. 

2. Raymond A. O'Farrell ("Raymond") and the decedent each owned 50% of the shares of 
vOr, Inc., a family farm corporation organized under the laws of South Dakota. 

3. The decedent and Raymond were Trustors and Trustees of the Raymond and Victoria 
O'Farrell Living Trust ("Trust") dated January 14, 2011 , and amended August 26, 2021. 
The decedent and Raymond collectively owned all of the shares ofvOr, Inc., and jointly 
assigned all of those shares in 2011. 

4. On June 27, 2022, the decedent filed a Summons and Complaint with the case number 

Filed: 9/26/2022 10:32 AM CST Grant County, South Dakota 25PRO22-000011 
- Page 13 -
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PETITION: PETITION FOR REMOVAL OF SPECIAL ADMINISTRATOR Page 2 of 3 

25CIV22-000038 along with other documents that commenced an action ("Lawsuit") 
against Raymond and their son, Kelly O'Farrell ("Kelly"). 

5. The Complaint alleges that Raymond purported to reverse his and the decedent's joint 
assignment of shares to the Trust as part of their estate plan, thereby imperiling the estate 
planning objectives which motivated the creation of the Trust in the first place, all 
without the knowledge of the decedent. 

6. In order to accomplish this, the Complaint alleges that Raymond attempted to remove the 
decedent as a director ofvOr, Inc., modify the corporate Bylaws, appoint new officers, 
and vote on all 25,000 shares that were assigned to the Trust, all while the decedent was 
recovering from surgery in the hospital. 

7. Decedent alleged that when she learned what Raymond had done, she spoke with him 
about these acts. She determined that Raymond was being unduly influenced by their son, 
Kelly. 

8. Additionally, decedent alleges that Raymond has refused to provide necessary 
information to the lender to permit vOr, Inc., to refinance, which resulted in vOr, Inc. to 
have allegedly defaulted on two loans. The Complaint alleges this is another byproduct of 
Kelly's undue influence on Raymond. 

9. The decedent requested in her Complaint that the Court find Raymond liable for 
conversion and civil conspiracy and to remove Raymond as Trustee because of actions 
taken in breach of his fiduciary duty. 

I 0. Raymond, as a special administrator, is a fiduciary of the estate who has a duty to settle 
and distribute the estate of the decedent in accordance with the terms of any probated and 
effective will and South Dakota law included SDCL 29A-3-703(a). 

11 . This Lawsuit creates a conflict of interest since the decedent was in the process of suing 
Raymond right before her death for actions he took related to their estate plans without 
her knowledge. 

12. After the decedent's death, Raymond, through his attorney, filed a Suggestion of Death in 
the Lawsuit, triggering the 90 days requirement to file a motion for substitution pursuant 
to SDCL 15-6-25(a)(1 ) to a llow the Lawsuit to continue. Raymond has made no action to 
substitute a party in the Lawsuit. 

13. Raymond, as special administrator, could not substitute himself as the plaintiff in the 
Lawsuit in place of decedent pursuant to SDCL I 5-6-25(a) because Raymond is a 
defendant in this same matter and it would create a conflict of interest. 

2 
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PETITION: PETITION FOR REMOVAL OF SPECIAL ADMINISTRATOR Page 3 of 3 

14. This conflict of interest renders Raymond unable to be a fiduciary of the decedent' s estate 
pursuant to SDCL 29A-3-703(a). 

15. Prior to the decedent's death, the decedent alleged in her Complaint that Raymond had 
breached his fiduciary duty as a trustee of the Trust. 

16. The decedent asserted that Raymond's actions listed above have resulted in the waste and 
mismanagement of vOr Inc. bank accounts so that the checking account was overdrawn 
by $2,800.00 without the knowledge of the decedent. 

17. Since before the decedent's death, she asserted that Raymond has been influenced by 
Kelly to drastically and unlawfully restrict the decedent's access to the Trust and vOr Inc ., 
which interrupted the estate plan that Raymond and the decedent had in place since 20 I I . 

18. Based on decedent's allegations in the Lawsuit, it is clear that Raymond has no intention 
of acting in the best interest of the decedent's estate, and therefore Raymond is unable to 
fulfill his fiduciary duty as Special Administrator. 

19. It is in the best interest of the decedent's estate to remove Raymond A. O'Farrell as 
special administrator of the estate. 

WHEREFORE, Paul O'Farrcll requests that this Court enter its Order as follows: 

A. Enter its Order Removing Raymond A. O'Farrell as Special Administrator of the above 
captioned estate; and 

B. For such other and further relief to which the Petitioner may he entitled. 

Dated this 21, day of September 2022. 

~ ~-~-· ,. ;.-- ~ 
=::La ---- , 

3 

David A. Geyer 
Attorney for Petitioner 
PO Box 9 
520 2nd A venue East 
Sisseton, SD 57262 
(605) 698-7084 
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INTRODUCTION 

Is This How Lawyers Should Act? Is This What Lawyers Can Do? 

At its core, this appeal invites the Court ( and counsel) to reflect upon 

the conduct and tactics we should expect from practicing attorneys. It also 

raises questions about the limits of judicial action. 

Can an "emergency order" be granted without a hearing, and, without 

either prior or subsequent notice to anyone? Can a Circuit Court exercise 

emergency powers without first declaring the emergency? Can a Circuit 

Court install the same person to act as both plaintiff and defendant in the 

same case? 

And, if Circuit Courts cannot do these things, is it improper for 

lawyers to even seek such relief? Shouldn't lawyers know enough about the 

law to realize that the same person cannot possibly act as the plaintiff and 

defendant in the same case? Is it proper for a lawyer to submit an 

"emergency" petition to a Circuit Court which disguises and suppresses key 

information? 

Yes, emergencies will occur. Our Circuit Courts will be asked-on 

rare and unique occasions-to exert their substantial powers oflaw and 

equity to fix or avert problems. But the law does not allow a Circuit to 
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exercise its powers in secret. The law does not allow a Circuit Court to wield 

emergency power without meaningful consideration of the emergent issues. 

The law does not permit emergency powers to be used without a declaration 

of an emergency. And the law does not allow a Circuit Court to fix proven 

emergencies without careful steps designed to alert interested parties after 

the fact about what the Court has done. 

If the law does not permit such things, it is impermissible to try and 

convince a Judge to do those things. 

These are fundamental problems that made Raymond ' s appointment 

void from the outset. The invalidity of his appointment is a legal issue which 

is distinct and separate from the question of Raymond's removal from office. 

The first seeks to declare the office vacant from day one. The other seeks to 

remove the officeholder based upon unfitness. These are not dependent 

upon each other. 

ARGUMENT-IN-REPLY 

Raymond sidesteps nearly all of the substantive arguments raised by 

Paul. He confines his response to three, narrow defenses: first) that this 

Court lacks jurisdiction because Paul did not pursue his removal petition; 

second) that a hearing was not required, based upon his reading of SDCL § 
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29A-3-614(2); and, third) that Raymond's appointment cannot be challenged 

because Paul waived notice. We begin with jurisdiction. 

1. The Circuit Court's order appointing Raymond was a final, 
appealable order which confers appellate jurisdiction here. 

Raymond's first argument is that this Court lacks jurisdiction because 

Paul's subsequent removal proceedings are inextricably connected to an 

appeal challenging the validity of the original appointment. This argument is 

not supported by his authorities. And, this argument fails to recognize the 

distinct remedies sought by removal versus declaring an appointment void ab 

initio. 

We begin with that "temporal" element of those remedies. In short, a 

removal proceeding is forward looking. In contrast, this appeal looks 

backward. 

A petition to remove a personal representative is an administrative 

proceeding which tests the suitability of a personal representative ( or special 

administrator) to continue in her fiduciary role. The decision to remove is 

based upon a statutory test. SDCL § 29A-3-611(b ). A removal petition does 

not attack the appointment itself, and, instead seeks to replace the individual 

who was appointed. Id. If successful, the removal petition will result in a 

replacement of the fiduciary with a new fiduciary to act for the Estate, but 
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would not affect any prior acts taken by the fiduciary prior to removal. And, 

critically, the filing of a removal petition triggers a statutory, protective pause 

upon any further activities of the appointed fiduciary. SDCL § 29A-3-611(a). 

All of this is different from an appeal of the appointment itself. 

In contrast, the appeal of the original appointment order challenges the 

validity of the appointment altogether. The appeal argues that there was a 

legal or procedural or factuaP defect in the appointment. The appeal does 

not trigger the statutory, protective pause. If successful, the appeal would 

provide a basis to invalidate all prior actions taken by the fiduciary from the 

time of appointment to the time the appointment order is vacated. The 

appeal challenges the original decision of the Circuit Court. The appeal can 

be pursued independently of a removal petition because it seeks different 

relief. 

Raymond quotes this Court's prior language about ('overlapping" 

Petitions. Raymond misses the point. There were not overlapping Petitions 

at any point in time. Paul's subsequent Petition for Removal was filed 

1 Although not the p rimary i ssue here , an appeal of an 
appoi ntmen t order coul d c ha l l e n ge t he f i nd i ngs of f ac t a s 
c l earl y err oneous, such as whether someone factu a lly meets t he 
c riteri a f or pri o r i t y , or , whe t her the Ci rcui t Court co r rect l y 
decide d fa ctua l q uesti ons re l ated to ' f i t ness , ' o r the facts 
rela t ed t o the Es t a t e ' s best i nteres t s . 
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months after Raymond's appointment proceeding concluded. And, as 

discussed above, the removal petition sought different relief than this appeal 

seeks. They do not address "identical" subject matter. 2 

Raymond's jurisdiction argument is ultimately premised upon a 

misapplication of the probate rules concerning discrete "proceedings." 

Under well-settled precedent, "orders determining individual petitions for 

relief in probate actions can constitute final orders when they dispose of all 

issues relative to a particular petition and leave nothing for decision." 

Matter of Est. of Petrik, 2021 S.D. 49, <jf 16. Under that simple rule, the Order 

appointing Raymond "disposed of all issues relative to" his Petition and left 

"nothing for decision." 

Raymond misreads portions of Petrik in service of his argument. 3 At 

the time the Circuit Court entered its first order in Petrik, there were no 

2 Raymond a ll but c o ncedes this l a t er , on page 15 o f hi s 
Brief : " Paul's p e ndi ng Peti t ion t o remove Raymond focuses 
entire ly o n Pa ul' s pos i t i o n tha t Raymond can not se rve in t ha t 
role because o f Victori a's o l d l awsu i t aga i nst Ra ymon d . " 
(emphasis added) . In contrast , this appeal focuses primarily 
upon the p rocedural defects of the appoin tment . These are 
d i f feren t. 

3 Raymond a lso c i t es the Fox case , wh i ch i s inappos ite . The 
dispute in Fox centered around the fina l ity of a Cl erk's 
i n forma l a ppoi n tment , which then morphed procedu ral l y into a 
fo r mal proceedi ng whi ch c ha l l e n ged t he Clerk ' s act i on s a s 
defective , which was the n s taye d during the appeal . Es t . of 
Fox , 201 8 S.D . 35 , 1 12 . Here , in contrast , the appoint ment 

5 



other pending petitions, whether related or unrelated. The same is true 

here. 

At the time that the Circuit Court entered its order appointing 

Raymond in July 2022, there were no other pending petitions, whether 

related or unrelated. Thus, the appointment "proceeding" started and 

ended quickly, within a matter of days. As this Court explained in Petrik) 

" [ o ]]nee a petition is filed, it defines a proceeding .... An Order of the probate 

court is final if it ends the particular action in which it is entered and leaves 

nothing further for the court pronouncing it to do in order to completely 

determine the rights of the parties as to that proceeding." Id.) <jf 17. 

Raymond's court-ordered appointment left nothing more for the circuit 

court to do. That ended the proceeding. The removal petition did not 

restart the appointment proceeding. 

proceeding s t a r ted and ended as a fo r mal proceeding in July 
202 2 . Pa ul ' s subse q uen t p e titio n f or r emova l wa s on l y fo rward 
l ooking , which , by s t a tutory definit i on , is the nature o f a 
remov a l pe t i tion . SDCL § 2 9A- 3 - 611 . A r emova l does not 
chal l enge t he origina l va l idity of the appointme nt . Id . Bu t 
St a n t o n Fox ' s pet i t i on to the c ircuit c ourt did cha l l e nge the 
or i g i nal va l i dity of t he c l e rk ' s i nfor mal appoi ntment , and, 
thus , the Circuit Court had no t ye t " f inally determine [d ] the 
rights of t he partie s as i t r e l ates to ... appointment of a 
personal representa t i ve . " Id . I n tha t case , t here was s t i l l 
an open pe t i tion . Here , there was never a petit i o n whi ch 
c hallenged the July 18 , 2 022 , order . 
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In short, the appointment process is a discrete proceeding unto itself. 

If it were not, then the appointment process would remain open and subject 

to attack indefinitely. How long after the entry of an Order does the window 

remain open for a determination of finality? How long would we wait for 

someone to file a subsequent petition that could disrupt our understanding of 

finality? In short, the finality of an Order is not governed by subsequent 

events, but, instead by the character of the Order relative to the Petition, 

and, the date of the Order obtained by it, and any truly contemporaneous 

attacks upon the Order. Finality is not governed by petitions filed months 

later that do not directly attack the order itself. Under those tests, the July 

18th Order concluded the appointment proceedings. It is separately 

appealable. This Court has jurisdiction. 

To paraphrase Petrik) the claim that [ this Court] lack[ s] jurisdiction 

because [Paul's removal Petition] remains pending is unmistakably 

foreclosed by our precedent." Id., <jf 16. 

2. SDCL § 29A-3-614(2) allows for a Circuit Court to dispense 
with notice, but does not eliminate the requirement of a hearing 

In Section 2.a, Raymond quotes law but does make any substantive 

arguments. And, as discussed below, Raymond's Section 2.a omits key 

authority pertinent to his inquiry. 
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In Section 2.b, Raymond argues that his appointment was valid 

because SDCL § 29A-3-614(2) dispenses with both the notice and the hearing 

requirements in case of emergency. However, for this (which is his central 

argument) Raymond cites no authority. 

To refute Raymond's statutory argument, the plain text of SDCL § 

29A-3-614(2) dispenses with notice in an emergency, but not a hearing. A 

primary rule of construction is the (c plain meaning" rule: (c if the words and 

phrases in the statute have plain meaning and effect, we should simply 

declare their meaning and not resort to statutory construction." Olson v. 

Butte Cnty. Comm'nJ 2019 S.D. 13, err 5. The phrase ('after notice and a 

hearing" in the first sentence has a plain meaning which is different than the 

phrase "without notice." By its plain meaning, an emergency dispenses 

with notice, but does not eliminate the requirement of a hearing. 

As authority beyond this plain meaning, the Court can consider the 

statutory maxim of expressio unius est exclusio alterus. "[T]he expression of 

one thing is the exclusion of another." Sacred Heart Health Servs.J Inc. v. 

Yankton Cnty.J 2020 S.D. 64, err 16 (quotations and citations omitted). The 

first sentence of SDCL § 29A-3-614(2) governs the appointment of a special 

administrator by the court, which is (c after notice and a hearing." The 
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second sentence then alters this process, so that if it "appears to the Court 

that an emergency exists, appointment may be ordered without notice." 

SDCL § 29A-3-614(2). If the Legislature intended to dispense with notice 

and a hearing, it knew how to do so, and, it would have expressly stated so in 

the second sentence. 

Finally, the Court can look to the overall structure of the Probate 

Code. ('Formal proceedings" refer to ('proceedings conducted before a 

judge with notice to interested persons." Matter of Est. of Petrik, 2021 S.D. 

49, <jf 22 (quoting SDCL § 29A-1-201(18)). See) also) Black's Law 

Dictionary, 1221 (7th edition, 1999) C'proceeding" defined as (' a hearing"). 

A hearing was required. The proceeding contemplated for appointment is an 

actual hearing. Given modern technology, there are numerous ways to 

accomplish a hearing, even in an emergency. There was no hearing here. 

Without a hearing, the Order was void. 

3. Dispensing notice was error because there was no finding of 
"emergency" 

Raymond does not respond to Paul's argument that the Court failed to 

make any finding of emergency. See) Paul's Brief, pp. 5, 14. Without such a 

finding, the waiver of notice would be error, and, the Order would be 
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vacated. The Court can reach this conclusion without any further analysis, 

and Raymond waived this argument by omission. 

4. Raymond's appointment was not made both by the Clerk and 
by the Court; instead, he was appointed by the Court under 
SDCL § 29A-3-614(2) 

In Section 2.b, Raymond also discusses the (' strange circumstance of 

Raymond's appointment ... by both the clerk of courts and by Order of the 

Judge." See) Raymond's Brief, p.15 (emphasis added). To clear up any 

confusion, the Clerk's appointment [ at R. 7] was erroneous and of no import, 

as a matter of law. We know this through at least three independent portions 

of the Record. 

First, Raymond sought appointment via a petition, rather than via an 

application. [R.l-2]. By statute, a petition seeks an order from the Court; and 

an application would have been the method to seek appointment by the Clerk 

of Courts. Compare) SDCL § 29A-3-614(1), with SDCL § 29A-3-614(2) 

C'Special Administrator is either appointed by the Clerk "on the 

application" of an interested person, or, by "order of the court on the petition 

of any interested person"). See) also) Matter of Est. of Petrik, 2021 S.D. 49, <jf 

21 ( quoting SDCL § 29A-3-105) (persons may (' apply to the clerk of court" 

and may ('petition the court for orders") ( emphasis added). When Raymond 
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captioned his pleading as a Petition, he was seeking an order from the Court, 

and invoking the Court's authority, rather than the Clerk's. 

Second, it is also clear that Raymond was seeking a Court order 

because of the extent of the relief available under such an order, relative to 

letters that could have been issued by the Clerk. In particular, a Special 

Administrator appointed by the Clerk has far more limited duties than one 

appointed by Order of the Court. Compare) SDCL § 29A-3-616, with SDCL 

§ 29A-3-617 (court-ordered special administrator has "the powers of a 

general personal representative, except as limited in the order of 

appointment; clerk-appointed special administrator has only those "powers 

of a general personal representative ... as are necessary to perform the special 

administrator's duties" which include solely "the duty to collect and 

manage the assets of the estate, to preserve them, to account therefor, and to 

deliver them to the general personal representative ..... "). Raymond's 

Petition sought powers to address litigation. [R. l]. Such powers would have 

been unavailable under a clerk-appointed role. 

And third, Raymond's own Petition Raymond invoked an emergency 

exception which is unique to the court-ordered subsection of the Special 
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Administrator statute. [R.2]; SDCL § 29A-3-614(2). Emergencies are not 

mentioned in SDCL § 29A-3-614(1). 

In short, Raymond sought an order of the Court, and, he ultimately 

got one. The Clerk's Letters were issued in error, and, this was soon 

corrected by the Judge-issued Order, [R.5-6], and, the Court-issued Letters, 

[R.8]. The Letters themselves even indicate that the appointment was made 

by the Court. Thus, the appointment was not made by "both" the Clerk and 

the Court. It was made by the Court. 

5. Paul did not waive his notice and hearing arguments. 

In Section 2.c., Raymond argues that Paul's petition to remove 

Raymond waived any right to challenge the appointment, and, particularly by 

"fail[ing] to raise them at any level before this appeal." Raymond's Brief, p. 

16. 

Raymond's argument is premised upon a similar misunderstanding of 

the probate rules concerning discrete "proceedings," as the one which was 

addressed in Section 1, above. 

Under well-settled precedent, "orders determining individual 

petitions for relief in probate actions can constitute final orders when they 

dispose of all issues relative to a particular petition and leave nothing for 
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decision." Matter of Est. of Petrik, 2021 S.D. 49, Cff 16. The Order appointing 

Raymond (' disposed of all issues relative to" his Petition and left (' nothing 

for decision." The appointment process is a discrete proceeding unto itself. 

In other words, Paul agrees that he didn't raise this issue below 

because the ((proceeding" at which Paul could have raised any objections 

was long-since concluded. So, in exactly the same way as in Petrik) the 

notice and hearing arguments raised by Paul in this appeal could never have 

been raised in the proceeding below, because Paul had no notice or 

opportunity to participate in that proceeding. The proceeding started and 

ended in July 2022, in secret, and without a hearing. 

It is for this basic reason that Matter of Estate of Jones does not apply. 

In that case, all of the interested parties were participating at all stages of the 

pertinent ((proceeding," namely, the one commenced by the filing of a 

petition for appointment of special administrator. An earlier hearing had 

been scheduled and then canceled due to illness. Meanwhile, the petitioners 

engaged in discovery for their petition, which resulted in a motion to compel 

which was then noticed for hearing. At this hearing ( and while the Petition for 

special administrator was still pending), the circuit court addressed the 

substance of the Petition. Doug and Jessica's lawyer appeared at the hearing 
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and "addressed the merits of the Petition at the ... hearing without any 

mention that a hearing had not been noticed" on the petition itself. Matter of 

Est. of Jones, 2022 S.D. 9, err 18. This participation was deemed a waiver. 

In contrast, the appointment "proceeding" in this case was over and 

done with in July 2022. Paul was not present to raise any objections because 

he had no notice, and because there was no hearing at which to raise such 

defects. 

Months later, Paul filed a petition for removal. This was a new 

proceeding. Paul noticed the petition for hearing. No hearing was 

conducted upon it on that date because of time constraints. And, even if the 

hearing had addressed it, the petition for removal was limited to the question 

of whether Raymond would continue as Special Administrator. 

What Raymond is essentially arguing is that Paul should have asked 

the Circuit Court to reconsider its prior order of appointment, at the same 

time as he filed his Petition for Removal. But a motion to reconsider is not a 

predicate to an appeal. The order of appointment is final ( and appealable) 

based upon the content and impact of that order itself. 

Raymond also argues that Paul's "participation" in subsequent 

proceedings nullified his right to challenge the validity of earlier proceedings. 
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This stretches the definition of probate "proceedings" beyond what this 

Court has stated. And, it echoes the same argument Raymond makes about 

SDCL § 29A-1-402, on page 16. 

As to that statute, Raymond argues that Paul waived notice under 

SDCL § 29A-1-402 via "a writing signed by ... [his] attorney] and filed in the 

proceeding." This is an incorrect view of a "proceeding" and highlights the 

inherent problem with Raymond's argument. The appointment 

"proceeding" occurred without Paul's participation, in July 2022. Raymond 

is suggesting that Paul's filings in a later proceeding ( seeking removal in 

September 2022) somehow cured the notice and hearing requirements of the 

prior proceeding. That is not how the statute is written. Nor is that what 

happened. Nor did Paul's attempt to initiate removal waive the issue of the 

appointment's invalidity. They are separate proceedings with separate aims, 

based upon separate defects. 

6. Paulis not "skipping" a removal hearing 

Raymond's final argument is that even if Paul can argue procedural 

defects to the appointment process in this appeal, Paul is precluded from 

prevailing on the substantive issue of whether Raymond is a " qualified 

person" without first having the question remanded for a factual hearing at 
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the Circuit Court level. He claims, further, that the Record is not 

sufficiently developed for a determination of this issue. (Raymond claims 

that Paul never "put this issue in front of the trial judge" at the time of 

Raymond's appointment, but, again, Paul was precluded from the 

appointment proceedings altogether.) 

Ultimately, Raymond suggests this is too fact-intensive for a 

determination here. We suggest, instead, that the review is de novo) and that 

the Court should put itself in the shoes of the Circuit Court. And, we 

suggest that the Court should ask what determination could be made from 

the facts which can be gleaned from Raymond's Petition (i.e., those facts 

that Raymond himself made undisputed by alleging them). With only those 

facts, Raymond's Petition argues that there is an emergency that requires the 

appointment of himself as Special Administrator, so that he can serve as the 

Plaintiff in his own wife's lawsuit against him, where he is already the 

Defendant. 

There are no further facts which could make this acceptable. A 

hearing would not change this. This is wrong and impermissible. 
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CONCLUSION 

In this case, the lawyers representing Raymond convinced the Circuit 

Court to appoint him as Special Administrator without a hearing, without 

prior notice to anyone, without an express finding of emergency, and without 

notice to anyone following the appointment. Any of these defects render the 

appointment procedurally void. And, the attempted scheme was premised 

upon an illegal conflict of interest, where Raymond sought appointment in 

order to control a lawsuit pending against him. He claimed this was an 

emergency. 

Paul asks for this Court to vacate the Order appointing Raymond as 

Special Administrator and remand for further proceedings. 

Dated this 6th day of March, 2024. 

HOVLAND, RASMUS, 

BRENDTRO & TRZYNKA, PROF. LLC 

ls/Daniel K. Brendtro 
Daniel K. Brendtro 
Mary Ellen Dirksen 
Benjamin M. Hummel 
PO Box 2583 
Sioux Falls, South Dakota 57101-2583 
Attorneys for Appellant 
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